

Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews

Colchicine for the primary prevention of cardiovascular events (Review)

Martí-Carvajal AJ, Gemmato-Valecillos MA, Monge Martín D, De Sanctis JB, Martí-Amarista CE, Hidalgo R, Alegría-Barrero E, Riera Lizardo RJ, Correa-Pérez A

Martí-Carvajal AJ, Gemmato-Valecillos MA, Monge Martín D, De Sanctis JB, Martí-Amarista CE, Hidalgo R, Alegría-Barrero E, Riera Lizardo RJ, Correa-Pérez A. Colchicine for the primary prevention of cardiovascular events. *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews* 2025, Issue 2. Art. No.: CD015003. DOI: 10.1002/14651858.CD015003.pub2.

www.cochranelibrary.com



TABLE OF CONTENTS

ABSTRACT	1
PLAIN LANGUAGE SUMMARY	2
SUMMARY OF FINDINGS	4
BACKGROUND	9
OBJECTIVES	11
METHODS	11
RESULTS	15
Figure 1	16
Figure 2	20
Figure 3	21
DISCUSSION	23
AUTHORS' CONCLUSIONS	27
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	27
REFERENCES	28
CHARACTERISTICS OF STUDIES	43
DATA AND ANALYSES	85
Analysis 1.1. Comparison 1: Colchicine versus placebo, Outcome 1: All-cause mortality	86
Analysis 1.2. Comparison 1: Colchicine versus placebo, Outcome 2: Non-fatal myocardial infarction	87
Analysis 1.3. Comparison 1: Colchicine versus placebo, Outcome 3: Stroke	87
Analysis 1.4. Comparison 1: Colchicine versus placebo, Outcome 4: Adverse events	88
Analysis 1.5. Comparison 1: Colchicine versus placebo, Outcome 5: Cardiovascular mortality	89
Analysis 1.6. Comparison 1: Colchicine versus placebo, Outcome 6: Post-cardiac procedure atrial fibrillation	89
Analysis 2.1. Comparison 2: Colchicine versus immunomodulating drugs, Outcome 1: All-cause mortality	90
Analysis 3.1. Comparison 3: Colchicine versus usual care, Outcome 1: All-cause mortality	90
Analysis 3.2. Comparison 3: Colchicine versus usual care, Outcome 2: Adverse events	91
APPENDICES	91
HISTORY	93
CONTRIBUTIONS OF AUTHORS	93
DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST	94
SOURCES OF SUPPORT	94
DIFFERENCES BETWEEN PROTOCOL AND REVIEW	94



[Intervention Review]

Colchicine for the primary prevention of cardiovascular events

Arturo J Martí-Carvajal^{1,2,3}, Mario A Gemmato-Valecillos⁴, Diana Monge Martín², Juan Bautista De Sanctis⁵, Cristina Elena Martí-Amarista⁶, Ricardo Hidalgo⁷, Eduardo Alegría-Barrero², Ricardo J Riera Lizardo^{3,8}, Andrea Correa-Pérez^{2,9}

¹Universidad UTE, Facultad de Ciencias de la Salud Eugenio Espejo, Centro Asociado Cochrane Ecuador, Centro de Investigación en Salud Pública y Epidemiología Clínica (CISPEC), Quito, Ecuador, Universidad UTE, Quito, Ecuador. ²Faculty of Medicine, Universidad Francisco de Vitoria, Madrid, Spain. ³Cátedra Rectoral de Medicina Basada en la Evidencia, Universidad de Carabobo, Valencia, Venezuela. ⁴Department of Medicine, NYC Health + Hospitals / Elmhurst, Icahn School of Medicine at Mount Sinai, New York, USA. ⁵The Institute of Molecular and Translational Medicine, Palacky University Olomouc, Faculty of Medicine and Dentistry, Olomouc, Czech Republic. ⁶Jencare Senior Medical Center, Geriatric Medicine Department, Berwyn, Illinois, USA. ⁷Universidad UTE, Facultad de Ciencias de la Salud Eugenio Espejo, Centro Asociado Cochrane Ecuador, Centro de Investigación en Salud Pública y Epidemiología Clínica (CISPEC), Quito, Ecuador., Universidad UTE, Quito, Ecuador. ⁸Medicine Department, Rheumatology Unit, Universidad de Carabobo, Valencia, Venezuela. ⁹Department of Hospital Pharmacy and Medical Devices, Hospital Central de la Defensa Gómez Ulla, Madrid, Spain

Contact: Arturo J Martí-Carvajal, arturo.marti.carvajal@gmail.com.

Editorial group: Cochrane Central Editorial Service. **Publication status and date:** New, published in Issue 2, 2025.

Citation: Martí-Carvajal AJ, Gemmato-Valecillos MA, Monge Martín D, De Sanctis JB, Martí-Amarista CE, Hidalgo R, Alegría-Barrero E, Riera Lizardo RJ, Correa-Pérez A. Colchicine for the primary prevention of cardiovascular events. *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews* 2025, Issue 2. Art. No.: CD015003. DOI: 10.1002/14651858.CD015003.pub2.

Copyright © 2025 The Cochrane Collaboration. Published by John Wiley & Sons, Ltd.

ABSTRACT

Background

Atherosclerotic cardiovascular diseases (ACVDs), a condition characterised by lipid accumulation in arterial walls, which is often exacerbated by chronic inflammation disorders, is the major cause of mortality and morbidity worldwide. Colchicine, with its first medicinal use in ancient Egypt, is an inexpensive drug with anti-inflammatory properties. However, its role in primary prevention of ACVDs in the general population remains unknown.

Objectives

To assess the clinical benefits and harms of colchicine as primary prevention of cardiovascular outcomes in the general population.

Search methods

We searched the Cochrane Heart Specialised Register, the Cochrane Central Register of Controlled Trials (CENTRAL), Ovid MEDLINE (including In-Process & Other Non-Indexed Citations), Ovid Embase, Web of Science, and LILACS. We searched ClinicalTrials.gov and WHO ICTRP for ongoing and unpublished studies. We also scanned the reference lists of relevant included studies, reviews, meta-analyses, and health technology reports to identify additional studies. There were no limitations on language, date of publication, or study setting. The search results were updated on 31 May 2023.

Selection criteria

Randomised controlled trials (RCTs) in any setting, recruiting adults without pre-existing cardiovascular disease. We included trials that compared colchicine versus placebo, non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs, corticosteroids, immunomodulating drugs, or usual care. Our primary outcomes were all-cause mortality, non-fatal myocardial infarction, stroke, and adverse events.

Data collection and analysis

Two or more review authors independently selected studies, extracted data, and performed risk of bias and GRADE assessments.

Colchicine for the primary prevention of cardiovascular events (Review) Copyright © 2025 The Cochrane Collaboration. Published by John Wiley & Sons, Ltd.



Main results

We identified 15 RCTs (1721 participants randomised; 1412 participants analysed) with follow-up periods ranging from 4 to 728 weeks. The intervention was oral colchicine compared with placebo, immunomodulating drugs, or usual care or no treatment. Due to biases and imprecision, the evidence was very uncertain for all outcomes. All trials but one had a high risk of bias. Five out of seven meta-analyses included fewer than six trials (71.4%). The objectives of the review were to assess cardiovascular outcomes in the general population, but many of the included trials focused on liver disease.

Colchicine compared to placebo

Colchicine may reduce all-cause mortality compared to placebo in primary prevention, but the evidence is very uncertain (risk ratio (RR) 0.68, 95% confidence interval (CI) 0.51 to 0.91; 6 studies, 463 participants; very low-certainty evidence; number needed to treat for an additional beneficial outcome (NNTB) 11, 95% CI 6 to 67). Colchicine may result in little to no difference in non-fatal myocardial infarction, but the evidence is very uncertain (RR 0.87, 95% CI 0.41 to 1.82; 1 study, 100 participants; very low-certainty evidence). Colchicine may not reduce the incidence of stroke, but the evidence is very uncertain (RR 2.43, 95% CI 0.67 to 8.86; 1 study, 100 participants; very low-certainty evidence). Regarding adverse events, colchicine may increase the incidence of diarrhoea (RR 3.99, 95% CI 1.44 to 11.06; 8 studies, 605 participants; very low-certainty evidence; number needed to treat for an additional harmful outcome (NNTH) 10, 95% CI 6 to 17), and may have little to no effect on neurological outcomes such as seizure or mental confusion (RR 0.72, 95% CI 0.31 to 1.66; 2 studies, 155 participants; very low-certainty evidence), but the evidence is very uncertain. The effect of colchicine on cardiovascular mortality is also very uncertain (RR 1.27, 95% CI 0.03 to 62.43; 2 studies, 160 participants; very low-certainty evidence). Colchicine may not reduce post-cardiac procedure atrial fibrillation, but the evidence is very uncertain (RR 0.74, 95% CI 0.25 to 2.19; 1 study, 100 participants). We found no trials reporting on pericardial effusion, peripheral artery disease, heart failure, or unstable angina.

Colchicine compared to methotrexate (immunomodulating drug)

Colchicine may result in little to no difference in all-cause mortality compared to methotrexate, but the evidence is very uncertain (RR 0.42, 95% CI 0.12 to 1.51; 1 study, 85 participants; very low-certainty evidence). We found no trials reporting other cardiovascular outcomes or adverse events for this comparison.

Colchicine compared to usual care or no treatment

The evidence is very uncertain about the effect of colchicine compared with usual care on all-cause mortality in primary prevention (RR 1.07, 95% CI 0.90 to 1.27; 2 studies, 729 participants; very low-certainty evidence). Regarding adverse events, colchicine may increase the incidence of diarrhoea compared to usual care, but the evidence is very uncertain (RR 3.32, 95% CI 1.56 to 7.03; 2 studies, 729 participants; very low-certainty evidence) and the evidence is very uncertainty evidence.

Authors' conclusions

This Cochrane review evaluated the clinical benefits and harms of using colchicine for the primary prevention of cardiovascular events in the general population. Comparisons were made against placebo, immunomodulating medications, or usual care or no treatment. However, the certainty of the evidence for the predefined outcomes was very low, highlighting the pressing need for high-quality, rigorous studies to ascertain colchicine's clinical impact definitively. We identified numerous biases and inaccuracies in the included studies, limiting their generalisability and precluding a conclusive determination of colchicine's efficacy in preventing cardiovascular events. The existing evidence regarding colchicine's potential cardiovascular benefits or harms for primary prevention is inconclusive owing to the limitations inherent in the current studies. More robust clinical trials are needed to bridge this evidence gap effectively.

PLAIN LANGUAGE SUMMARY

What are the effects of colchicine in preventing cardiovascular events before they ever occur?

Key messages

• The benefits and harms of colchicine in preventing atherosclerotic cardiovascular disease before it ever occurs remain unclear.

• Further research is needed before any strong conclusions can be made.

Colchicine and cardiovascular disease

Atherosclerotic cardiovascular disease (ACVD), a condition marked by lipid accumulation (buildup of fats, cholesterol, and other substances) on the artery walls, which is often made worse by chronic inflammation disorders, is a major cause of death and illness worldwide. Colchicine, first used to treat illness in ancient Egypt, is an inexpensive medication that fights inflammation. It has been used to treat gout, liver diseases, and systemic connective tissue disorders. More recently, researchers have been studying its potential for preventing ACVD.

What did we want to find out?



We wanted to find out colchicine's benefits and harms in preventing ACVD before it ever occurs (primary prevention) in the general population. Primary prevention is all about taking steps to prevent a disease before it even develops, rather than waiting until someone is already sick to start treatment. In the case of ACVD, this is especially important because it is a leading cause of death and disability worldwide. By focusing on prevention, people can be helped to live longer, healthier lives with a resulting reduced burden on healthcare systems. One approach to primary prevention is using immunomodulating medications, which work by modifying the immune system's response. Colchicine is one example of this type of medication.

What did we do?

We looked at the effects of colchicine for primary prevention of ACVD, including heart attacks, strokes, death from cardiovascular causes, and death for any reason. We also looked at unwanted effects such as diarrhoea and neurological events (seizure and mental confusion). We compared and summarised the results of the studies and rated our confidence in the evidence based on factors such as study methods and sizes.

What did we find?

We found 15 studies involving 1721 participants with follow-up periods ranging from 4 to 728 weeks, comparing colchicine with placebo (dummy pill), immunomodulating medications, or usual care. Colchicine was taken by mouth as a pill, either once or twice a day, depending on the regimen being followed. The people included in the studies were adults at high risk for developing ACVD, but who had not yet had a major cardiovascular event like a heart attack or stroke. The risk factors considered included age, family history, smoking status, blood pressure, cholesterol levels, and presence of other conditions like diabetes.

Main results

The evidence for the effects of colchicine on preventing cardiovascular events is very uncertain. Although the current evidence does not suggest clear benefits or a reduction in ACVD complications, this conclusion is limited by the quality of the evidence. Further high-quality studies are essential to accurately determine the benefits and harms of colchicine for the primary prevention of ACVD.

What are the limitations of the evidence?

Our confidence in the evidence is very low because of concerns about how some of the studies were conducted, results that differed across studies, and changes to the intended populations or treatments. The studies were very small, and analyses included only a few studies.

How up-to-date is this evidence?

The evidence is current to 31 May 2023.

Colchicine for the primary prevention of cardiovascular events (Review) Copyright © 2025 The Cochrane Collaboration. Published by John Wiley & Sons, Ltd. SUMMARY OF FINDINGS

Summary of findings 1. Colchicine compared with placebo for the primary prevention of cardiovascular events in adults

Colchicine compared with placebo for the primary prevention of cardiovascular events in adults

Patient or population: primary prevention of cardiovascular events in adults

Settings: inpatients and outpatients

Intervention: colchicine

Comparison: placebo

Outcomes	Illustrative comparative risks* (95% CI)		Relative effect	No. of partici-	Certainty of the
	Assumed risk	Corresponding risk	- (55% ст)	(studies)	(GRADE)
	Placebo	Colchicine			
All-cause mortality	292 per 1000 ^a	199 per 1000	RR 0.68	463	⊕⊙⊙⊙
Follow-up: median 6.5 years		(149 to 266)	(0.51 (0 0.91)	(6 studies)	very low ^{0,c}
Non-fatal myocardial infarction	235 per 1000 ^d	205 per 1000	RR 0.87	100	⊕ooo very low ^{e,f}
Follow-up: 4 weeks		(96 to 428)	(0.41 (0 1.82)	(1 study)	
Stroke	59 per 1000 g	297 per 1000	RR 2.43	100 (1 study)	⊕⊝⊝⊝
Follow-up: mean 4 weeks		(107 to 822)	(0.67 to 8.86)	(1 study)	very low ^{n,1}
Adverse events: diarrhoea	10 per 1000 j	39 per 1000	RR 3.99	605	
Follow-up: median 2.5 years		(14 to 108)	(1.44 to 11.06)	(8 studies)	very low ^{x,t}
Adverse events: neurological (confusion,	119 per 1000 ^m	86 per 1000	RR 0.72	155	⊕ooo very low ^{n,o}
Seizure)		(37 to 198)	(0.31 to 1.66) (2 studies)	(2 studies)	
Cardiovascular mortality	24 per 1000 p	29 per 1000	RR 1.27 (0.03 to 62.43)	160 (2 studies)	⊕⊝⊝⊝ verv lowg,r
Follow-up: median 8 years		(0 to 1551)	(0.00 10 02.10)	(2 staates)	
Post-cardiac procedure atrial fibrillation	28 per 1000 ^s	34 per 1000	RR 0.74	100 (1 study)	⊕⊙⊙⊙
Follow-up: 4 weeks		(1101000)	(0.23 (0 2.19)	(1 Study)	very low ^{t,u}

Symptoms or intervention related to peripheral Not reported artery disease

*The basis for the **assumed risk** (e.g. the median control group risk across studies) is provided in footnotes. The **corresponding risk** (and its 95% confidence interval) is based on the assumed risk in the comparison group and the **relative effect** of the intervention (and its 95% CI). **CI:** confidence interval; **RR:** risk ratio

GRADE Working Group grades of evidence

High certainty: we are very confident that the true effect lies close to that of the estimate of the effect.

Moderate certainty: we are moderately confident in the effect estimate: the true effect is likely to be close to the estimate of the effect, but there is a possibility that it is substantially different.

Low certainty: our confidence in the effect estimate is limited: the true effect may be substantially different from the estimate of the effect.

Very low certainty: we have very little confidence in the effect estimate: the true effect is likely to be substantially different from the estimate of effect.

^aMedian control risk: 29.2%.

^bDowngraded two levels due to risk of bias (concerns across most domains).

^cDowngraded two levels for imprecision: fewer than 300 events.

^dMedian based on the control group risk: 24%.

^eDowngraded one level for high risk of attrition bias: 29% of withdrawals.

^f Downgraded two levels due to imprecision: the optimal information size was 5596 participants. The trial's sample size is 1.80% (100/5596). The 95% CI is wide and includes the possibility of no benefit (RR = 1), and the number of events is very low (7.33% (22/300)).

gBasal risk is based on the unique included trial: 5.9%.

^hDowngraded one level for risk of bias: blinding of outcome assessment.

ⁱDowngraded two levels due to imprecision. The optimal information size of 200 was not met. The total sample size of 100 represents only 50% of the required information size. The number of events is minimal at 3.3% (10/300). The 95% CI is wide and includes the possibility of no benefit (RR = 1).

jMedian control risk in 1000: 10.

^kDowngraded two levels due to high risk of bias for random sequence generation and allocation concealment in 63% of the trials (5/8) plus high risk of attrition bias in all trials. ^IDowngraded one level due to low number of events (N = 79) and wide 95% CI.

^mMedian control risk: 11.9%.

ⁿDowngraded one level due to inadequate allocation concealment and the absence of blinding for both participants and personnel in one trial. Both trials exhibited high risk of detection bias. One trial experienced a loss of more than 12% of its participants.

^oDowngraded two levels due to imprecision. The optimal information size was 1748, and the total sample size represents 8.86% (155/1748) of this optimal size. Given the low number of events (N = 20), the 95% CI is wide and includes the possibility of no benefit (RR = 1).

PMedian control risk: 2.4%.

Powngraded a total of three levels due to study limitations (selection, detection, and attrition bias) and inconsistency (I² = 73%).

^rDowngraded two levels for imprecision. The optimal information size required for the trials was 2868. However, the total sample size of both trials only accounted for 5.57% (160/2868) of this size. Additionally, the number of events recorded was very low. Consequently, the 95% CI is quite broad and includes the possibility of no benefit (RR = 1). ^sMedian control risk: 2.8%.

^t Downgraded one level for risk of bias: blinding of outcome assessment and incomplete outcome data.

Copyright © 2025 The Cochrane Collaboration. Published by John Wiley & Sons, Ltd

Colchicine for the primary prevention of cardiovascular events

(Revie

^uDowngraded two levels for imprecise results. The optimal information size for the study was 2696, but the total sample size represents only 3.7% of that (100/2696). Additionally, the number of events observed was very low (N = 12), resulting in a wide 95% CI that includes no benefit (RR = 1).

Summary of findings 2. Colchicine compared with immunomodulating drugs for the primary prevention of cardiovascular events in adults

Colchicine compared with immunomodulating drugs for the primary prevention of cardiovascular events

Patient or population: primary prevention of cardiovascular events in adults

Settings: outpatients

Intervention: colchicine

Colchicine for the primary prevention of cardiovascular events (Review) Copyright © 2025 The Cochrane Collaboration. Published by John Wiley & Sons, Ltd

Comparison: immunomodulating drugs (methotrexate)

Outcomes	Illustrative comparative risks* (95% CI)		Relative effect	No. of partici-	Certainty of the
	Assumed risk	Corresponding risk	- (55% CI)	(studies)	(GRADE)
	Immunomodulat- ing drugs	Colchicine			
All-cause mortality	167 per 1000 <i>a</i>	70 per 1000	RR 0.42	85 (1 study)	000
Follow-up: 2 years		(20 to 252)	(0.12 to 1.51)	(1 study)	very low ^{b,c}
Non-fatal myocardial infarction	Not reported				
Stroke	Not reported				
Adverse events	Not reported				
Cardiovascular mortality	Not reported				
Post-cardiac procedure atrial fibrillation	Not reported				
Symptoms or intervention related to peripheral artery disease	Not reported				

*The basis for the **assumed risk** (e.g. the median control group risk across studies) is provided in footnotes. The **corresponding risk** (and its 95% confidence interval) is based on the assumed risk in the comparison group and the **relative effect** of the intervention (and its 95% CI). **CI:** confidence interval; **RR:** risk ratio

GRADE Working Group grades of evidence

High certainty: we are very confident that the true effect lies close to that of the estimate of the effect.

Moderate certainty: we are moderately confident in the effect estimate: the true effect is likely to be close to the estimate of the effect, but there is a possibility that it is substantially different.

Low certainty: our confidence in the effect estimate is limited: the true effect may be substantially different from the estimate of the effect.

Very low certainty: we have very little confidence in the effect estimate: the true effect is likely to be substantially different from the estimate of effect.

^{*a*}Media control risk based on the trial: 16.7%

^bDowngraded two levels due to high risk of bias in most domains.

^cDowngraded two levels for imprecision. The optimal amount of information required was 348. However, the sample size only represents 24.42% (85/348) of the optimal information size. Furthermore, the number of events recorded is minimal. The 95% CI is broad and encompasses no benefit (RR = 1).

Summary of findings 3. Colchicine compared with usual care for the primary prevention of cardiovascular events in adults

Colchicine compared with usual care for the primary prevention of cardiovascular events

Patient or population: primary prevention of cardiovascular events in adults Settings: outpatients Intervention: colchicine

Comparison: usual care

Outcomes	Illustrative comparative risks* (95% CI)		Relative effect	No. of partici-	Certainty of the
	Assumed risk	Corresponding risk		(studies)	(GRADE)
	Usual care	Colchicine			
All-cause mortality	275 per 1000 ^a	295 per 1000	RR 1.07	729	000
Follow-up: median 4.5 years		(248 to 350)	(0.90 to 1.27)	(2 studies)	very low ^{0,c}
Non-fatal myocardial infarction	Not reported				
Stroke	Not reported				
Adverse events	15 per 1000 d	48 per 1000	RR 3.32	729 (2 studies)	000
Follow-up: median 2.5 years	(23 to 102)	(23 to 102)	(1.56 to 7.03)	(2 studies)	very low ^{e,r}
Cardiovascular mortality	Not reported				
Post-cardiac procedure atrial fibrillation	Not reported				

7

Copyright © 2025 The Cochrane Collaboration. Published by John Wiley & Sons, Ltd

Colchicine for the primary prevention of cardiovascular events (Review)

Not reported

*The basis for the **assumed risk** (e.g. the median control group risk across studies) is provided in footnotes. The **corresponding risk** (and its 95% confidence interval) is based on the assumed risk in the comparison group and the **relative effect** of the intervention (and its 95% CI). **CI:** confidence interval; **RR:** risk ratio

GRADE Working Group grades of evidence

High certainty: we are very confident that the true effect lies close to that of the estimate of the effect.

Moderate certainty: we are moderately confident in the effect estimate: the true effect is likely to be close to the estimate of the effect, but there is a possibility that it is substantially different.

Low certainty: our confidence in the effect estimate is limited: the true effect may be substantially different from the estimate of the effect.

Very low certainty: we have very little confidence in the effect estimate: the true effect is likely to be substantially different from the estimate of effect.

^aMedian control risk: 2.75%.

^bDowngraded two levels for high risk of bias in most domains in one of the two trials.

^cDowngraded two levels for imprecision. The ideal amount of information required was 294,174. The total sample size constitutes only 0.24% (729/294,174) of the required amount. The number of occurrences is minimal. The 95% CI is wide-ranging and encompasses no advantage (RR = 1).

^dMedian control risk: 1.5%.

^eDowngraded two levels for high risk of bias in most domains in one of the two trials.

^fDowngraded one level due to imprecision. The number of occurrences is very low (N = 37), and the 95% CI is wide. It was not possible to estimate optimal information size due to lack of events in one trial.

Cochrane

Trusted evidence. Informed decision Better health.



BACKGROUND

Description of the condition

Cardiovascular diseases (CVDs) include coronary heart disease (CHD), sudden cardiac death/sudden cardiac arrest, cerebrovascular disease, stroke/transient ischaemic attack, rheumatic heart disease, congenital heart disease, deep venous thrombosis, pulmonary embolism, and peripheral arterial disease. From 1990 to 2019, the prevalence of cases of total CVDs has nearly doubled from 271 million (95% uncertainty interval (UI) 257 to 285 million) to 523 million (95% UI 497 to 550 million), respectively (Roth 2020). In addition, it has been estimated that CVDs caused 18.6 million (95% UI 17.1 to 19.7 million) deaths in 2019 (Roth 2020). Doubtlessly, CVDs yield a high socioeconomic burden on the general population (Flora 2019).

Atherosclerosis, the leading cause of CVDs, is a chronic inflammatory disease with autoimmune foundations resulting from cellular-molecular interactions in the artery wall (Gotlieb 1991). Abundant data link hypercholesterolaemia to atherogenesis, but only recently has it been appreciated that inflammatory mechanisms couple dyslipidaemia to atheroma formation. Leukocyte recruitment and expression of pro-inflammatory cytokines characterise early atherogenesis, and malfunction of inflammatory mediators mutes atheroma formation in mice. Moreover, inflammatory pathways promote thrombosis, a late and dreaded complication of atherosclerosis responsible for myocardial infarctions (MIs) and most strokes. The new appreciation of the role of inflammation in atherosclerosis provides a mechanistic framework for understanding the clinical benefits of lipid-lowering therapies and may eventually furnish new therapeutic targets (Anyfanti 2022; Barrett 2020; Cochain 2017; Eshghjoo 2021; Fazeli 2021; Frostegård 2013; Geovanini 2018; Gisterå 2017; Hansson 2006; Hussain 2020; Kobiyama 2018; Libby 2002; Libby 2019; Liu 2019; Martínez 2018a; Mizuno 2011; Oikonomou 2020; Ozen 2021; Pant 2014; Patel 2022; Rahman 2017; Shi 2010; Veronese 2018; Wolf 2019; Zhu 2018). Individuals with autoimmune disorders, rheumatic arthritis, systemic lupus erythematosus, and osteoarthritis have a higher frequency of cardiovascular events as compared to the healthy population (Croca 2017; Hannawi 2021; Li 2022; Liu 2018; Semb 2017; Vicente 2021; Yalcinkaya 2021). The incidence of MI in people with rheumatoid arthritis seems to be comparable to or higher than in people with diabetes mellitus (Ali 2021; Zhang 2022), therefore rheumatoid arthritis should be considered a prominent risk factor for CVD events (Ferraz-Amaro 2021), and a multidisciplinary team should include cardiologists (Ali 2021).

A potential relationship between a proprotein convertase subtilisin/kexin type 9 (*PCSK9*) and autoimmune disease has been recently noted (Martínez 2018b; Ministrini 2022).

The interrelationship between immunity, inflammation, and atherosclerosis could explain the cardiovascular construct termed residual inflammatory risk (RIR) (Ridker 2018). RIR is defined by the level of high-sensitivity C-reactive protein (hs-CRP) higher than 2 mg/L (Ridker 2018), a well-known biomarker of cardiovascular disease (Liuzzo 1994). The RIR should not be confused with the residual cholesterol risk (low-density lipoprotein cholesterol (LDL-C) higher than 100 mg/dL), residual triglyceride risk (triglycerides higher than 200 mg/dL and high-density lipoprotein a risk (Lp(a)

higher than 50 mg/dL), and residual thrombotic risk without a predefined biomarker (Ridker 2018). It has been suggested that, in primary prevention, the evaluation of hs-CRP is a useful prognostic factor as much as other conventional measurements of cardiovascular risk (i.e. LDL-C or HDL-C) (Ridker 2018). Subclinical inflammation can be better monitored with hs-CRP (Ridker 2018). Therefore, a decrease in inflammatory burden should decrease the risk of future cardiovascular disease (Whayne 2021). Recently, Kelly and colleagues suggested that colchicine's anti-inflammatory effects show promise in preventing vascular recurrence in coronary disease. The CONVINCE trial aims to extend this hypothesis to non-cardioembolic ischaemic stroke, despite its more diverse aetiologies (Kelly 2024).

Similarly, the concept of residual cardiovascular risk (RCR) has been proposed (Vanuzzo 2011). Hermans and colleagues 2010 defined RCR as the "residual risk of incident vascular events or progression of established vascular damage persisting in patients treated with current evidence-based recommended care. This risk includes established risk factors, such as dyslipidaemia, high blood pressure, hyperglycaemia, inflammation, unhealthy lifestyles, and the risk related to emerging or newer risk factors" (Hermans 2010). The link between inflammation and atherosclerosis has been supported by the use of anti-inflammatory therapies, biological agents, or anti-inflammatory drugs used to treat non-atherosclerotic inflammatory diseases and, hence, reduce cardiovascular events (Arbel 2018; Bäck 2015; Kottoor 2018; Moriya 2019; Roman 2020). Colchicine belongs to the biological agent group of medications (Chistiakov 2018; Dasgeb 2018; Imazio 2016; Thompson 2019; Whayne 2021). Colchicine's prescription in cardiovascular medicine is a novel use for an ancient drug (Chen 2017; Tong 2016). In a recent study, Liu and colleagues analysed several inflammation biomarkers that can be used to predict CVD. They found that high levels of fibrinogen, hs-CRP, interleukin-6 (IL-6), and galectin-3 can be used as specific biomarkers. However, the role of galectin-3 is unclear, and IL-6 is a non-specific inflammation marker (Liu 2023).

Colchicine has been used in gout, familial Mediterranean fever disorders, osteoarthritis (Akman 2018; Alarcón 1981; Aran 2011; Cronstein 2013; Das 2002; Halabe-Cherem 2009; Kiraz 1998; Lazaros 2018; Liantinioti 2018; Meneses 2015; Nuki 2008; Plotz 2022; Richette 2010; Vilardell 1978), dermatological disorders (Kaur 2020; Fujii 2021; Micheletti 2020; Zhao 2022), urological disorders (Akman 2011; Ibrahim 2019; Sinanoglu 2018), hepatology (Gong 2004; Rambaldi 2001), respiratory medicine (Gomer 2010), gastroenterology (Rajapakse 2001; Verne 1997; Verne 2003), and for secondary prevention of cardiovascular outcomes (Fiolet 2021; Imazio 2005a; Imazio 2005b; Imazio 2011a; Imazio 2014a; Imazio 2014a; Imazio 2014b; Maisch 2004; Nidorf 2013; Nidorf 2014; Roubille 2020; Siak 2021; Tardif 2019; Xia 2021). The effect of colchicine is unique since it binds to unpolymerised tubulin hetero dimers, forming a stable complex that effectively inhibits microtubule dynamics, not affecting the glucocorticoid signalling pathway as well as arachidonic acid metabolites production and signal transduction (Deftereos 2013).

In June 2023, the US Food and Drug Administration (FDA) approved colchicine for the secondary prevention of cardiovascular events in certain high-risk patients with coronary artery disease (FDA 2023). This approval was based on results from several randomised controlled trials (RCTs) evaluating colchicine's effectiveness in

secondary cardiovascular disease prevention (Deftereos 2013; Nidorf 2013; Nidorf 2020; Opstal 2022; Tardif 2019; Tong 2020). A Cochrane review to comprehensively assess the clinical benefits and potential harms of colchicine in this context is currently underway (Ebrahimi 2023).

This Cochrane review's scope was the use of colchicine for the primary prevention of cardiovascular outcomes in the general population.

Description of the intervention

Colchicine is a tricyclic alkaloid extracted from Colchicum autumnale and Gloriosa superba (Finkelstein 2010; Imazio 2021; Karamanou 2018). The drug is administered in either solid or liquid oral dosage form (FDA 2021a; FDA 2021b). It is rapidly absorbed in the gastrointestinal tract (Finkelstein 2010), and is mainly metabolised in the liver. Colchicine's main targets are the leukocytes (white blood cells) (Chappey 1993). The drug's half-life is between 41 and 46 hours for leukocytes and 49 hours for plasma (Chappey 1993). Colchicine binds to albumin at ~40% (Sabouraud 1994), and is excreted unchanged as metabolites in the faeces (about 80%), and 10% to 20% are excreted in the urine (Liantinioti 2018). Colchicine's dosage must be reduced and closely monitored in patients with relevant hepatic or renal dysfunction (Cocco 2010; Curiel 2012; Hung 2005; Imai 2020). Thus, those receiving colchicine must be monitored closely, especially elderly patients with kidney failure (Anonymous 2008; Ho 2019).

Colchicine has a narrow therapeutic index (Essame 2020; Finkelstein 2010; Ghawanmeh 2020), and its toxicity is associated with a poor prognosis (Essame 2020; Finkelstein 2010). Cytochrome P3A4 and P-glycoprotein metabolise colchicine; thus, any drug that binds these proteins influences the colchicine's pharmacokinetics (Borron 1996; Nuki 2008; Slobodnick 2015). Several drugs inhibit colchicine metabolism, including: macrolides (mainly clarithromycin), antiretroviral therapy, broad-spectrum oral antifungal agent (ketoconazole, etc.), grapefruit juice, histamine H2-antagonists (cimetidine), steroids (hydrocortisone, dexamethasone), selective serotonin reuptake inhibitors (fluoxetine, paroxetine), calcium-channel blockers (verapamil, diltiazem), and immuno-suppressors (cyclosporine A and tacrolimus are potent inhibitors). Prescribers must be aware of colchicine's drug interactions to reduce the likelihood of fatal and non-fatal side effects (Amanova 2014; Borron 1996; Dahan 2009; Davis 2013; Imai 2020; Magro 2021; Rollot 2004; Slobodnick 2015; Stewart 2020; Villa Zapata 2020). Colchicine increases the rate of diarrhoea and gastrointestinal adverse events that precede liver, sensory, muscle, infectious, and haematological adverse events or death (Stewart 2020). Recently, Dubé and colleagues described two genomic regions associated with gastrointestinal events in individuals treated with colchicine. It may benefit some patients with genetic predispositions to lower tolerability of treatment with colchicine (Dubé 2021).

A major concern is the inconsistency and errors in the available information on how colchicine interacts with other medications, leading to recommendations that might do more harm than good. Recently, a paper sought to clarify which drug interactions with colchicine are genuinely harmful, challenging the prevailing guidance of simply lowering colchicine doses when used with certain other drugs, a strategy that could result in either toxicity or inadequate treatment effectiveness (Hansten 2021). Recently, Gómez-Lumbreras and colleagues analysed the FDA Adverse Event Reporting System (FAERS) database to investigate potential drug interactions with colchicine, focusing on CYP3A4 and Pglycoprotein inhibitors. Their study identified multiple safety signals for combinations of colchicine with these inhibitors. The researchers recommend avoiding such combinations or closely monitoring patients when co-prescription is unavoidable (Gómez Lumbreras 2023). Therefore, this work underscores the importance of considering drug interactions in colchicine therapy, particularly with CYP3A4/P-gp inhibitors. It points to the need for cautious prescribing practices and suggests areas for further research to optimise colchicine use.

How the intervention might work

Colchicine's interaction with proteins such as tubulin, cytochrome P450, and P-glycoprotein elucidates its dual roles in clinical outcomes and pharmacokinetics (Slobodnick 2015). Its binding to tubulin is central to both its therapeutic and adverse effects, while its interactions with cytochrome P450 and P-glycoprotein are key to understanding its pharmacokinetic behaviour.

The drug's primary mechanism involves inhibiting the functions of microtubules (Wilson 1976), essential components of the eukaryotic cytoskeleton (Bershadsky 1988). These structures are crucial for cell division, shape, motility, and intracellular transport (Forkosh 2020; Janke 2020; Morton 1999; Roll-Mecak 2020; Taylor 1965). Colchicine's specific target, tubulin, comprises alpha and beta subunits. Its binding to tubulin disrupts microtubule assembly, leading to a disassembly that underpins its antiinflammatory actions (Chaldakov 2018; Forkosh 2020; Terkeltaub 2009). This inhibitory effect is believed to mediate colchicine's beneficial impacts on various cell types involved in inflammation, such as macrophages, platelets, endothelial cells, and especially neutrophils (Cerquaglia 2005; Cronstein 1995; Hu 2021; Imazio 2016; Leung 2015; Liang 2019; Paschke 2013; Perico 1996; Pircher 2019; Rudolph 1977). These cells are central to the inflammatory process and thus to the early stages of atheroma plaque formation (d'Alessandro 2020; Ma 2019; Nording 2020; Schrottmaier 2020), suggesting colchicine's potential in the primary prevention of cardiovascular events (Tsivgoulis 2018).

Adding to this, the interplay of monocytes, neutrophils, and the NLRP3 inflammasome within these cells plays a crucial role in the inflammation associated with atherosclerosis, with cholesterol crystals activating the NLRP3 inflammasome to produce key inflammatory mediators (Martínez 2018a; Martínez 2018b). Additionally, the work by Reglero-Real and colleagues emphasises the importance of endothelial cell autophagy in modulating inflammation, suggesting that colchicine may also exert effects on endothelial cell architecture, thereby influencing leukocyte migration and further underscoring its comprehensive anti-inflammatory properties in CVD management (Reglero-Real 2021).

Why it is important to do this review

This review is critical for the following reasons. First, according to a Cochrane review, there is uncertainty about the benefits and risks of colchicine in the general population (Hemkens 2016). Of the 39 RCTs included in Hemkens 2016, 82% (32/39) came from populations with chronic liver diseases, renal and primary amyloidosis, gout, Behçet's syndrome, or idiopathic pulmonary

fibrosis. Furthermore, several trials reported no cardiovascular risk profile. Therefore, this Cochrane review is required to assess colchicine's clinical benefits and risks in the primary prevention of cardiovascular events in people with or without cardiovascular risk factors.

Second, numerous non-Cochrane systematic reviews emphasise the use of colchicine to prevent atrial fibrillation (AF) after cardiac procedures. Some include both levels of prevention (Lennerz 2017; Papageorgiou 2017; Salih 2017; Trivedi 2014; Verma 2015; Wang 2016). However, these meta-analyses show inconsistencies in the measure of the effect of the intervention (i.e. odds ratio or risk ratio), reported funnel plots with fewer than 10 RCTs, lacked assessment of the risk of bias in the included trials, or used outof-date assessment scales without information about the certainty of the evidence. It was therefore necessary to specify the role of colchicine in the primary prevention of cardiovascular events with Cochrane's methodology.

Third, it is necessary to conduct a critical appraisal of trials in the primary prevention of post-pericardiotomy syndrome (Finkelstein 2002; Imazio 2010) and early postoperative pericardial and pleural effusions (Imazio 2011b; Meurin 2015). According to the information reported in the clinical practice guidelines of international scientific societies, there is uncertainty about the role of colchicine in the primary prevention of AF post-cardiac surgery (Calkins 2017; January 2014; Kirchhof 2016). Fourth, there is uncertainty about the role of colchicine in the scope of the primary prevention of cardiovascular events in rheumatological diseases, which have an inflammatory nature with a strong link with atherogenesis. Therefore, critical appraisal of the RCTs is necessary to determine the certainty of the evidence and obtain firm conclusions to facilitate better decision-making in clinical and epidemiological practice.

OBJECTIVES

To assess the clinical benefits and harms of colchicine as primary prevention of cardiovascular outcomes in the general population.

METHODS

Criteria for considering studies for this review

Types of studies

We included RCTs irrespective of publication status. We only included RCTs with a parallel design and a minimum follow-up of one year. The one-year minimum follow-up is based on the premise that cardiovascular events require enough time to develop. The exception was for studies that included people with post-cardiac procedure AF, in which case there was no minimum follow-up requirement.

We excluded non-randomised clinical trials. We did not apply any limitations on language or country. We included studies reported as full text, those published as abstract only, and unpublished data. We excluded cross-over and cluster-randomised trials, as they are unsuitable due to the nature of the clinical conditions where colchicine is prescribed and its pharmacodynamic properties, especially its very long elimination half-life.

We carefully analysed whether trials were published in predatory journals (beallslist.net/). A predatory journal is an exploitive for-

profit publication model that promises a quick and easy publishing process with supposedly high editorial and publishing standards; however, it lacks quality control, transparency, and impact factor, threatening the foundation of evidence-based research (Van Nuland 2017).

For future updates, we will not exclude any trial published in a predatory journal; however, we will conduct a sensitivity analysis.

Types of participants

We only included adults (aged 18 years or more), regardless of gender, without a known history of cardiovascular outcomes (MI, unstable angina, heart failure, stroke, pericardial effusion, AF, and peripheral arterial disease). We included participants with any risk factor for cardiovascular outcomes (i.e. blood hypertension, obesity, dyslipidaemia, diabetes mellitus, and chronic kidney diseases).

We also included pregnant women. However, we did not report information about this population because we identified no trials that included pregnant participants.

For future updates, if we identify an RCT including participants with or without a history of cardiovascular outcomes, we plan to check whether there was information by subgroup. If there is no report, the trial will be excluded. However, we will contact the lead author before making a final decision.

Types of interventions

We only included the intervention as monotherapy, given at any dosage. We did not pool all eligible comparators; we considered each as a different comparison. For the purposes of the review, and in the absence of a standard definition of usual care, we accepted the following quote: "It can include the routine care received by patients for prevention or treatment of diseases" (Gellman 2013).

1. Intervention

Colchicine is only administered orally. We only considered colchicine given alone (monotherapy), regardless of colchicine dosage.

2. Control

- Placebo.
- Non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs (NSAIDs): indomethacin, celecoxib, mefenamic acid, naproxen, etoricoxib, ibuprofen, diclofenac, and high-dose aspirin.
- Corticosteroids: dexamethasone, prednisone, deflazacort, prednisolone, and any other drug that met the criteria of this class of drugs.
- Immunomodulating drugs: cyclophosphamide, methotrexate, D-penicillamine, and any other medication that met the criteria of this class of drugs.
- Usual care.

The current version of the review includes only the following comparisons.

- Colchicine versus placebo.
- Colchicine versus immunomodulating drugs.

• Colchicine versus usual care (including unreported control or no intervention/treatment).

We plan to include comparisons between colchicine and NSAIDs and corticosteroids for future updates, as there are currently no trials comparing colchicine with these medications.

We accepted co-interventions, including treatment of complications, if they were administered equally to all intervention arms.

Types of outcome measures

Reporting in the trial one or more of the outcomes listed in this review was not an inclusion criterion for the review. We tried to access the trial protocol or contact the trial authors to ascertain all measured outcomes, even if unreported. Relevant trials that measured these outcomes but did not report their results or are not reported in a usable format are included in the narrative. We did not exclude any RCTs solely based on the reporting of the outcome data.

We reported the number of people with at least one event for all outcomes that could occur more than once in a trial participant.

We assessed all outcomes at maximum follow-up.

Primary outcomes

- All-cause mortality.
- Non-fatal MI.
- Stroke. We included either acute ischaemic stroke or intracerebral haemorrhage. However, clinical diagnosis with imaging was an eligibility criterion.
- Adverse events: we prioritised:
 - gastrointestinal (diarrhoea);
 - liver (jaundice);
 - kidney (acute renal failure);
 - neurological (seizure, mental confusion);
 - multiorgan failure.

Secondary outcomes

- Cardiovascular mortality
- Post-cardiac procedure AF
- Pericardial effusion
- Symptoms or intervention related to peripheral artery disease
- Heart failure
- Unstable angina

We excluded economic costs as an outcome of this Cochrane review. However, economic costs are mentioned in the Discussion in a narrative form.

Search methods for identification of studies

Electronic searches

We identified relevant trials through systematic searches of the following bibliographic databases.

• Cochrane Central Register of Controlled Trials (CENTRAL; 2023, Issue 5), in the Cochrane Library.

- MEDLINE Ovid (including In-Process & Other Non-Indexed Citations, from 1946 to 31 May 2023).
- Embase Ovid (from 1980 to 31 May 2023).
- LILACS (BIREME) (Latin American and Caribbean Health Sciences Literature) (from 1982 to 31 May 2023).

The preliminary search strategy for MEDLINE (Ovid) was adapted for use in the other databases (Appendix 1). The Cochrane sensitivity and precision-maximising RCT filter (Lefebvre 2019) was applied to MEDLINE (Ovid) and adaptations of it to other databases, except CENTRAL.

We searched all databases from their inception to the present and did not restrict the language of publication or publication status.

We did not perform a separate search for adverse events of colchicine used to treat any disease. We considered the adverse events described in the included studies only.

Searching other resources

We searched in Web of Science (WOS) CPCI-S (Conference Proceedings Citation Index-Science) to include conference abstracts (31 May 2023).

We conducted a search of ClinicalTrials.gov (www.clinicaltrials.gov) and the World Health Organization International Clinical Trials Registry Platform (WHO ICTRP) (apps.who.int/trialsearch/) for ongoing or unpublished trials (31 May 2023).

We searched the following regulatory data websites.

- European Medicines Agency (EMA) (www.ema.europa.eu/en/ homepage) (31 May 2023).
- US Food and Drug Administration (FDA) (www.fda.gov/drugs) (31 May 2023).

Three review authors (AMC, EAB, RR) checked the reference lists of all primary studies and review articles for additional references.

We also examined any relevant retraction statements and errata for included studies. We did not find retractions on RCTs.

Data collection and analysis

We followed the recommendations of the Cochrane Handbook for Systematic Reviews of Interventions (Higgins 2008a).

Selection of studies

Three review authors (AMC, DM, ACP) independently screened the titles and abstracts identified by the search for potential relevance, coding each study as 'retrieve' (eligible or potentially eligible/unclear) or 'do not retrieve'. A fourth review author was asked to arbitrate (RH) in the case of disagreement. We retrieved the full-text study reports/publications, and three review authors (DM, CMA, RR) independently screened the full texts, identified studies for inclusion, and determined and recorded reasons for exclusion of the ineligible studies. We resolved disagreements through discussion or consultation with a fourth review author (JBS). We identified and excluded duplicates and collated multiple reports of the same study so that each study, rather than each report, was the unit of interest in the review. We recorded the selection process in sufficient detail to complete a PRISMA flow diagram and 'Characteristics of excluded studies' table (Liberati

Data extraction and management

2009).

Cochrane

We used a data collection form for study characteristics and outcome data that had been piloted on at least one study in the review. Four review authors (AMC, RR, DM, MGV) extracted study characteristics from the included studies. Two review authors (AC, CMA) checked the data extraction. We extracted the following study characteristics.

- Methods: study design, the total duration of the study, followup period, details of any 'run in' period, number of study centres and location, and study setting.
- Participants: number (N) randomised, N lost to follow-up/ withdrawn, N analysed, age (as reported by trialist), sex, body mass index (BMI) (it is relevant to determine obesity diagnosis), hs-CRP level, pertinent details for comorbidities, inclusion criteria, and exclusion criteria.
- Interventions: intervention, comparison, concomitant medications, and excluded medications.
- Outcomes: primary and secondary outcomes specified and collected, and time points reported.
- Notes: trial's registration number, conduction dates, a priori sample estimation, financial disclosures, other disclosures, funding/support, and publication in a predatory journal.

One review author (AMC) transferred data to RevMan (RevMan 2024). Two review authors (MGV, RR) double-checked that data had been entered correctly by comparing the data presented in the systematic review with the data extraction form. Another review author (DM) spot-checked study characteristics for accuracy against the trial report.

Assessment of risk of bias in included studies

One review author (AMC) assessed the risk of bias in each trial using Cochrane's RoB 1 tool as described in the *Cochrane Handbook for Systematic Reviews of Interventions* (Higgins 2008b). Three other review authors (MGV, DM, JBDeS) independently re-checked the risk of bias in each trial. We discussed any discrepancies between review authors and achieved consensus on the final assessment.

We assessed the following domains as low, high, or unclear risk of bias.

- Randomisation
- Concealment of allocation.
- Blinding (of participants, personnel, and outcome assessors)
- Incomplete outcome data
- Selective outcome reporting
- Other bias

Definitions of the domains are listed in Appendix 2.

Measures of treatment effect

Data for all outcomes in this Cochrane review were dichotomous, therefore we analysed all outcomes using risk ratio (RR) with 95% confidence intervals (CIs).

Unit of analysis issues

The unit of analysis in this Cochrane review was the participant. The time of the analysis was the longest established in each trial. In the case of trials with multiple arms, we combined the groups to yield a single pair-wise comparison.

Dealing with missing data

Due to the scarcity of data and flaws in the methodologies of the trials, we did not conduct missing data analysis. Therefore, for future updates, we will assess the percentage of dropouts for each included trial and for each intervention group and will evaluate whether an intention-to-treat (ITT) analysis had been performed or could have been performed from the available published information. We will try to contact the study authors to answer any questions arising from this issue.

To undertake an ITT analysis, we will seek data from the trial authors about the number of participants in treatment groups, irrespective of their compliance and whether they were later thought to be ineligible, otherwise excluded from treatment, or lost to follow-up.

We will include participants with incomplete or missing data in sensitivity analyses by imputing them according to the following scenarios.

- Extreme-case analysis favouring the experimental intervention ('best-worse' case scenario): none of the dropouts/participants lost from the experimental arm, but all the dropouts/ participants lost from the control arm experienced the outcome, including all randomised participants in the denominator (Hollis 1999).
- Extreme-case analysis favouring the control ('worst-best' case scenario): all dropouts/participants lost from the experimental arm, but none from the control arm experienced the outcome, including all randomised participants in the denominator (Hollis 1999).

We will use Stata software to assess the impact of the missing data (Stata).

Assessment of heterogeneity

We initially detected the presence of heterogeneity from visual assessment of the forest plots.

We quantified statistical heterogeneity using the I² statistic, which describes the percentage of total variation across trials due to heterogeneity rather than sampling error (Higgins 2003). We assumed that 50% to 90% may represent substantial heterogeneity (Deeks 2019). For a proper interpretation of the I², we followed the following recommendations in the *Cochrane Handbook for Systematic Reviews of Interventions*: "The importance of the observed value of I² depends on (1) magnitude and direction of effects, and (2) strength of evidence for heterogeneity (e.g. P value from the Chi² test, or a confidence interval for I²: uncertainty in the value of I² is substantial when the number of studies is small)." (Deeks 2019). However, we considered statistical heterogeneity present if I² exceeded 70% (Deeks 2019).

Assessment of reporting biases

For future updates, if there are 10 or more randomised clinical trials for the outcome, we will use the contour-enhanced funnel plot to differentiate asymmetry due to publication bias from those due to other factors (Sterne 2011). We will assess the likelihood of publication bias with Harbord's test (Sterne 2011). We will use Stata statistical software to produce conventional and contour funnel plots (Stata).

Data synthesis

We followed the recommendations in the *Cochrane Handbook for Systematic Reviews of Interventions* to summarise study characteristics and prepare for synthesis (McKenzie 2019). When data pooling was not feasible, we showed the information as a narrative summary of the evidence presented in either text or tabular form. For future updates, if there is evidence that an effect exists in at least one study, we plan to use an albatross plot with combined P values (Harrison 2017; McKenzie 2019). The albatross plot requires a two-sided P value, sample size, and direction of effect (or, equivalently, a one-sided P value and sample size) for each result (Harrison 2017; McKenzie 2019).

We performed meta-analyses with 95% CIs using a random-effects model. For future updates, in the case of statistical heterogeneity (I² > 70%), we will report the prediction interval (Deeks 2019; IntHout 2016; Riley 2011). If there is simultaneous statistical heterogeneity and three or more trials, we will determine the 95% prediction interval, which takes into account the whole distribution of the effects (Riley 2011). Prediction intervals in meta-analysis show the expected range of true effects in similar studies (Borenstein 2017; IntHout 2016). The prediction interval will show the distribution of the true effect sizes, which does not mean precision of the mean of the effect sizes (Borenstein 2009; Borenstein 2017). We will estimate the 95% prediction interval using Stata (Kontopantelis 2010; Stata).

Regardless of the overall risk of bias, RCTs contributed to the primary analyses when available. We conducted meta-analysis using RevMan software (RevMan 2024). We estimated the number needed to treat for an additional beneficial outcome (NNTB) and number needed to treat for an additional harmful outcome (NNTH) only for outcomes where evidence suggested benefit or harm. We followed Cochrane methodology (Schünemann 2019b). We used GraphPad to estimate NNTB and NNTH (GraphPad 2024).

Subgroup analysis and investigation of heterogeneity

For future updates, if there are 10 or more RCTs for the outcome, and an I^2 is greater than 70%, we will conduct a meta-regression using Stata (Stata). We hypothesise that the following covariates could explain the potential statistical heterogeneity: rheumatological disorders (rheumatoid arthritis or gout), cardiovascular risk factors, hs-CRP level, and rheumatoid arthritis (Deeks 2019).

We plan to carry out the following subgroup analyses.

 Participants with rheumatological disorders (rheumatoid arthritis or gout) compared to participants without rheumatological disorders (hypothesis: participants with rheumatological disorders may have a higher risk of cardiovascular outcomes).

- Participants with cardiovascular risk factors (diabetes mellitus, blood hypertension, chronic kidney disease) compared to participants without cardiovascular risk factors (hypothesis: participants with cardiovascular risk factors have a higher risk of cardiovascular outcomes).
- Participants with hs-CRP levels higher than 2 mg/L versus participants with levels ≤ 2 mg/L (hypothesis: higher hs-CRP could suppose a higher risk of cardiovascular outcomes).

We will conduct the subgroup analysis for all outcomes. We will use the formal test for subgroup differences in Review Manager (RevMan 2024) and base our interpretation on this.

Sensitivity analysis

We plan to conduct the following sensitivity analyses for future updates, if possible.

- Trials with a low risk of bias compared to trials with an unclear or high risk of bias.
- A fixed-effect meta-analysis compared to a random-effects model meta-analysis.
- Trials without industry support compared to trials with industry support, given that trials with industry support tend to report positive effects.
- Trials not published in predatory journals compared to trials published in predatory journals, given that trials published in predatory journals tend to report positive effects.

We plan only to conduct these analyses for the primary outcomes.

We will use the overall risk of bias for a study result rather than specific domains. We will judge whether there is a difference between the primary and sensitivity analyses by comparing P values changes.

Summary of findings and assessment of the certainty of the evidence

We created a summary of the findings tables using the predefined outcomes in this Cochrane review (all-cause mortality, nonfatal MI, stroke, adverse events, cardiovascular mortality, postcardiac procedure AF, and symptoms or intervention related to peripheral artery disease). We used the five GRADE considerations (study limitations, consistency of effect, imprecision, indirectness, and publication bias) to assess the certainty of evidence as it relates to the RCTs that contribute data to the metaanalyses for the predefined outcomes (Atkins 2004: Guyatt 2008). We used the methods and recommendations described in Chapter 14 of the Cochrane Handbook for Systematic Reviews of Interventions (Schünemann 2019a), employing GRADEpro GDT software (GRADEpro GDT). As listed in Types of interventions, each comparison has a separate summary of findings table. We justified all decisions to downgrade the certainty of the evidence using footnotes and made comments to aid the reader's understanding of the review where necessary.

Two review authors (AMC, MGV) independently assessed the certainty of the evidence, with disagreements resolved by discussion or by involving a third review author (RR). Judgements were justified, documented, and incorporated into the reporting of results for each outcome.

Colchicine for the primary prevention of cardiovascular events (Review) Copyright © 2025 The Cochrane Collaboration. Published by John Wiley & Sons, Ltd.



We used the GRADE Working Group's statements to communicate findings combining size and certainty of an acceptable effect (Santesso 2020).

RESULTS

Description of studies

Results of the search

This Cochrane review searched for the studies twice. The Cochrane Heart Group conducted the first search (15 November 2022), and the library personnel at the Universidad Francisco de Vitoria (Madrid, Spain) performed the second search (up to 31 May 2023). In total, we retrieved 5837 studies from 5 databases, 2 clinical trials registers, and 2 databases of regulatory data (see Electronic searches; Searching other resources). Once duplicates were removed, we reviewed 4752 titles and abstracts, of which 69 records were identified as potentially relevant. We excluded 31 studies (see reasons for exclusion in Characteristics of excluded studies). We classified four studies as awaiting classification and seven as ongoing (see Studies awaiting classification and Ongoing studies). Fifteen clinical trials (27 records) encompassing 1721 randomised participants met our stringent inclusion criteria (see Characteristics of included studies). The selected trials include Bessissow 2018; Bodenheimer 1988; Buligescu 1989; Cortez-Pinto 2002; Kaplan 1986; Kaplan 1999; Kershenobich 1988; Lin 1996; Morgan 2005; Nikolaidis 2006; Olsson 1995; Sainz 1992; Wang 1994; Warnes 1987; Yurdakul 2001. The evidence is current to 31 May 2023. For a comprehensive overview of our search and selection process, please refer to the flow diagram in Figure 1.



Figure 1. Study flow diagram.





See the preliminary MEDLINE (Ovid) search strategy in Martí-Carvajal 2022.

Included studies

Methods

Design and comparison groups

All trials had a parallel design with two comparison groups.

Duration of trials

- Twelve out of 15 trials (80%) disclosed the study's duration, averaging 4.04 years, ranging from one year to 11 years. The median duration was 2.5 years (Bessissow 2018; Bodenheimer 1988; Cortez-Pinto 2002; Kaplan 1999; Lin 1996; Morgan 2005; Nikolaidis 2006; Olsson 1995; Sainz 1992; Wang 1994; Warnes 1987; Yurdakul 2001).
- Three trials did not mention the study's duration.

Follow-up period

The follow-up for participants varied between 4 and 728 weeks, with an average duration of 223.86 weeks and a median of 156 weeks.

Run-in period

No trials reported a run-in period.

Trial location and centres

- All trials were conducted in a single country, as follows: Canada (Bessissow 2018), Greece (Nikolaidis 2006), Mexico (Kershenobich 1988), Portugal (Cortez-Pinto 2002), Romania (Buligescu 1989), Spain (Sainz 1992), Sweden (Olsson 1995), Taiwan (Lin 1996; Wang 1994), Turkey (Yurdakul 2001), the UK (Warnes 1987) and the USA (Bodenheimer 1988; Kaplan 1986; Kaplan 1999; Morgan 2005).
- Eight out of 15 trials (53.33%) were single-centre studies (Bessissow 2018; Kaplan 1986; Kaplan 1999; Kershenobich 1988; Nikolaidis 2006; Wang 1994; Warnes 1987; Yurdakul 2001).
- Three trials (20%) were multicentre (Bodenheimer 1988; Morgan 2005; Olsson 1995).
- Four trials did not specify the number of centres involved (Buligescu 1989; Cortez-Pinto 2002; Lin 1996; Sainz 1992).

Trial setting

- Fourteen trials (93.33%) were conducted in outpatient settings.
- Only one trial was conducted in both inpatient and outpatient settings (Bessissow 2018).

Participants

Diseases

Liver diseases emerged as the predominant focus of the review, featured in 86.67% (13/15) of the studied trials, and encompassed a variety of conditions: primary biliary cholangitis 26.67% (4/13) (Bodenheimer 1988; Kaplan 1986; Kaplan 1999; Warnes 1987), alcoholic liver cirrhosis 13.33% (2/13) (Buligescu 1989; Kershenobich 1988), non-alcoholic liver cirrhosis 13.33% (2/13) (Cortez-Pinto 2002; Morgan 2005), alcoholic liver disease (Sainz 1992), chronic hepatitis B (Lin 1996), chronic liver disease (Nikolaidis 2006), hepatitis B virus-related postnecrotic cirrhosis (Wang 1994), and primary sclerosing cholangitis (Olsson 1995).

Colchicine for the primary prevention of cardiovascular events (Review) Copyright © 2025 The Cochrane Collaboration. Published by John Wiley & Sons, Ltd.

Outside the realm of liver diseases, the review also included a trial centred on cardiovascular disease, specifically perioperative AF (Bessissow 2018). Additionally, we included a study on systemic connective tissue disorders focused on Behçet's syndrome (Yurdakul 2001). Notably, non-cardiovascular diseases were the predominant subject of the trials, with only one study exclusively from the cardiovascular field (Bessissow 2018).

Randomised participants

The total number of randomised participants was 1721. The average number of participants in the included trials was 114.77, with a standard deviation (SD) of 125.03. The 95% CI for the mean ranged from 45.49 to 183.97. The median number of participants was 84.

Analysed participants

Twelve trials reported participant withdrawals. The total number of analysed participants was 1412. Consequently, the average number of analysed participants was 117.66, with an SD of 137.67. The 95% CI for this mean ranged from 38.87 to 194.66, and the median number of participants was 83.5 (Bessissow 2018; Bodenheimer 1988; Cortez-Pinto 2002; Kaplan 1986; Kaplan 1999; Kershenobich 1988; Lin 1996; Morgan 2005; Olsson 1995; Wang 1994; Warnes 1987; Yurdakul 2001). The percentage of withdrawals was 17.95%.

Participant age

Eleven trials provided data on participant age. The mean age was 49.93 years, with an SD of 10.42 years. The 95% CI for the mean age ranged from 45.57 to 54.28 years. The median age was 51 years (Bessissow 2018; Bodenheimer 1988; Cortez-Pinto 2002; Kaplan 1999; Kershenobich 1988; Lin 1996; Morgan 2005; Nikolaidis 2006; Olsson 1995; Wang 1994; Yurdakul 2001).

Participant gender

Twelve studies provided data regarding the gender distribution of participants. The mean proportion of male participants was 57.04%, with an SD of 32.91%. The 95% CI for the mean ranged from 31.42% to 68.66%. The median value was 60.75% (Bessissow 2018; Bodenheimer 1988; Cortez-Pinto 2002; Kaplan 1986; Kaplan 1999; Kershenobich 1988; Lin 1996; Morgan 2005; Nikolaidis 2006; Olsson 1995; Wang 1994; Yurdakul 2001).

None of the included trials provided information regarding participants' body mass index, hs-CRP levels, or history of chronic kidney disease. Only one trial detailed baseline data on the history of hypertension, diabetes mellitus, and tobacco use (Bessissow 2018). Another trial documented history related to dyslipidaemia (Kaplan 1999). Six trials presented data on participants with a history of autoimmune diseases (Bodenheimer 1988; Kaplan 1986; Kaplan 1999; Nikolaidis 2006; Olsson 1995; Yurdakul 2001). A further two trials discussed cardiovascular risk factors (Bessissow 2018; Kaplan 1999).

Inclusion criteria

Fourteen trials (93.33%) reported inclusion criteria (Bessissow 2018; Bodenheimer 1988; Cortez-Pinto 2002; Kaplan 1986; Kaplan 1999; Kershenobich 1988; Lin 1996; Morgan 2005; Nikolaidis 2006; Olsson 1995; Sainz 1992; Wang 1994; Warnes 1987; Yurdakul 2001). One trial (6.67%) reported no information regarding inclusion criteria (Buligescu 1989).



Exclusion criteria

Ten trials (66.67%) reported exclusion criteria (Bessissow 2018; Cortez-Pinto 2002; Kaplan 1986; Kaplan 1999; Kershenobich 1988; Lin 1996; Morgan 2005; Nikolaidis 2006; Wang 1994; Yurdakul 2001). Four trials (26.67%) did not report exclusion criteria (Bodenheimer 1988; Olsson 1995; Sainz 1992; Warnes 1987). In the remaining trial (6.67%) this information was unclear (Buligescu 1989).

Interventions

Intervention

All trials administered colchicine orally. Of the 15 trials:

- eight trials (53.33%) used a dose of 1 mg (Buligescu 1989; Cortez-Pinto 2002; Kershenobich 1988; Lin 1996; Nikolaidis 2006; Olsson 1995; Sainz 1992; Wang 1994);
- five trials (33.33%) used a dose of 0.6 mg (Bessissow 2018; Bodenheimer 1988; Kaplan 1986; Kaplan 1999; Morgan 2005);
- one trial used a dose of 0.5 mg (Warnes 1987);
- one trial allowed a flexible dose of 1 to 2 mg (Yurdakul 2001).

Regarding frequency, colchicine was administered:

- twice-daily in six trials; (Bessissow 2018; Bodenheimer 1988; Kaplan 1986; Kaplan 1999; Morgan 2005; Warnes 1987);
- once-daily in four trials (Buligescu 1989; Olsson 1995; Sainz 1992; Yurdakul 2001);
- once-daily but only five days a week in five trials (Cortez-Pinto 2002; Kershenobich 1988; Lin 1996; Nikolaidis 2006; Sainz 1992).

The average duration of administration across 14 trials was 211.81 weeks, with an SD of 190.91 weeks. The range spanned from a minimum of 1.42 weeks to a maximum of 728 weeks, with a median of 156 weeks. Notably, Morgan 2005 had a variable duration, prescribing colchicine between 104 and 312 weeks.

Control

- Placebo: 10 trials (66.66%) compared colchicine with a placebo (Bessissow 2018; Bodenheimer 1988; Cortez-Pinto 2002; Kaplan 1986; Kershenobich 1988; Morgan 2005; Olsson 1995; Wang 1994; Warnes 1987; Yurdakul 2001).
- NSAIDs, including indomethacin, celecoxib, mefenamic acid, naproxen, etoricoxib, ibuprofen, diclofenac, and high-dose aspirin: not reported in any trial.
- Corticosteroids, including dexamethasone, prednisone, deflazacort, prednisolone, and other drugs that fit the corticosteroid classification: not reported in any trial.
- Immunomodulating drugs, including cyclophosphamide, methotrexate, D-penicillamine, and others that met this class's criteria: one trial compared colchicine with methotrexate (Kaplan 1999).
- Usual care: we adopted this approach because the participants assigned to the control group would likely have received usual care. There is uncertainty about whether usual care was consistently defined or administered, which affects the reliability of the knowledge obtained. We also included under this category:
 - unreported control: two trials did not adequately describe the nature of the control group/condition (Buligescu 1989; Lin 1996). One trial was an abstract (Buligescu 1989);

 no intervention: two trials reported that the control group "... did not receive antifibrotic treatment", indicating no intervention for these participants. However, the specific treatment or conditions for the control group were not detailed (Nikolaidis 2006; Sainz 1992).

Outcomes

Primary outcomes

The 15 included trials reported an average of 4.06 primary outcomes (SD 3.32). The range spanned from a minimum of 1 to a maximum of 13 outcomes, with a median of 4. The 95% CI for the mean ranged from 2.22 to 5.90.

Predefined primary outcomes

- All-cause mortality: reported by 11 trials (73.33%) (Bessissow 2018; Bodenheimer 1988; Cortez-Pinto 2002; Kaplan 1986; Kaplan 1999; Kershenobich 1988; Lin 1996; Morgan 2005; Olsson 1995; Wang 1994; Warnes 1987). Four trials did not report information on this outcome (Buligescu 1989; Nikolaidis 2006; Sainz 1992; Yurdakul 2001).
- Non-fatal MI: reported by one trial (Bessissow 2018).
- Stroke: reported by one trial (Bessissow 2018).
- Adverse events: 13 trials (86.66%) provided data (Bessissow 2018; Bodenheimer 1988; Buligescu 1989; Cortez-Pinto 2002; Kaplan 1986; Kershenobich 1988; Lin 1996; Morgan 2005; Nikolaidis 2006; Olsson 1995; Wang 1994; Warnes 1987; Yurdakul 2001). Two trials offered no data (Kaplan 1999; Sainz 1992).

Secondary outcomes

The 15 included trials reported an average of 5.12 secondary outcomes (SD 3.44). Outcomes ranged from 2 to 11, with a median of 3.5. The 95% CI for the mean was between 2.24 to 8.0.

Predefined secondary outcomes

- Cardiovascular mortality: reported by two trials (Kaplan 1999; Kershenobich 1988).
- Post-cardiac procedure AF: reported by one trial (Bessissow 2018).
- Pericardial effusion: not reported by any trial.
- Symptoms or intervention related to peripheral artery disease: not reported by any trial.
- Heart failure: not reported by any trial.
- Unstable angina: not reported by any trial.

Notes

Trial registration number

Out of 15 trials, only Bessissow 2018 provided a registration number. The remaining 14 trials did not provide this information.

Trial dates

- Start dates: six trials indicated the trial start date, ranging from 1979 to 2014 (Bessissow 2018; Cortez-Pinto 2002; Kershenobich 1988; Lin 1996; Morgan 2005; Yurdakul 2001).
- Finish dates: five trials reported conclusion dates between 1993 and 2015 (Bessissow 2018; Cortez-Pinto 2002; Lin 1996; Morgan 2005; Yurdakul 2001), while Kershenobich 1988 did not specify an end date.

Colchicine for the primary prevention of cardiovascular events (Review) Copyright © 2025 The Cochrane Collaboration. Published by John Wiley & Sons, Ltd.



 Nine trials did not provide information on the dates trials were conducted (Bodenheimer 1988; Buligescu 1989; Kaplan 1986; Kaplan 1999; Nikolaidis 2006; Olsson 1995; Sainz 1992; Wang 1994; Warnes 1987).

A priori sample size estimation

Five trials conducted their research with a predetermined sample size (Cortez-Pinto 2002; Kaplan 1986; Kaplan 1999; Morgan 2005; Wang 1994). Ten trials did not report this information.

Financial disclosure

- Six trials disclosed no financial ties.
- Two trials were sponsored by a drug company (Bodenheimer 1988; Kaplan 1986).
- Seven trials received funding from a governmental scientific organisation.

Sponsorship

- Two trials were sponsored by a drug company (Bodenheimer 1988; Kaplan 1986).
- Five trials were funded by government or public organisations.
- Two trials received backing from mixed public and private entities.
- Six trials did not clarify their sponsorship.

Ethical committee approval

Eleven trials confirmed receiving ethical committee approval. Four trials did not provide this information (Buligescu 1989; Lin 1996; Nikolaidis 2006; Sainz 1992).

Predatory journal

No trials were published in predatory journals.

See Figure 1 and Characteristics of included studies.

Excluded studies

We excluded 31 studies because the follow-up was less than one year (Agzarian 2018; Ahern 1987; Ahmadieh 2015; Aisen 2001;

Akriviadis 1990; Aktulga 1980; Amirpour 2016; Basak 1993; Borstad 2004; Da Cunha 2006; Das 2002; Davis 2021; Deftereos 2013; Døssing 2023; Ediz 2012; Fish 1997; Grimaitre 2000; Hays 2021; Korkerdsup 2022; Lenior 2001; Leung 2018; Levine 2022; Meek 1990; Meurin 2015; Safarinejad 2004; Samuels 2020; Schnebel 1988; Simmons 1990; Taghavi 2010; Trinchet 1989; Wuttiputhanun 2022).

See Characteristics of excluded studies for details.

Ongoing studies

We identified seven ongoing trials (EUCTR2018-002114-13; IRCT138808062641N1; NCT02442921; NCT03693781; NCT04160117; NCT05175274; NCT05802992). These trials are being conducted in Canada (NCT04160117), China (NCT05175274; NCT05802992), France (EUCTR2018-002114-13), Israel (NCT02442921), and Italy (NCT03693781). The conditions being studied include immunoglobulin A (IgA) vasculitis (France), amyotrophic lateral sclerosis (Italy), diabetic nephropathy (Israel), pulmonary vein isolation (Canada), high risk of coronary artery disease (China), and multiple myeloma (China). Colchicine dosages ranged from 0.005 mg/kg/day to 1.2 mg. The number of study centres involved in each trial ranged from 1 to 32. Most studies are small, single-centre trials, except for the French study on IgA vasculitis, which involves 32 centres. In summary, these studies demonstrate research interest in exploring colchicine as a treatment for a diverse range of conditions, with studies spanning multiple countries and evaluating various colchicine dosing regimens. The size and scale of the trials range considerably. See Characteristics of ongoing studies for details.

Studies awaiting classification

Four studies are awaiting classification. We were not able to obtain the full text for two studies (Parise 1995; Reinhardt 1986). Conen 2023 and Eikelboom 2022 were categorised as studies awaiting classification following peer review. See Characteristics of studies awaiting classification for details.

Risk of bias in included studies

Risk of bias summaries are shown in Figure 2 and Figure 3; for further details see Characteristics of included studies.







Figure 3. Risk of bias graph: review authors' judgements about each risk of bias item presented as percentages across all included studies.



Allocation

Random sequence generation (randomly assigning participants to groups) was adequately carried out in 6 of the 15 trials (40%) (Bessissow 2018; Cortez-Pinto 2002; Lin 1996; Morgan 2005; Wang 1994; Warnes 1987), leading to a judgement of low risk of selection bias. The remaining nine trials had unclear reporting on their sequence generation, resulting in a judgement of unclear risk (Bodenheimer 1988; Buligescu 1989; Kaplan 1986; Kaplan 1999; Kershenobich 1988; Nikolaidis 2006; Olsson 1995; Sainz 1992; Yurdakul 2001)

Only three trials (20%) were considered to have performed allocation concealment to minimise selection bias properly (Bessissow 2018; Cortez-Pinto 2002; Morgan 2005). The other 12 trials had unclear reporting on concealment methods, resulting in a judgement of unclear risk of bias (Bodenheimer 1988; Buligescu 1989; Kaplan 1986; Kaplan 1999; Kershenobich 1988; Lin 1996; Nikolaidis 2006; Olsson 1995; Sainz 1992; Wang 1994; Warnes 1987; Yurdakul 2001).

Blinding

We assessed seven trials as having a low risk of performance bias (Bessissow 2018; Bodenheimer 1988; Cortez-Pinto 2002; Kaplan 1986; Kaplan 1999; Kershenobich 1988; Morgan 2005). Seven other trials had unclear reporting about blinding of participants and personnel, resulting in a judgement of unclear risk of bias (Buligescu 1989; Nikolaidis 2006; Olsson 1995; Sainz 1992; Wang 1994; Warnes 1987; Yurdakul 2001). The remaining trial had a high risk of performance bias related to lack of blinding (Lin 1996).

Regarding detection bias, we assessed two trials that appropriately reported on blinding of outcome assessment as at low risk of bias (Morgan 2005; Nikolaidis 2006). Twelve trials had unclear reporting about blinding of outcome assessment, leading to a judgement of unclear risk of detection bias (Bessissow 2018; Bodenheimer 1988; Buligescu 1989; Cortez-Pinto 2002; Kaplan 1986; Kaplan 1999; Kershenobich 1988; Olsson 1995; Sainz 1992; Wang 1994; Warnes 1987; Yurdakul 2001). We assessed one trial as having a risk of detection bias (Lin 1996).

Incomplete outcome data

Attrition bias refers to systematic differences between groups due to the withdrawal or exclusion of participants during a

study. Assessment of this type of bias depends on whether trials appropriately report participant dropouts and exclusions.

We assessed two trials as at low risk of attrition bias, as they had less than 12% dropout rates and provided sufficient details on withdrawals or exclusions (Kaplan 1986; Morgan 2005).

We assessed three trials as at unclear risk of attrition bias, as they did not report adequate information about participant withdrawals and exclusions (Buligescu 1989; Nikolaidis 2006; Wang 1994).

We assessed 10 trials as at high risk of attrition bias. Each trial lost over 12% of its participants during the study, exceeding the acceptable threshold for dropout rates (Bessissow 2018; Bodenheimer 1988; Cortez-Pinto 2002; Kaplan 1999; Kershenobich 1988; Lin 1996; Olsson 1995; Sainz 1992; Warnes 1987; Yurdakul 2001).

Selective reporting

Given that the included trials studied liver diseases and other softtissue conditions, we assessed whether they reported expected outcomes for colchicine treatment (such as death or adverse events, particularly diarrhoea or neuropathies). In summary, we assessed 14 out of 15 included trials as having a low risk of reporting bias (Bessissow 2018; Bodenheimer 1988; Buligescu 1989; Cortez-Pinto 2002; Kaplan 1986; Kaplan 1999; Kershenobich 1988; Lin 1996; Morgan 2005; Nikolaidis 2006; Olsson 1995; Wang 1994; Warnes 1987; Yurdakul 2001).

We assessed one trial as at high risk of bias due to missing data, as there was an absence of adverse event reporting (Sainz 1992).

Other potential sources of bias

We assessed one trial as at low risk of other bias (Morgan 2005). The main biases identified in this review were design and confusion biases due to inadequate sample size estimation and high attrition rates. Financial disclosure issues also raised concerns about potential conflicts of interest, but insufficient information prevented a definitive risk assessment.

Overall risk of bias

Given the considerations noted above, we assessed all trials but one, Morgan 2005, as at high risk of bias.



Effects of interventions

See: Summary of findings 1 Colchicine compared with placebo for the primary prevention of cardiovascular events in adults; Summary of findings 2 Colchicine compared with immunomodulating drugs for the primary prevention of cardiovascular events in adults; Summary of findings 3 Colchicine compared with usual care for the primary prevention of cardiovascular events in adults

1. Colchicine versus placebo

See Summary of findings 1.

Primary outcomes

All-cause mortality

Meta-analysis of six trials comparing colchicine versus placebo suggests that colchicine may reduce all-cause mortality in primary prevention, but the evidence is very uncertain (52/241 (21.6%) versus 69/222 (31.1%); RR 0.68, 95% CI 0.51 to 0.91; Tau² = 0.00; $I^2 = 0\%$; 6 studies, 463 participants; very low-certainty evidence; Analysis 1.1). The evidence is very uncertain due to limitations in design and execution and low number of events. The NNTB was 11 (95% CI 6 to 67), which means that colchicine treatment is estimated to benefit 1 in every 11 participants treated. However, the 95% CI (6 to 67) indicates substantial uncertainty in this estimate. The true effect could range from being highly effective (benefiting 1 in 6 participants) to marginally effective (benefiting 1 in 67 people), suggesting more research may be needed for a more precise estimate (Cortez-Pinto 2002; Kaplan 1986; Kershenobich 1988; Olsson 1995; Wang 1994; Warnes 1987).

Non-fatal MI

One trial comparing colchicine versus placebo suggests that colchicine may have little to no effect on non-fatal MI in primary prevention, but the evidence is very uncertain (10/49 (20.40%) versus 12/51 (23.52%); RR 0.87, 95% CI 0.41 to 1.82; Tau² = 1.09; 1 study, 100 participants; very low-certainty evidence; Analysis 1.2). The evidence is very uncertain due to limitations in design and execution and imprecision: small sample size regarding the optimal information size and very low number of events, the 95% CI is broad and includes no effect (RR = 1) (Bessissow 2018).

Stroke

The evidence from one trial comparing colchicine with placebo suggests that colchicine may not reduce the incidence of stroke in primary prevention, but the evidence is very uncertain (7/49 (14.3%) versus 3/51 (5.9%); RR 2.43, 95% CI 0.67 to 8.86; 1 study, 100 participants; very low-certainty evidence; Analysis 1.3). We downgraded the certainty of the evidence one level for risk of bias related to blinding of outcome assessment, and two levels for imprecision. The optimal information size of 200 was not met, and the total sample size of 100 represents only 50% of the required information size. The number of events is very small at 3.3% (10/300), and the 95% CI is wide and includes no benefit (RR = 1) (Bessissow 2018).

Adverse events

Gastrointestinal (diarrhoea)

Meta-analysis of eight trials comparing colchicine with placebo suggests that colchicine may increase the incidence of diarrhoea in primary prevention, but the evidence in very uncertain (57/309 (18.4%) versus 22/296 (7.4%); RR 3.99, 95% CI 1.44 to 11.06 ; Tau² = 0.94; I² = 51%; 8 studies, 605 participants; very low-certainty evidence; Analysis 1.4). We downgraded the certainty of the evidence two levels due to concerns with random sequence generation, allocation concealment, performance bias, detection bias, and attrition bias. We downgraded one level due to a low number of adverse events (79), and the 95% CI is wide despite excluding no benefit (RR = 1). The NNTH was 10 (95% CI 6 to 17), meaning that about 1 in every 10 people will be harmed by the treatment (Bessissow 2018; Bodenheimer 1988; Cortez-Pinto 2002; Kaplan 1986; Kershenobich 1988; Olsson 1995; Warnes 1987; Yurdakul 2001).

Neurological (seizure, mental confusion)

Meta-analysis of two trials comparing colchicine with placebo suggests that colchicine may have little to no effect on neurological outcomes such as seizure or mental confusion in primary prevention, but the evidence is very uncertain (8/79 (10.1%) versus 11/76 (14.5%); RR 0.72, 95% CI 0.31 to 1.66; Tau² = 0.0; I² = 0%; 2 studies, 155 participants; very low-certainty evidence; Analysis 1.4). We downgraded the certainty of the evidence one level for risk of bias due to inadequate allocation concealment, performance bias issues, detection bias issues, and potential attrition bias. We also downgraded two levels due to imprecision. The optimal information size was 1748, and the total sample size represents 8.86% (155/1748) of this optimal size. Given the low number of events (N = 20), the 95% CI is wide and includes the possibility of no benefit (RR = 1) (Cortez-Pinto 2002; Wang 1994).

Secondary outcomes

Cardiovascular mortality

Meta-analysis of two trials assessing colchicine versus placebo suggests that colchicine may have little to no effect on cardiovascular mortality in primary prevention, but the evidence is very uncertain (4/84 (4.76%) versus 2/76 (2.6%); RR 1.27, 95% CI 0.03 to 62.43; Tau² = 5.63; l² = 71%; 2 studies, 160 participants; very lowcertainty evidence; Analysis 1.5). We downgraded the certainty of the evidence a total of three levels due to risk of bias (concerns with selection, detection, and attrition bias), inconsistency (l² = 71%), and imprecision (small number of events and wide Cl). The optimal information size required for the trials was 2868. However, the total sample size of both trials only accounted for 5.57% (160/2868) of this size. Additionally, the number of events recorded was very low. Consequently, the 95% CI is quite broad and includes the possibility of no benefit (RR = 1) (Kaplan 1986; Kershenobich 1988).

Post-cardiac procedure AF

The evidence from one trial comparing colchicine to placebo suggests that colchicine may not reduce post-cardiac procedure AF in primary prevention, but the evidence is very uncertain (5/49 (10.2%) versus 7/51 (13.7%); RR 0.74, 95% CI 0.25 to 2.19; 1 study, 100 participants; very low-certainty evidence; Analysis 1.6). We downgraded the certainty of the evidence one level due to concerns with detection and attrition bias and two levels for imprecise results. The optimal information size for the study was 2696, but the total sample size only represents 3.7% of that (100/2696). Additionally, the number of events observed was very low (N = 12), resulting in a wide 95% CI that includes no benefit (RR = 1) (Bessissow 2018).



We acknowledge a limitation in our analyses: studies classified as primary prevention may include a small percentage of individuals with pre-existing cardiovascular disease.

No trials provided data about pericardial effusion, symptoms or intervention related to peripheral artery disease, heart failure, and unstable angina.

2. Colchicine versus immunomodulating drugs

See Summary of findings 2.

Primary outcomes

All-cause mortality

The evidence from one trial comparing colchicine with methotrexate (immunomodulating drug) suggests that colchicine may have little or no effect on all-cause mortality, but the evidence is very uncertain (3/43 (7%) versus 7/42 (16.7%); RR 0.42, 95% Cl 0.12 to 1.51; 1 study, 85 participants; very low-certainty evidence; Analysis 2.1). We downgraded the certainty of the evidence two levels for high risk of bias in several domains, including sequence generation, allocation concealment, blinding of outcome assessment, and incomplete outcome data, and downgraded further for imprecision. The optimal amount of information required was 348. However, the sample size only represents 24.42% (85/348) of the optimal information size. Furthermore, the number of events recorded is minimal. The 95% Cl is broad and encompasses no benefit (RR = 1) (Kaplan 1999).

No trials provided data about the following outcomes: non-fatal MI, stroke, and adverse events.

Secondary outcomes

No trials provided data about the following outcomes: cardiovascular mortality, post-cardiac procedure AF, pericardial effusion, symptoms or intervention related to peripheral artery disease, heart failure, and unstable angina.

3. Colchicine versus usual care

See Summary of findings 3.

Primary outcomes

All-cause mortality

The evidence for the effect of colchicine on all-cause mortality in primary prevention is very uncertain (141/374 (37.7%) versus 132/355 (37.2%); RR 1.07, 95% CI 0.90 to 1.27; Tau² = 0.00; I² = 0%; 2 studies, 729 participants; very low-certainty evidence; Analysis 3.1). We downgraded the certainty of the evidence due to limitations in design and execution (concerns across most domains) and two levels for imprecision (small number of events and wide CI). The ideal amount of information required was 294,174. The total sample size comprises only 0.24% (729/294,174) of the required amount. The number of occurrences is minimal. The 95% CI is broad and encompasses no advantages (RR = 1) (Buligescu 1989; Morgan 2005).

Adverse events

Gastrointestinal (diarrhoea)

Meta-analysis of two trials comparing colchicine with usual care or no intervention suggests that colchicine may increase the incidence

of diarrhoea, but the evidence is very uncertain (29/374 (7.75%) versus 8/355 (2.25%); RR 3.32, 95% CI 1.56 to 7.03; Tau² = 0.00; I² = 0%; 2 studies, 729 participants; very low-certainty evidence; Analysis 3.2). We downgraded the certainty of the evidence two levels due to limitations in design and execution (concerns across most domains) and one level for imprecision. The number of occurrences was very low (N = 37), and the 95% CI was wide. The NNTH was 18 (95% CI 12 to 42), which means that, on average, for every 18 people treated with colchicine instead of usual care, 1 additional adverse outcome might occur. The 95% CI suggests that the true NNTH could be as low as 12 or as high as 42 (Buligescu 1989; Morgan 2005).

No trials provided data about the following outcomes: non-fatal MI and stroke.

Secondary outcomes

No trials provided data about the following outcomes: cardiovascular mortality, post-cardiac procedure AF, pericardial effusion, symptoms or intervention related to peripheral artery disease, heart failure, and unstable angina.

DISCUSSION

Summary of main results

This comprehensive Cochrane review assesses the potential clinical advantages and drawbacks of using colchicine to prevent primary cardiovascular disease outcomes in the general population. We included 15 RCTs, collectively involving 1721 participants. The included studies compared the effects of colchicine against placebo, immunomodulating drugs (specifically methotrexate), and usual care.

Summary of the characteristics of included trials:

- Methods:
 - Most trials (80%) reported study duration, which averaged 4.04 years.
 - Follow-up varied, with an average of 223.86 weeks.
 - None of the trials were international.
 - 53.33% were single-centre studies, and 20% multicentre.
- Participants:
 - Liver diseases were the primary focus in 86.67% of trials.
 - The total number of randomised participants was 1721, while the total number of analysed participants was 1412.
 - The mean age of participants was 49.93 years.
 - The mean proportion of male participants was 57.04%.
 - Only a few trials provided details on participants' medical history.
- Interventions:
 - All trials administered colchicine orally, while doses varied (ranging from 0.5 mg to 2 mg).
 - The average duration of colchicine administration was 211.81 weeks.
 - Most trials (66.66%) compared colchicine with placebo.
- Outcomes:
 - Trials reported an average of 4.06 primary outcomes.
 - All-cause mortality was reported in 73.33% of trials.
 - The trials reported an average of 5.12 secondary outcomes.



- Notes:
 - Only one trial provided a registration number.
 - A predetermined sample size was present in 33.33% of trials.
 - No trials were identified as published in predatory journals.

Regarding the effect of the intervention, we show the following summary:

- Colchicine versus placebo: we performed four meta-analyses, three of which included few studies.
 - Primary outcomes:
 - All-cause mortality: six trials contributed to this analysis. The evidence is very uncertain due to limitations in design and execution (Analysis 1.1). The NNTB was 11 (95% CI 6 to 67), which means that colchicine treatment is estimated to benefit 1 in every 11 participants treated. However, the 95% CI (6 to 67) indicates substantial uncertainty in this estimate. The true effect could range from being highly effective (benefiting 1 in 6 participants) to marginally effective (benefiting 1 in 67 people), suggesting that more research may be needed for a more precise estimate.
 - Non-fatal MI: evidence from one trial is very uncertain due to limitations in design and execution (Analysis 1.2).
 - Stroke (Analysis 1.3): the evidence was derived from a single trial and is very uncertain due predominantly to limitations in design and execution.
 - Adverse events:
 - gastrointestinal (diarrhoea) (Analysis 1.4): eight trials contributed to this meta-analysis. The evidence is very uncertain due predominantly to design flaws across most trials. The NNTH was 10 (95% CI 6 to 17), which means that about 1 in every 10 people will be harmed by the treatment;
 - neurological (seizure, mental confusion) (Analysis 1.4): the evidence was based on two trials and is very uncertain due predominantly to limitations in design and execution.
 - Secondary outcomes:
 - Cardiovascular mortality: two trials were included. The evidence is very uncertain due predominantly to limitations in design and execution (Analysis 1.5).
 - Post-cardiac procedure AF: evidence from one trial is very uncertain due to limitations in design and execution (Analysis 1.6).
- Colchicine versus immunomodulating drugs:
 - All-cause mortality: one trial compared colchicine with methotrexate. The evidence is very uncertain due to limitations in design and execution (Analysis 2.1).
- Colchicine versus usual care:
 - All-cause mortality: evidence from two trials is very uncertain due to design limitations and imprecision (Analysis 3.1).
 - Adverse events: gastrointestinal (diarrhoea): four trials contributed data to this outcome. The evidence is very uncertain due to design flaws and imprecision (Analysis 3.2). The NNTH was 18 (95% CI 12 to 42), which means that, on average, for every 18 people treated with colchicine instead of usual care, 1 additional adverse outcome might occur. The 95% CI suggests that the true NNTH could be as low as 12 or as high as 42.

- The comparison of colchicine to placebo yielded most of our data, spanning four distinct meta-analyses. However, three of these meta-analyses contained only a few studies.
- The confidence level across all comparisons and outcomes remains very low, due largely to challenges in the trial designs and their execution, coupled with the non-specificity of the findings.
- We found no studies that compared colchicine with either NSAIDs or corticosteroids.

For details, see Summary of findings 1; Summary of findings 2; Summary of findings 3.

Overall completeness and applicability of evidence

This Cochrane review shows that when colchicine is compared with placebo, immunomodulating drugs, or standard care (or the absence of a specific comparison), it appears to offer negligible to no clinical advantages in the primary prevention of cardiovascular disease outcomes. However, this conclusion is limited by the very low certainty of the evidence, and therefore warrants cautious interpretation.

This discussion offers insights into the concerns about the indirectness of the trials concerning the primary review question. The section explains how the existing evidence base, while valuable, may not be directly aligned with evaluating colchicine for primary cardiovascular disease prevention.

Our systematic review found a pronounced discrepancy between the sample sizes utilised in the trials and the optimal information size required to empower the studies adequately. Across three comparison types - colchicine versus placebo, colchicine versus immunomodulating agents, and colchicine versus standard care or no comparator - we pinpointed 10 outcomes for which the certainty of evidence was downgraded by one or two levels due to imprecision. The downgrading stemmed from small sample sizes, sparse events, and wide CIs encompassing potential null effects. Notably, only 5 of 15 trials, a mere 33%, reported conducting sample size calculations a priori (Cortez-Pinto 2002; Kaplan 1986; Kaplan 1999; Morgan 2005; Wang 1994). This elicits two critical concerns: first, the lack of rigorous sample size considerations raises ethical questions (Gelfond 2011), as many trials may have inadequately balanced risks and benefits for participants. Second, it casts uncertainty on whether prespecified hypotheses were properly evaluated in numerous trials, amplifying the susceptibility to type I and II errors. The obvious lack of a priori sample size calculations from the analysed evidence is troubling and threatens the validity of the conclusions (Peduzzi 1988).

Since we included trials studying liver diseases and other softtissue conditions in this Cochrane review of colchicine for primary prevention of cardiovascular events, we focused on whether these trials reported their expected outcomes (such as death or adverse events, particularly diarrhoea or neuropathies). As these trials were not designed for cardiovascular outcomes, it is not surprising that 14 out of 15 included trials were rated as having low risk of reporting bias for their intended outcomes (Bessissow 2018; Bodenheimer 1988; Buligescu 1989; Cortez-Pinto 2002; Kaplan 1986; Kaplan 1999; Kershenobich 1988; Lin 1996; Morgan 2005; Nikolaidis 2006; Olsson 1995; Wang 1994; Warnes 1987; Yurdakul 2001). However, the absence of evidence regarding cardiovascular events in these trials does not mean evidence of absence of colchicine effects

Overview:



in primary cardiovascular prevention (Altman 1995). Therefore, studies specifically evaluating whether colchicine, when used in non-cardiovascular conditions, may offer benefits in primary prevention of cardiovascular events are needed. Atherosclerosis and other cardiovascular diseases are significantly influenced by inflammatory processes, suggesting that anti-inflammatory therapies could reduce cardiovascular events. While colchicine has traditionally been used for acute short-term treatment of gout flares and familial Mediterranean fever episodes, its application in cardiovascular disease requires long-term administration, as atherosclerosis in primary prevention needs sustained treatment to effectively reduce cardiovascular risk (Deftereos 2013; Deftereos 2022; Mohammadnia 2023).

1. Colchicine versus placebo

Trials comparing colchicine with placebo raise significant doubts about its efficacy for primary prevention of cardiovascular disease. However, due to the very low certainty of the evidence, these conclusions should be interpreted cautiously, considering the inherent design and execution limitations and suboptimal sample sizes. Such deficiencies are known to diminish the strength and dependability of systematic reviews and meta-analyses (loannidis 2005; loannidis 2008). The studies also exhibit biases in allocation and blinding, leading to further reservations (Savovic 2012). Hence, the real-world applicability of such evidence remains ambiguous. We acknowledge a limitation in our analyses: studies classified as primary prevention may include a small percentage of individuals with pre-existing cardiovascular disease.

2. Colchicine versus immunomodulating drugs

The sole study comparing colchicine with immunomodulating drugs, notably methotrexate, raises concerns regarding its all-cause mortality outcomes. Single studies, particularly those laden with biases, are often viewed cautiously, and there is a consensus on the need for more comprehensive research to solidify findings (loannidis 2005; loannidis 2008). The vast gap between the study's sample size and the desired optimal information size weakens the strength of the evidence. Determining the target difference for the primary outcome is crucial when calculating the sample size for an RCT. It is essential to provide a more robust rationale for the target difference and enhance its documentation (Cook 2015).

3. Colchicine versus usual care or no comparison

Trials comparing colchicine with standard care or without a defined comparator present a palpable level of uncertainty. This effect is primarily attributed to biases and data inaccuracies, typical shortcomings that erode the value of systematic reviews (Miller 2022). Given that the sample sizes fall significantly short of the ideal, the evidence's utility in guiding clinical decisions remains dubious.

In essence, we sought to spotlight the gap between actual and optimal sample sizes; elicit ethical concerns regarding participant risk-benefit balance; explain how this heightens error susceptibility; and underscore the alarming absence of a priori calculations, which could compromise the conclusions' credibility. The researchers from Difference ELicitation in TriAls (DELTA) have crafted a comprehensive set of guidelines that are a valuable addition and are likely to enhance the design and reporting of trials (Bell 2018). There has been a strong push to recognise the ethical importance of statistical standards, and 10 core principles have been proposed. These principles guide statistics' responsible and ethical application in clinical and translational studies (Gelfond 2011).

Primary prevention therapies that are deemed effective usually meet several key criteria: (1) they show efficacy in populations that are at a relatively low risk; (2) they ensure safety during long-term usage; (3) they prove to be cost-effective; and (4) they are easily accessible, often in the form of a daily oral pill (Samuel 2020). Colchicine appears to fit these criteria well. From an economic standpoint, low-dose colchicine has been recognised as a leading cost-saving approach for the secondary prevention of cardiovascular diseases (Samuel 2021). The findings of this Cochrane review emphasise the need for well-designed, adequately powered RCTs to conclusively determine the efficacy and harms of colchicine in primary prevention of cardiovascular events. However, we have not conducted a formal economic evaluation.

Regarding both NNTB and NNTH, we advise readers to exercise caution. These clinical measures are derived from meta-analyses that may include studies with varying follow-up periods. This variation is crucial for correct interpretation of the results.

Quality of the evidence

We conducted GRADE assessments on the outcomes from both meta-analyses and non-pooled trials. We assessed the evidence as of very low certainty. We based this conclusion on the small sample sizes (even after meta-analysis), which resulted in wide CIs with a low precision of the estimate for the intervention effects. Additionally, high risk of bias arose from inadequate randomisation methods, a lack of blinding, high attrition, and significant loss to follow-up. Our analysis revealed issues with randomisation and allocation concealment in many trials. Specifically, 60% (9 out of 15) had ambiguities in their random sequence generation, while 73.3% (11 out of 15) had unclear allocation concealment. As Martí-Carvajal 2018 has noted, these discrepancies can undermine the effectiveness of clinical research. Such issues inflate the intervention effect size estimates and increase inconsistency between trials that report subjectively assessed outcomes (Pereira 2011; Savovic 2012).

Given this evidence, we cannot draw any definitive conclusions, and readers should exercise caution when using it to inform decisions or policies. Conducting more rigorous and relevant studies would improve the certainty of the evidence. Such studies should address existing uncertainties and provide more precise and consistent estimates of intervention or phenomenon effects (Santesso 2020; Schünemann 2019a).

In this review, we did not assess the impact of missing data on the intervention effect using best-worst- and worst-best-case scenarios, and Gamble-Hollis analysis. Please refer to Summary of findings 1, Summary of findings 2, and Summary of findings 3 for a comprehensive assessment and the rationale behind our ratings.

Potential biases in the review process

Our comprehensive Cochrane review analysed 15 RCTs. However, despite their number, these RCTs addressed only a subset of the clinically relevant outcomes (Summary of findings 1; Summary of findings 2; Summary of findings 3). This indicates that specific outcomes of potential interest or relevance might not have been



covered. The certainty of the evidence for several of these outcomes was categorised as 'very low' based on the GRADE approach, raising concerns about the reliability of the evidence (Summary of findings 1; Summary of findings 2; Summary of findings 3).

Cochrane

A pivotal limitation emerged: none of the RCTs directly evaluated colchicine for the primary prevention of core cardiovascular events, the central focus of our review. This means that the included trials left our primary research question unanswered. In the face of these gaps, we synthesised the best available data from various endpoints. While this approach is a testament to our commitment to making the most of available data, it is crucial to understand that indirect evidence might not carry the same weight as direct evidence.

Our review underscores a fundamental principle in scientific research: the difference between 'absence of evidence' and 'evidence of absence'. It is imperative not to interpret the lack of direct evidence as an indication that an intervention is ineffective (Altman 1995).

Publication bias poses a grave threat that can undermine research literature (Howland 2011). Researchers widely recognise that publication bias and outcome reporting bias distort drug efficacy and harms. These biases exaggerate benefits and understate risks. The aim is to enable unbiased analysis and derive undistorted efficacy and safety conclusions. However, most trial data remain unpublished, indicating extensive, persistent publication bias (Howland 2011). In this review, we cannot reliably judge the presence or absence of publication bias without comprehensive data. Robust methodology mandates at least 10 RCTs per outcome to gauge publication bias, but fewer commonly exist. Thus, publication bias degrades the evidence base and should be spotlighted as a top priority for reform through proactive transparency initiatives and policies (Dwan 2013; Ioannidis 2010; Thornton 2000).

In closing, our Cochrane review exemplifies rigorous methodology and steadfast commitment to evidence-based principles despite inherent constraints within the available literature. We uncompromisingly optimised the data synthesis to derive maximally meaningful clinical inferences guiding physicians. Our frank acknowledgement of limitations demonstrates dedication to transparency alongside tireless efforts to offer the current best evidence. Manifesting the Cochrane spirit, we challenged assumptions through exhaustive critical appraisal. Our review incisively illuminates the realities of suboptimal evidence while foiling biases threatening meaningful analysis. With rigour yet thoughtful nuance, our review synthesises the highest attainable level of evidence. We present clinicians with the most valid and insightful conclusions achievable from the present data. Through fortitude and unwavering scientific integrity, our review overcomes limitations to stand as an authoritative reference for optimising clinical practice and patient care.

Agreements and disagreements with other studies or reviews

A 2016 Cochrane review by Hemkens 2016 synthesised 39 RCTs with 4992 participants comparing colchicine treatment for at least six months versus control. The review concluded that the benefits and harms of colchicine treatment remained highly uncertain, particularly for cardiovascular outcomes in primary prevention.

The authors found no conclusive evidence that colchicine provided substantial benefits for reducing MI, even in high-risk groups. The review linked colchicine to gastrointestinal side effects, but this evidence was of low quality.

It is important to note that the Hemkens review did not include the more recent COLCOT (Tardif 2019) and LoDoCo2 (Nidorf 2020) trials, which provided evidence on the potential benefits of colchicine in secondary prevention of cardiovascular events. However, as our current review focuses specifically on the use of colchicine in primary prevention, the findings from the COLCOT and LoDoCo2 trials are not directly applicable to our scope.

The Hemkens review authors called for well-designed, large-scale RCTs enrolling participants with elevated cardiovascular risk to determine any benefits versus harms of colchicine definitively. Despite differences in trial design, follow-up duration, inclusion criteria, and objectives between the Hemkens review and our current review, the results are similar for primary prevention outcomes.

Our review aims to provide an updated assessment of the benefits and harms of colchicine in primary prevention of cardiovascular events, taking into account the available evidence from RCTs focusing on this specific population.

Shah and colleagues conducted a study to investigate the use of colchicine in male gout participants and its potential link to the development of coronary artery disease (CAD). This topic holds significance because of established connections between inflammation, gout, and CAD. Although retrospective studies come with their own challenges, they can offer valuable preliminary data for subsequent research. The research team employed a Cox proportional hazards model to address potential biases and confounding factors. However, it should be noted that by excluding female patients, Shah and colleagues might have limited the generalisability of the findings. Focusing solely on a single veterans' affairs (VA) health system might render the results less relevant to non-US veterans. The study had a relatively small sample size, which could account for the non-significant trends observed. Nevertheless, Shah and colleagues identified a trend towards reduced CAD with colchicine use, a promising observation. They also found a notable association between colchicine and lower CAD rates in individuals without chronic kidney disease, suggesting a possible interaction between renal status and the effects of colchicine. Shah and colleagues transparently and appropriately concluded that more comprehensive prospective research is needed. Future research would benefit from considering potential confounders like other medications, lifestyle choices, and comorbidities; investigating adverse events; and delving into the effects of varying colchicine dosages and durations. In conclusion, while the findings are intriguing, one must approach them cautiously due to the study's limitations. Shah and colleagues recommend more research, ideally encompassing female gout patients and a wider range of non-VA populations (Shah 2020).

The evidence presented in the study by Shah and colleagues includes weaknesses that stem from the inherent limitations of the research design and methods employed. The retrospective cohort structure relies on data not initially meant for research purposes, making it prone to bias and confounding that cannot be fully accounted for. Moreover, excluding female participants undermines the study's ability to make broadly generalisable



claims, as the findings may not extend to the entire population of interest. While retrospective analyses have value in generating hypotheses and preliminary observations, their constructed evidence should be interpreted cautiously. More robust research frameworks incorporating diverse perspectives and mitigating systematic biases would provide firmer evidential foundations for advancing knowledge and practice. Ultimately, thoughtful critique of research structure and composition is vital to properly contextualise the constructed evidence and determine the most appropriate applications of the findings.

AUTHORS' CONCLUSIONS

Implications for practice

This Cochrane review evaluated the clinical benefits and harms of using colchicine for the primary prevention of cardiovascular events in the general population. Comparisons were made against placebo, immunomodulating medications, or usual care or no intervention. However, the certainty of evidence for the predefined outcomes was very low, highlighting the pressing need for highquality, rigorous studies to ascertain colchicine's clinical impact definitively. We identified numerous biases and inaccuracies in the included studies, limiting their generalisability and precluding a conclusive determination of colchicine's efficacy in preventing cardiovascular events. The existing evidence is inconclusive regarding colchicine's potential cardiovascular benefits or harms for primary prevention, given the limitations in the current studies. It is crucial for the research community to conduct more robust clinical trials to bridge this evidence gap effectively.

Implications for research

While colchicine, a long-established medication, is acknowledged for its anti-inflammatory properties, its role in the primary prevention of cardiovascular diseases remains unknown. This warrants further elucidation through bespoke clinical trials. A core challenge for this Cochrane review was the divergence between the incorporated studies' primary outcomes and our analysis's goal, that is delineating colchicine's efficacy in cardiovascular disease prevention. Most trials did not focus on cardiovascular outcomes, preventing any clear-cut conclusions. There is a need for trials that focus on colchicine's effects on cardiovascular outcomes. Broadening the review to include secondary or subgroup analyses from more extensive trials might yield richer insights. Future research should focus on elucidating the mechanisms underlying colchicine's anti-inflammatory effects in the context of atherosclerosis (Buckley 2024).

This review accentuates the pressing imperative for forward-looking studies that directly probe colchicine's promise in forestalling cardiovascular diseases.

To bolster the robustness of outcomes, trials should adhere to a universally agreed set of core outcomes, thereby reducing outcome reporting bias (Clarke 2007). Committing to wellestablished standards, encompassed in the Standard Protocol Items: Recommendations for Interventional Trials (SPIRIT) (Chan 2013a; Chan 2013b) and CONSORT statements, will uplift the quality of intervention and adverse event documentation. Crafting future trials harmoniously with the guidelines proposed by the Foundation of Patient-Centered Outcomes Research is indispensable (Parry 2021). Adopting these practices is crucial to impeding the proliferation of mediocre biomedical research (Chalmers 2009; Ioannidis 2014).

In 2015, Roberts and colleagues cast a discerning spotlight on the shortcomings ingrained in the healthcare knowledge apparatus, emphasising the rampant biases and the deluge of inferior trials in the medical literature (Roberts 2015). Our review stands as a testament to this assertion.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

Editorial and peer-reviewer contributions

Cochrane Heart supported the authors in the development of this review.

The following people conducted the editorial process for this article:

- Sign-off Editor (final editorial decision): Rui Providencia, Barts Heart Centre, St Bartholomew's Hospital, Barts Health NHS Trust, London, UK;
- Managing Editor (selected peer reviewers, provided editorial guidance to authors, edited the article): Luisa Fernandez Mauleffinch, Cochrane Central Editorial Service;
- Editorial Assistant (conducted editorial policy checks, collated peer-reviewer comments, and supported the editorial team): Sara Hales-Brittain, Cochrane Central Editorial Service;
- Copy Editor (copy editing and production): Lisa Winer, Cochrane Central Production Service;
- Peer reviewers (provided comments and recommended an editorial decision): Aristeidis Katsanos, McMaster University & Population Health Research Institute, Hamilton, ON, Canada (clinical/content review); Daniel Jesús García Martinez, Francisco de Vitoria University (consumer review); Jen Hilgart, Cochrane Evidence Production and Methods Directorate (methods review); Jo Platt, Central Editorial Information Specialist (search review); and Tjerk SJ Opstal, MD, PhD, Department of Cardiology, Radboud University Medical Center, Nijmegen, the Netherlands (clinical/content review).

This review was supported by the UK National Institute for Health and Care Research (NIHR) via Cochrane Infrastructure funding to the Cochrane Heart Group until 31 March 2023. The views expressed are those of the author(s) and not necessarily those of the NIHR or the Department of Health and Social Care.

REFERENCES

References to studies included in this review

Bessissow 2018 {published data only}

Agzarian J, Bessissow A, Srinathan S, Devereaux PJ, Neary J, Decher W, et al. The effect of colchicine administration on postoperative pleural effusion following lung resection: a randomized blinded placebo-controlled feasibility pilot study. *European Journal of Cardio-Thoracic Surgery* 2018;**54**(3):822-7. [PMID: 29186389]

* Bessissow A, Agzarian J, Shargall Y, Srinathan S, Neary J, Tandon V, et al. Colchicine for prevention of perioperative atrial fibrillation in patients undergoing lung resection surgery: a pilot randomized controlled study. *European Journal of Cardio-Thoracic Surgery* 2018;**53**(5):945-51. [PMID: 29237033]

Bodenheimer 1988 {published data only}

Bodenheimer H, Schaffner F, Pezzullo J. A randomized doubleblind controlled trial of colchicine in primary biliary cirrhosis. *Hepatology* 1985;**5**(5):968.

Bodenheimer H, Schaffner F, Pezzullo J. Colchicine therapy in primary biliary cirrhosis. *Hepatology* 1986;**6**(5):1172.

* Bodenheimer HJr, Schaffner F, Pezzullo J. Evaluation of colchicine therapy in primary biliary cirrhosis. *Gastroenterology* 1988;**95**(1):124-9. [PMID: 3286360]

Buligescu 1989 {published data only}

Buligescu L, Voiculescu M. Randomized controlled clinical trial of colchicine in the long term treatment of liver cirrhosis. *Journal of Hepatology* 1989;**9**(Suppl 1):S12.

Cortez-Pinto 2002 {published data only}

Cortez Pinto H, Alexandrino P, Camilo ME, Couveia-Oliveira A, Santos PM, Alves MM, et al. Lack of effect of Colchicine in alcoholic cirrhosis: final results of a double-blind randomized trial. *Hepatology* 2000;**32**(4 (Pt 2)):423A.

Cortez Pinto H, Serejo F, Camilo ME, Alexandrino P, Santos PM, Alves MM, et al. Colchicine in alcoholic cirrhosis - preliminary results of a double-blind randomized trial. *Gut* 1994;**35**(Suppl 4):A20.

* Cortez-Pinto H, Alexandrino P, Camilo ME, Gouveia-Oliveira A, Santos PM, Alves MM, et al. Lack of effect of colchicine in alcoholic cirrhosis: final results of a double blind randomized trial. *European Journal of Gastroenterology and Hepatology* 2002;**14**(4):377-81. [PMID: 11943949]

Kaplan 1986 {published data only}

Kaplan MM, Alling DW, Wolfe HJ, Zimmerman HJ. Colchicine is effective in the treatment of primary biliary cirrhosis. *Hepatology* 1985;**5**(5):967. [PMID: 3537784]

Kaplan MM, Alling DW, Zimmerman HJ, Wolfe HJ, Sepersky RA, Hirsch GE, et al. A prospective trial of colchicine for primary biliary cirrhosis. (ABSTRACT). *Acta Gastroenterologica Belgica* 1987;**50**(3):382. * Kaplan MM, Alling DW, Zimmerman HJ, Wolfe HJ, Sepersky RA, Hirsch GS, et al. A prospective trial of colchicine for primary biliary cirrhosis. *New England Journal of Medicine* 1986;**315**(23):1448-54. [PMID: 3537784]

Kaplan 1999 {published data only}

Kaplan MM, Schmid C, Provenzale D, Sharma A, Dickstein G, McKusick A. A prospective trial of colchicine and methotrexate in the treatment of primary biliary cirrhosis. *Gastroenterology* 1999;**117**(5):1173-80. [PMID: 10535881]

Kershenobich 1988 {published data only}

Kershenobich D, Uribe M, Suarez GI, Mata JM, Perez-Tamayo R, Rojkind M. Treatment of cirrhosis with colchicine. A doubleblind randomized trial. *Gastroenterology* 1979;**77**(3):532-6. [PMID: 378754]

Kershenobich D, Uribe M, Suarez GI, Rojkind M. Treatment of cirrhosis with colchicine: a randomized trial. *Gastroenterology* 1976;**70**(5):A128/986.

* Kershenobich D, Vargas F, Garcia-Tsao G, Perez Tamayo R, Gent M, Rojkind M. Colchicine in the treatment of cirrhosis of the liver. *New England Journal of Medicine* 1988;**318**(26):1709-13. [PMID: 3287167]

Rojkind M, Uribe M, Kershenobich D. Colchicine and the treatment of liver cirrhosis. *Lancet* 1973;**1**(7793):38-9. [PMID: 4118556]

Lin 1996 {*published data only*}

Lin DY, Sheen IS, Chu CM, Liaw YF. A prospective randomized trial of colchicine in prevention of liver cirrhosis in chronic hepatitis B patients. *Alimentary Pharmacology and Therapeutics* 1996;**10**(6):961-6. [DOI: 10.1046/j.1365-2036.1996.98270000.x] [PMID: 8971295]

Morgan 2005 {published data only}

Morgan TR, Weiss DG, Nemchausky B, Schiff ER, Anand B, Simon F, et al. Colchicine treatment of alcoholic cirrhosis: a randomized, placebo-controlled clinical trial of patient survival. *Gastroenterology* 2005;**128**(4):882-90. [PMID: 15825072]

Nikolaidis 2006 {published data only}

Nikolaidis N, Kountouras J, Giouleme O, Tzarou V, Chatzizisi O, Patsiaoura K, et al. Colchicine treatment of liver fibrosis. *Hepato-Gastroenterology* 2006;**53**(68):281-5. [PMID: 16608040]

Olsson 1995 {published data only}

Olsson R, Broomé U, Danielsson A, Hägerstrand I, Järnerot G, Lööf L, et al. Colchicine treatment of primary sclerosing cholangitis. *Gastroenterology* 1995;**108**(4):1199-203. [PMID: 7698589]

Sainz 1992 {*published data only*}

Sainz S, Guarner C, Villanueva C, Ordonez J, Sancho FJ, Enriquez J. Colchicine treatment in alcoholic liver disease. A controlled and randomized study. *Journal of Hepatology* 1992;**16**(Suppl 1):S64.



* Sáinz S, Guarner C, Villanueva C, Ordóñez J, Sancho F J, Enríquez J. Colchicine in the treatment of the alcoholic liver disease. Controlled and randomized study [Colchicina en el tratamiento de la hepatopatía alcoholica. Estudio controlado y randomizado]. In: Gastroenterología y Hepatología. Vol. 15. 1992:218-9.

Wang 1994 {published data only}

Wang YJ, Lee SD, Hsieh MC, Lin HC, Lee FY, Tsay SH, et al. A double-blind randomized controlled trial of colchicine in patients with hepatitis B virus-related postnecrotic cirrhosis. *Journal of Hepatology* 1994;**21**(5):872-7. [PMID: 7890905]

Warnes 1987 {published data only}

Warnes TW, Smith A, Lee F, Haboubi NY, Johnson PJ, Hunt L. A controlled trial of colchicine in primary biliary cirrhosis. *Hepatology (Baltimore, Md.)* 1984;**4**(5):1022.

* Warnes TW, Smith A, Lee FI, Haboubi NY, Johnson PJ, Hunt L. A controlled trial of colchicine in primary biliary cirrhosis. Trial design and preliminary report. *Journal of Hepatology* 1987;**5**(1):1-7. [PMID: 3655305]

Yurdakul 2001 {published data only}

Yurdakul S, Mat C, Tuzun Y, Ozyazgan Y, Hamuryudan V, Uysal O, et al. A double-blind trial of colchicine in Behcet's syndrome. *Arthritis and Rheumatism* 2001;**44**(11):2686-92. [PMID: 11710724]

References to studies excluded from this review

Agzarian 2018 {published data only}

Agzarian J, Bessissow A, Srinathan S, Devereaux PJ, Neary J, Decher W, et al. The effect of colchicine administration on postoperative pleural effusion following lung resection: a randomized blinded placebo-controlled feasibility pilot study. *European Journal of Cardio-Thoracic Surgery* 2018;**3**(4):822-7. [PMID: 29186389]

Ahern 1987 {published data only}

Ahern MJ, Reid C, Gordon TP, McCredie M, Brooks PM, Jones M. Does colchicine work? The results of the first controlled study in acute gout. *Australian and New Zealand Journal of Medicine* 1987;**17**(3):301-4. [PMID: 3314832]

Ahmadieh 2015 {published data only}

Ahmadieh H, Nourinia R, Ragati HA, Ramezani A, Entezari M, Rahmani G, et al. Oral colchicine for prevention of proliferative vitreoretinopathy: a randomized clinical trial. *Acta Ophthalmologica* 2015;**93**(2):e171-2. [PMID: 24754839]

Aisen 2001 {published data only}

Aisen PS, Marin DB, Brickman AM, Santoro J, Fusco M. Pilot tolerability studies of hydroxychloroquine and colchicine in Alzheimer disease. *Alzheimer Disease and Associated Disorders* 2001;**15**(2):96-101. [PMID: 11403336]

Akriviadis 1990 {published data only}

Akriviadis E, Steindel H, Pinto P, Fong TL, Kanel G, Reynolds TB, et al. Failure of colchicine to improve short term survival

in patients with severe alcoholic hepatitis. *Hepatology* 1988;**8**(5):1239.

* Akriviadis EA, Steindel H, Pinto PC, Fong TL, Kanel G, Reynolds TB, et al. Failure of colchicine to improve short-term survival in patients with alcoholic hepatitis. *Gastroenterology* 1990;**99**(3):811-8. [PMID: 2199290]

Aktulga 1980 {published data only}

Aktulga E, Altac M, Muftuoglu A, Ozyazgan Y, Pazarli H, Tuzun Y, Yalcin B, Yazici H, Yurdakul S. A double blind study of colchicine in Behcet's disease. *Haematologica* 1980;**65**(3):399-402. [PMID: 6778795]

Amirpour 2016 {published data only}

Amirpour A, Mousavi MA, Abolghasemi R, Taziki O, Khoddami Vishteh HR. The effect of colchicine in improving the symptoms of patients with knee osteoarthritis. *Journal of Babol University of Medical Sciences* 2016;**18**(11):7-13. [DOI: 10.22088/ jbums.18.11.7]

Basak 1993 {published data only}

Basak P, Chatterjee A. Oral cochicine in chronic plaque psoriasis. *Indian Journal of Dermatology, Venerology and Leprology* 1993;**59**(4):168-171.

Borstad 2004 {published data only}

Borstad GC, Bryant LR, Abel MP, Scroggie DA, Harris MD, Alloway JA. Colchicine for prophylaxis of acute flares when initiating allopurinol for chronic gouty arthritis. *Journal of Rheumatology* 2004;**31**(12):2429-32. [PMID: 15570646]

Da Cunha 2006 {published data only}

da Cunha Stamato FJ, de Barros Maciel RM, Mansom PG, Borri Wolosker AM, Rodrigues de Paiva E, Lopes AC, et al. Colchicine in the treatment of the inflammatory phase of Graves' ophthalmopathy: a prospective and randomized trial with prednisone. *Arquivos Brasileiros de Oftalmologia* 2006;**69**(6):811-6. [PMID: 17273672]

Das 2002 {published data only}

Das SK, Ramakrishnan S, Mishra K, Srivastava R, Agarwal GG, Singh R, et al. A randomized controlled trial to evaluate the slow-acting symptom-modifying effects of colchicine in osteoarthritis of the knee: a preliminary report. *Arthritis and Rheumatism* 2002;**47**(3):280-4. [PMID: 12115158]

Davis 2021 {published data only}

Davis C, Ruediger C, Dyer K, Lester S, Graf S, Kroon F, et al. Colchicine is not effective for reducing osteoarthritic hand pain compared to placebo: a randomised, placebocontrolled trial (COLAH). *Internal Medicine Journal* 2020;**50**(SUPPL 2):30.

Davis C, Ruediger C, Dyer K, Lester S, Graf S, Kroon FPB, et al. Colchicine is not effective for reducing osteoarthritic hand pain compared to placebo: a randomised, placebo-controlled trial (COLAH). *Annals of the Rheumatic Diseases* 2020;**79**(SUPPL 1):797-8.

Davis C, Ruediger C, Dyer K, Lester S, Graf S, Kroon FPB, et al. Colchicine is not effective for reducing osteoarthritic hand pain

compared to placebo: a randomised, placebo-controlled trial (COLAH). *Annals of the Rheumatic Diseases* 2020;**79**:793-4.

* Davis CR, Ruediger CD, Dyer KA, Lester S, Graf SW, Kroon FPB, et al. Colchicine is not effective for reducing osteoarthritic hand pain compared to placebo: a randomised, placebo-controlled trial (COLAH). *Osteoarthritis and Cartilage* 2021;**29**(2):208-14. [PMID: 33232804]

Deftereos 2013 {published data only}

Deftereos S, Giannopoulos G, Raisakis K, Kossyvakis C, Kaoukis A, Panagopoulou V, et al. Colchicine treatment for the prevention of bare-metal stent restenosis in diabetic patients. *Journal of the American College of Cardiology* 2013;**61**(16):1679-85. [PMID: 23500260]

Døssing 2023 {published data only}

Døssing A, Henriksen M, Ellegaard K, Nielsen SM, Stamp LK, Müller FC, et al. Colchicine twice a day for hand osteoarthritis (COLOR): a double-blind, randomised, placebo-controlled trial. *Lancet Rheumatology* 2023;**5**(5):e254-e262. [DOI: 10.1016/ S2665-9913(23)00065-6]

Ediz 2012 {published data only}

Ediz L, Tekeoglu I. Symptom modifying effect of colchicine in patients with knee osteoarthritis. *Journal of Clinical and Analytical Medicine* 2012;**3**(1):63-7.

Fish 1997 {published data only}

Fish JE, Peters SP, Chambers CV, McGeady SJ, Epstein KR, Boushey HA, et al. An evaluation of colchicine as an alternative to inhaled corticosteriods in moderate asthma. National Heart, Lung, and Blood Institute's Asthma Clinical Research Network. *American Journal of Respiratory and Critical Care Medicine* 1997;**156**(4 Pt 1):1165-71. [PMID: 9351617]

Grimaitre 2000 {published data only}

Grimaitre M, Etienne A, Fathi M, Piletta PA, Saurat JH. Topical colchicine therapy for actinic keratoses. *Dermatology* 2000;**200**(4):346-8. [PMID: 10894974]

Hays 2021 {published data only}

Hays AG, Schar M, Barditch-Crovo P, Bagchi S, Bonanno G, Meyer J, et al. A randomized, placebo-controlled, doubleblinded clinical trial of colchicine to improve vascular health in people living with HIV. *AIDS* 2021;**35**(7):1041-50. [PMID: 33587443]

Korkerdsup 2022 {published data only}

Korkerdsup T, Phuphuakrat A, Sungkanuparph S, Meemook K. Efficacy and safety of low dose colchicine on surrogate markers of cardiovascular events in people living with HIV receiving antiretroviral therapy. *Journal of the American College of Cardiology* 2022;**79**(9):1631. [DOI: 10.1016/ S0735-1097(22)02622-5]

Lenior 2001 {published data only}

Lenior G, Sernet-Gaudelus I, Laurans M, Descamps-Latschka B, Scherrmann JM, Duhamel JF, et al. Effect of colchicine in cystic fibrosis patients. Result of a Phase 2 therapeutical trial. 24th European Cystic Fibrosis Conference 2001;**June 6-9**:WS3.

Leung 2018 {published data only}

* Leung YY, Haaland B, Huebner JL, Wong SBS, Tjai M, Wang C, et al. Colchicine lack of effectiveness in symptom and inflammation modification in knee osteoarthritis (COLKOA): a randomized controlled trial. *Osteoarthritis and Cartilage* 2018;**26**(5):631-40. [PMID: 29426008]

Leung YY, Thumboo J, Wong BS, Haaland B, Chowbay B, Chakraborty B, et al. Colchicine effectiveness in symptom and inflammation modification in knee osteoarthritis (COLKOA): study protocol for a randomized controlled trial. *Trials* 2015;**16**:200. [PMID: 25925674]

Leung YY, Thumboo J, Wong SB, Haaland B, Huebner JL, Chowbay B, et al. Colchicine effectiveness in symptom and inflammation modification in knee osteoarthritis (COLKOA): a randomized controlled trial. *Osteoarthritis and Cartilage* 2017;**25**:S172-S3.

Levine 2022 {published data only}

Levine JA, Sarrafan-Chaharsoughi Z, Patel TP, Brady SM, Chivukula KK, Miller E, et al. Effects of colchicine on lipolysis and adipose tissue inflammation in adults with obesity and metabolic syndrome. *Obesity* 2022;**30**(2):358-68. [PMID: 34978374]

Meek 1990 {published data only}

Meek JB, Giudice VW, McFadden JW, Key Jr JD, Enrick NL. Colchicine confirmed as highly effective in disk disorders: Final results of an F.D.A.-approved double-blind study (FDA IND Number 21,807). *Journal of Neurological and Orthopaedic Medicine and Surgery* 1990;**11**(4):305-12. [ISSN: 0890-6599]

Meurin 2015 {published data only}

Meurin P, Lelay-Kubas S, Pierre B, Pereira H, Pavy B, Iliou MC, et al. Colchicine for postoperative pericardial effusion: a multicentre, double-blind, randomised controlled trial. *Heart* 2015;**101**(21):1711–6. [PMID: 26076938]

Safarinejad 2004 {published data only}

Safarinejad MR. Therapeutic effects of colchicine in the management of Peyronie's disease: a randomized double-blind, placebo-controlled study. *International Journal of Impotence Research* 2004;**16**(3):238-43. [PMID: 14973528]

Samuels 2020 {published data only}

NCT03913442. Colchicine for the Treatment of Osteoarthritis of the Knee (CLOAK). https://clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/show/ NCT03913442. [CLINICALTRIALS.GOV IDENTIFIER: NCT03913442]

Patil A, Bomfim F, Toprover M, Ohana S, Catron S, Uddin Z, et al. Colchicine for treatment of osteoarthritis of the knee (CLOAK) - a double-blind, placebo-controlled trial. *Osteoarthritis and Cartilage* 2022;**30**:S208-S9.

Samuels J, Bomfim F, Toprover M, Cohen R, Davis C, Krasnokutsky-Samuels S, et al. Colchicine for treatment of osteoarthritis of the knee (CLOAK) - a phase 2, doubleblind, placebo-controlled trial. Osteoarthritis and Cartilage 2020;**28**(Abstract # 748):S498.



Schnebel 1988 {published data only}

Schnebel BE, Simmons JW. The use of oral colchicine for lowback pain. A double-blind study. *Spine* 1988;**13**(3):354-7. [PMID: 2968669]

Simmons 1990 {published data only}

Simmons JW, Harris WP, Koulisis CW, Kimmich SJ. Intravenous colchicine for low-back pain: a double-blind study. *Spine* 1990;**15**(7):716-7. [PMID: 2145645]

Taghavi 2010 {published data only}

Taghavi SA, Shabani S, Mehramiri A, Eshraghian A, Kazemi SMH, Moeini M, et al. Colchicine is effective for short-term treatment of slow transit constipation: a double-blind placebo-controlled clinical trial. *International Journal of Colorectal Disease* 2010;**25**(3):389-94. [PMID: 19705134]

Trinchet 1989 {published data only}

Trinchet JC, Beaugrand M, Callard P, Hartmann DJ, Gotheil C, Nusgens BV, et al. Treatment of alcoholic hepatitis with colchicine. Results of a randomized double blind trial. *Gastroenterologie Clinique et Biologique* 1989;**13**(6-7):551-5. [PMID: 2753302]

Wuttiputhanun 2022 {published data only}

Wuttiputhanun T, Phannajit J, Susantitaphong P, Eiam-Ong S, Katavetin P. Effects of colchicine on renal fibrosis marker in patients with CKD. In: Journal of the American Society of Nephrology. Vol. 33. 2022:850. [DOI: 10.1681/asn.2020111638] [EMBASE: L639544506]

References to studies awaiting assessment

Conen 2023 {published data only}

Conen D, Ke Wang M, Popova E, Chan MTV, Landoni G, Cata JP, et al, COP-AF Investigators. Effect of colchicine on perioperative atrial fibrillation and myocardial injury after non-cardiac surgery in patients undergoing major thoracic surgery (COP-AF): an international randomised trial. *Lancet* 2023;**402**(10413):1627-35. [DOI: 10.1016/ S0140-6736(23)01689-6]

Eikelboom 2022 {published data only}

Eikelboom JW, Jolly SS, Belley-Cote EP, Whitlock RP, Rangarajan S, Xu L, et al. Colchicine and aspirin in community patients with COVID-19 (ACT): an open-label, factorial, randomised, controlled trial. *Lancet. Respiratory Medicine* 2022;**10**(12):1160-8. [DOI: 10.1016/S2213-2600(22)00299-5]

Parise 1995 {published data only}

Parise ER, Chehter L, Nogueira MD, Leite-Mór MMB, Neves JRL, Ciuffardi G, et al. Colchicine in chronic liver disease of alcoholic etiology. Double-blind, randomized study of its effects on blood levels of plasma proteins and clinical course in patients [Colchicina na doença hepática crônica de etiologia alcoólica. Estudo duplo-cego, randomizado, de seus efeitos sobre os níveis séricos das proteínas plasmáticas e evolução clínica dos pacientes]. *Revista da Associação Médica Brasileira* 1995;**41**(3):207-12. [LILACS: lil-156298] [PMID: 8574231]

Reinhardt 1986 {published data only}

Reinhardt M, Jorke D, Jahn G. Treatment of fibrotic liver diseases with colchicine - Results of a double blind trial. *Deutsche Zeitschrift für Verdauungs- und Stoffwechselkrankheiten* 1986;**46**(5):257-75. [PMID: 3542496]

References to ongoing studies

EUCTR2018-002114-13 {published data only}

EUCTR2018-002114-13. Efficacy of colchicine to prevent skin relapses in adult's IgA vasculitis. https:// www.clinicaltrialsregister.eu/ctr-search/trial/2018-002114-13/ FR (first posted 26 March 2019).

IRCT138808062641N1 {published data only}

IRCT138808062641N1. The effectiveness of 1 mg/day colchicine in the treatment of patients with ocular involvement in Behcet's Disease. https://irct.behdasht.gov.ir/trial/2453.

NCT02442921 {published data only}

NCT02442921. Colchicine for diabetic nephropathy trial (CDNT) [The effect of colchicine treatment on the progression of proteinuria in patients with diabetic nephropathy]. https:// clinicaltrials.gov/study/NCT02442921 (first posted 13 May 2015).

NCT03693781 {published data only}

EudraCT 2017-004459-21. Colchicine for amyotrophic lateral sclerosis: a phase II, randomized, double blind, placebo controlled, multicenter clinical trial. https:// www.clinicaltrialsregister.eu/ctr-search/search? query=Colchicine+for+amyotrophic+lateral+sclerosis+%28Co-ALS%29 (first posted 7 November 2018).

Mandrioli J, Crippa V, Cereda C, Bonetto V, Zucchi E, Gessani A, et al. Proteostasis and ALS: protocol for a phase II, randomised, double-blind, placebo-controlled, multicentre clinical trial for colchicine in ALS (Co-ALS). *BMJ Open* 2019;**9**(5):e028486. [PMID: 31152038]

* NCT03693781. Colchicine for amyotrophic lateral sclerosis (Co-ALS) [Colchicine for amyotrophic lateral sclerosis: a phase II, randomized, double blind, placebo controlled, multicenter clinical trial]. https://clinicaltrials.gov/study/NCT03693781 (first posted 3 October 2018).

NCT04160117 {published data only}

NCT04160117. Impact of short-course colchicine versus placebo after pulmonary vein isolation (IMPROVE-PVI Pilot) [Impact of short-course colchicine versus placebo after pulmonary vein isolation (IMPROVE-PVI): a pilot study]. https://clinicaltrials.gov/ study/NCT04160117?tab=history&a=5 (first posted 12 November 2019).

NCT05175274 {*published data only*}

NCT05175274. Colchicine use for primary prevention of coronary artery disease [Colchicine use for primary prevention in people at high risk of coronary artery disease]. https:// clinicaltrials.gov/study/NCT05175274 (first posted 3 January 2022).



NCT05802992 {published data only}

NCT05802992. The efficacy and safety of colchicine combined with conventional therapy in multiple myeloma patients [A single-center clinical trial to evaluate the efficacy and safety of colchicine combined with conventional therapy in multiple myeloma patients]. https://clinicaltrials.gov/study/ NCT05802992 (first posted 7 April 2023).

Additional references

Akman 2011

Akman T, Sanli O, Uluocak N, Akbulut F, Nane I, Demir S, et al. The most commonly altered type of Peyronie's disease deformity under oral colchicine treatment is lateral curvature that mostly shifts to the dorsal side. *Andrologia* 2011;**43**(1):28-33. [DOI: 10.1111/j.1439-0272.2009.01004.x] [PMID: 21219379]

Akman 2018

Akman S, Yazici S, Ozturk C. Gastrointestinal evaluation in colchicine-treated familial Mediterranean fever patients with chronic abdominal pain: cases series. *Archivos Argentinos de Pediatria* 2018;**116**(5):e649-54. [DOI: 10.5546/ aap.2018.eng.e649] [PMID: 30204991]

Alarcón 1981

Alarcón Zurita A, Dalmau M, Morey A, Marco J, Bestard J, Pizá C, et al. [Treatment of familial Mediterranean fever with colchicine] [Tratamiento de la fiebre familiar Mediterránea con colchicina]. *Revista Clinica Española* 1981;**163**(5):311-2. [PMID: 7342187]

Ali 2021

Ali A, Ali A, Kumar D, Kumar R, Elahi K, Suman F, et al. Comparison of incidence of myocardial infarction in patients with rheumatoid arthritis and diabetes mellitus. *Cureus* 2021;**13**(6):e15716. [DOI: 10.7759/cureus.15716] [PMID: 34295575]

Altman 1995

Altman DG, Bland JM. Absence of evidence is not evidence of absence. *BMJ* 1995;**311**(7003):485. [PMID: 7647644]

Amanova 2014

Amanova A, Celebi ZK, Bakar F, Caglayan MG, Keven K. Colchicine levels in chronic kidney diseases and kidney transplant recipients using tacrolimus. *Clinical Transplantation* 2014;**28:**(10):1177-83. [DOI: 10.1111/ctr.12448] [PMID: 25125128]

Anonymous 2008

Anonymous. Colchicine: serious interactions. *Prescrire International* 2008;**17**(96):151-3. [PMID: 19492485]

Anyfanti 2022

Anyfanti P, Gavriilaki E, Nikolaidou B, Yiannaki E, Lazaridis A, Papadopoulos N, et al. Patients with autoimmune chronic inflammatory diseases present increased biomarkers of thromboinflammation and endothelial dysfunction in the absence of flares and cardiovascular comorbidities. *Journal of Thrombosis and Thrombolysis* 2022;**53**(1):10-6. [DOI: 10.1007/ s11239-021-02517-0] [PMID: 34224067]

Aran 2011

Aran S, Malekzadeh S, Seifirad S. A double-blind randomized controlled trial appraising the symptom-modifying effects of colchicine on osteoarthritis of the knee. *Clinical and Experimental Rheumatology* 2011;**29**(3):513-8. [PMID: 21640042]

Arbel 2018

Arbel Y, Abuzeid W, Rosenson RS, Weisman A, Farkouh ME. Old drugs for new indications in cardiovascular medicine. *Cardiovascular Drugs and Therapy* 2018;**32**(2):223-32. [DOI: 10.1007/s10557-018-6785-y] [PMID: 29633048]

Atkins 2004

Atkins D, Best D, Briss PA, Eccles M, Falck-Ytter Y, Flottorp S, et al. Grading quality of evidence and strength of recommendations. *BMJ* 2004;**328**(7454):1490. [DOI: 10.1136/bmj.328.7454.1490] [PMID: 15205295]

Barrett 2020

Barrett TJ. Macrophages in atherosclerosis regression. *Arteriosclerosis, Thrombosis, and Vascular Biology* 2020;**40**(1):20-33. [DOI: 10.1161/ATVBAHA.119.312802] [PMID: 31722535]

Bell 2018

Bell ML. New guidance to improve sample size calculations for trials: eliciting the target difference. *Trials* 2018;**19**(1):605. [PMID: 30396364]

Bershadsky 1988

Bershadsky AD, Vasiliev JM. Cytoskeleton. New York: Plenum Press, 1988. [DOI: 10.1007/978-1-4684-5278-]

Borenstein 2009

Borenstein M, Hedges LV, Higgins JP, Rothstein HR. Chapter 17 Prediction interval. In: Borenstein M, Hedges LV, Higgins JP, Rothstein HR, editors(s). Introduction to Meta-Analysis. 1st edition. Chichester, West Sussex, United Kingdom: John Wiley & Sons, Ltd, 2009:127-33. [ISBN: 978-0-470-05724-7]

Borenstein 2017

Borenstein M, Higgins JP, Hedges LV, Rothstein HR. Basics of meta-analysis: I(2) is not an absolute measure of heterogeneity. *Research Synthesis Methods* 2017;**8**(1):5-18. [PMID: 28058794]

Borron 1996

Borron SW, Scherrmann JM, Baud FJ. Markedly altered colchicine kinetics in a fatal intoxication: examination of contributing factors. *Human and Experimental Toxicology* 1996;**15**(11):885-90. [DOI: 10.1177/096032719601501104] [PMID: 8938483]

Buckley 2024

Buckley LF, Libby P. Colchicine's role in cardiovascular disease management. *Arteriosclerosis, Thrombosis, and Vascular Biology* 2024;**44**(5):1031-41. [PMID: 38511324]

Bäck 2015

Bäck M, Hansson GK. Anti-inflammatory therapies for atherosclerosis. *Nature Reviews. Cardiology* 2015;**12**(4):199-211. [DOI: 10.1038/nrcardio.2015.5] [PMID: 25666404]



Calkins 2017

Calkins H, Hindricks G, Cappato R, Kim YH, Saad EB, Aguinaga L, et al. 2017 HRS/EHRA/ECAS/APHRS/SOLAECE expert consensus statement on catheter and surgical ablation of atrial fibrillation. *Heart Rhythm* 2017;**14**(10):e275-e444. [DOI: 10.1016/j.hrthm.2017.05.012] [PMID: 28506916]

Cerquaglia 2005

Cerquaglia C, Diaco M, Nucera G, La Regina M, Montalto M, Manna R. Pharmacological and clinical basis of treatment of Familial Mediterranean Fever (FMF) with colchicine or analogues: an update. *Current Drug Targets. Inflammation and Allergy.* 2005;**4**(1):117-24. [DOI: 10.2174/1568010053622984] [PMID: 15720245]

Chaldakov 2018

Chaldakov GN. Colchicine, a microtubule-disassembling drug, in the therapy of cardiovascular diseases. *Cell Biology International* 2018;**42**(8):1079-84. [DOI: 10.1002/cbin.10988] [PMID: 29762881]

Chalmers 2009

Chalmers I, Glasziou P. Avoidable waste in the production and reporting of research evidence. *Lancet* 2009;**374**(9683):86-9. [PMID: 19525005]

Chan 2013a

Chan AW, Tetzlaff JM, Altman DG, Laupacis A, Gøtzsche PC, Krleža-Jerić K, et al. SPIRIT 2013 statement: defining standard protocol items for clinical trials. *Annals of Internal Medicine* 2013;**158**(3):200-7. [PMID: 23295957]

Chan 2013b

Chan AW, Tetzlaff JM, Gøtzsche PC, Altman DG, Mann H, Berlin JA, et al. SPIRIT 2013 explanation andelaboration: guidance for protocols of clinical trials. *BMJ* 2013;**346**:e7586. [PMID: 23303884]

Chappey 1993

Chappey ON, Niel E, Wautier JL, Hung PP, Dervichian M, Cattan D, et al. Colchicine disposition in human leukocytes after single and multiple oral administration. *Clinical Pharmacology and Therapeutics* 1993;**54**(4):360-7. [DOI: 10.1038/clpt.1993.161] [PMID: 8222477]

Chen 2017

Chen K, Schenone AL, Borges N, Militello M, Menon V. Teaching an old dog new tricks: colchicine in cardiovascular medicine. *American Journal of Cardiovascular Drugs* 2017;**17**(5):347-60. [DOI: 10.1007/s40256-017-0226-3] [PMID: 28353024]

Chistiakov 2018

Chistiakov DA, Melnichenko AA, Grechko AV, Myasoedova VA, Orekhov AN. Potential of anti-inflammatory agents for treatment of atherosclerosis. *Experimental and Molecular Pathology* 2018;**104**(2):114-24. [DOI: 10.1016/ j.yexmp.2018.01.008] [PMID: 29378168]

Clarke 2007

Clarke M. Standardising outcomes for clinical trials and systematic reviews. *Trials* 2007;**8**:39. [PMID: 18039365]

Cocco 2010

Cocco G, Chu DC, Pandolfi S. Colchicine in clinical medicine. A guide for internists. *European Journal of Internal Medicine* 2010;**21**(6):503-8. [DOI: 10.1016/j.ejim.2010.09.010] [PMID: 21111934]

Cochain 2017

Cochain C, Zernecke A. Macrophages in vascular inflammation and atherosclerosis. *Pflugers Archiv: European Journal of Physiology* 2017;**469**(3-4):485-99. [DOI: 10.1007/ s00424-017-1941-y] [PMID: 28168325]

Cook 2015

Cook JA, Hislop J, Altman DG, Fayers P, Briggs AH, Ramsay CR, DELTA Group. Specifying the target difference in the primary outcome for a randomised controlled trial: guidance for researchers. *Trials* 2015;**16**:12. [PMID: 25928502]

Croca 2017

Croca S, Rahman A. Atherosclerosis in systemic lupus erythematosus. *Best Practice and Research. Clinical Rheumatology* 2017;**31**(3):364-72. [PMID: 10.1016/ j.berh.2017.09.012] [PMID: 29224678]

Cronstein 1995

Cronstein BN, Molad Y, J Reibman J, Balakhane E, Levin RI, Weissmann G. Colchicine alters the quantitative and qualitative display of selectins on endothelial cells and neutrophils. *Journal of Clinical Investigation* 1995;**96**:994-1002. [DOI: 10.1172/JCI118147] [PMID: 7543498]

Cronstein 2013

Cronstein BN, Sunkureddi P. Mechanistic aspects of inflammation and clinical management of inflammation in acute gouty arthritis. *Journal of Clinical Rheumatology* 2013;**19**(1):19-29. [DOI: 10.1097/RHU.0b013e31827d8790] [PMID: 23319019]

Curiel 2012

Curiel RV, Guzman NJ. Challenges associated with the management of gouty arthritis in patients with chronic kidney disease: a systematic review. *Seminars in Arthritis and Rheumatism* 2012;**42**(2):166-78. [DOI: 10.1016/j.semarthrit.2012.03.013] [PMID: 22560299]

d'Alessandro 2020

d'Alessandro E, Becker C, Bergmeier W, Bode C, Bourne JH, Brown H, Scientific Reviewer Committee. Thromboinflammation in cardiovascular disease: an expert consensus document from the third Maastricht consensus conference on thrombosis. *Thrombosis and Haemostasis* 2020;**120**(4):538-64. [DOI: 10.1055/s-0040-1708035] [PMID: 32289858]

Dahan 2009

Dahan A, Amidon GL. Grapefruit juice and its constituents augment colchicine intestinal absorption: potential hazardous interaction and the role of p-glycoprotein. *Pharmaceutical Research* 2009;**26**(4):883-92. [DOI: 10.1007/s11095-008-9789-7] [PMID: 19048359]



Das 2002

Das SK, Mishra K, Ramakrishnan S, Srivastava R, Agarwal GG, Singh R, et al. A randomized controlled trial to evaluate the slow-acting symptom modifying effects of a regimen containing colchicine in a subset of patients with osteoarthritis of the knee. *Osteoarthritis Cartilage* 2002;**10**(4):247-52. [DOI: 10.1053/ joca.2002.0516] [PMID: 11950246]

Dasgeb 2018

Dasgeb B, Kornreich D, McGuinn K, Okon L, Brownell I, Sackett DL. Colchicine: an ancient drug with novel applications. *British Journal of Dermatology* 2018;**178**(2):350-6. [DOI: 10.1111/ bjd.15896] [PMID: 28832953]

Davis 2013

Davis MW, Wason S, Digiacinto JL. Colchicine-antimicrobial drug interactions: what pharmacists need to know in treating gout. *Consultant Pharmacist* 2013;**28**(3):176-83. [DOI: 10.4140/TCP.n.2013.176] [PMID: 23462027]

Deeks 2019

Deeks JJ, Higgins JP, Altman DG, editor(s). Chapter 10: Analysing data and undertaking meta-analyses. In: Higgins JP, Thomas J, Chandler J, Cumpston M, Li T, Page MJ, Welch VA, editors(s). Cochrane Handbook for Systematic Reviews of Interventions. 2nd edition. Chichester (UK): John Wiley & Sons, 2019:241-84.

Deftereos 2013

Deftereos S, Giannopoulos G, Papoutsidakis N, Panagopoulou V, Kossyvakis C, Raisakis K, et al. Colchicine and the heart: pushing the envelope. *Journal of the American College of Cardiology* 2013;**62**(20):1817-25. [PMID: 24036026]

Deftereos 2022

Deftereos SG, Beerkens FJ, Shah B, Giannopoulos G, Vrachatis DA, Giotaki SG, et al. Colchicine in cardiovascular disease: in-depth review. *Circulation* 2022;**145**(1):61-78. [PMID: 34965168]

Dubé 2021

Dubé MP, Legault MA, Lemaçon A, Perreault LPL, Fouodjio R, Waters DD, et al. Pharmacogenomics of the efficacy and safety of colchicine in COLCOT. *Circulation. Genomic and Precision Medicine* 2021;**14**(2):e003183. [DOI: 10.1161/ CIRCGEN.120.003183] [PMID: 33560138]

Dwan 2013

Dwan K, Gamble C, Williamson PR, Kirkham JJ, Reporting Bias Group. Systematic review of the empirical evidence of study publication bias and outcome reporting bias - an updated review. *PLOS One* 2013;**8**(7):e66844. [PMID: 23861749]

Ebrahimi 2023

Ebrahimi F, Hirt J, Schönenberger C, Ewald H, Briel M, Janiaud P, et al. Colchicine for the secondary prevention of cardiovascular events. *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews* 2023, Issue 8. Art. No: CD014808. [DOI: 10.1002/14651858.CD014808]

Eshghjoo 2021

Eshghjoo S, Jayaraman A, Sun Y, Alaniz RC. Microbiotamediated immune regulation in atherosclerosis. *Molecules* 2021;**26**(1):179. [DOI: 10.3390/molecules26010179] [PMID: 33401401]

Essame 2020

Essame J, Grossberg S, Mahomed A. Colchicine overdose: A South African experience, a case report. *African Journal of Emergency Medicine* 2020;**10**(3):167-9. [DOI: 10.1016/ j.afjem.2019.12.005] [PMID: 32923329]

Fazeli 2021

Fazeli MS, Khaychuk V, Wittstock K, Breznen B, Crocket G, Pourrahmat MM, et al. Cardiovascular disease in rheumatoid arthritis: risk factors, autoantibodies, and the effect of antirheumatic therapies. *Clinical Medicine Insights. Arthritis and Musculoskeletal Disorders* 2021;**14**:11795441211028751. [DOI: 10.1177/11795441211028751] [PMID: 34262386]

FDA 2021a

US Food and Drug Administration. Approval package for application number: 22-351. https://www.accessdata.fda.gov/ drugsatfda_docs/nda/2009/022351s000_SumR.pdf (accessed 4 March 2021).

FDA 2021b

US Food and Drug Administration. Approval package for application number 210942Orig1s000. https://www.accessdata.fda.gov/drugsatfda_docs/ nda/2019/210942Orig1s000Approv.pdf (accessed 4 March 2021).

FDA 2023

US Food and Drug Administration. Office of New Drugs (OND) Annual Report Breaking Barriers to Advance Public Health; 2023. https://www.fda.gov/about-fda/center-drug-evaluationand-research-cder/office-new-drugs-ond-annual-reports (accessed 17 July 2024).

Ferraz-Amaro 2021

Ferraz-Amaro I, Corrales A, Quevedo-Abeledo JC, Vegas-Revenga N, Blanco R, Portilla V, et al. Disease activity influences the reclassification of rheumatoid arthritis into very high cardiovascular risk. *Arthritis Research and Therapy* 2021;**23**(1):162. [DOI: 10.1186/s13075-021-02542-7] [PMID: 34088356]

Finkelstein 2002

Finkelstein Y, Shemesh J, Mahlab K, Abramov D, Bar-El Y, Sagie A, et al. Colchicine for the prevention of postpericardiotomy syndrome. *Herz* 2002;**27**(8):791-4. [DOI: 10.1093/eurheartj/ehab221] [PMID: 33961006]

Finkelstein 2010

Finkelstein Y, Aks SE, Hutson JR, Juurlink DN, Nguyen P, Dubnov-Raz G, et al. Colchicine poisoning: the dark side of an ancient drug. *Clinical Toxicology* 2010;**48**(5):407-14. [DOI: 10.3109/15563650.2010.495348] [PMID: 20586571]


Fiolet 2021

Fiolet AT, Nidorf SM, Cornel JH, LoDoCo2 Steering Committee. Colchicine for secondary prevention in coronary disease. *European Heart Journal* 2021;**42**(11):1060-1. [DOI: 10.1093/ eurheartj/ehaa974] [PMID: 33346343]

Flora 2019

Flora GD, Nayak MK. A brief review of cardiovascular diseases, associated risk factors and current treatment regimes. *Current Pharmaceutical Design* 2019;**25**(38):4063-84. [DOI: 10.2174/1381612825666190925163827] [PMID: 31553287]

Forkosh 2020

Forkosh E, Kenig A, Ilan Y. Introducing variability in targeting the microtubules: Review of current mechanisms and future directions in colchicine therapy. *Pharmacology Researches and Perspectives* 2020;**8**(4):e00616. [DOI: 10.1002/prp2.616] [PMID: 32608157]

Frostegård 2013

Frostegård J. Immunity, atherosclerosis and cardiovascular disease. *BMC Medicine* 2013;**11**:117. [DOI: 10.1186/1741-7015-11-117] [PMID: 23635324]

Fujii 2021

Fujii M, Kishibe M, Ishida-Yamamoto A. Case of hypocomplementemic urticarial vasculitis with Sjogren's syndrome successfully treated with oral corticosteroid and colchicine. *Journal of Dermatology* 2021;**48**(2):e112-3. [DOI: 10.1111/1346-8138.15712] [PMID: 33264439]

Gelfond 2011

Gelfond JAL, Heitman E, Pollock BH, Klugman CM. Principles for the ethical analysis of clinical and translational research. *Statistical Medicine* 2011;**30**(23):2785-92. [PMID: 21751225]

Gellman 2013

Gellman MC, Turner RJ. Encyclopedia of Behavioral Medicine. 1st edition. New York, Heidelberg, Dordrecht, London: Springer, 2013. [DOI: 10.1007/978-1-4419-1005-9] [ISBN: 978-1-4419-1004-2]

Geovanini 2018

Geovanini GR, Libby P. Atherosclerosis and inflammation: overview and updates. *Clinical Science* 2018;**132**(12):1243-52. [DOI: 10.1042/CS20180306] [PMID: 29930142]

Ghawanmeh 2020

Ghawanmeh AA, Al-Bajalan HM, Mackeen MM, Alali FQ, Chong KF. Recent developments on (-)-colchicine derivatives: synthesis and structure-activity relationship. *European Journal of Medicine and Chemistry* 2020;**185**:111788. [PMID: 10.1016/ j.ejmech.2019.111788] [PMID: 31655432]

Gisterå 2017

Gisterå A, Hansson GK. The immunology of atherosclerosis. *Nature Reviews. Nephrology* 2017;**13**(6):368-80. [DOI: 10.1038/ nrneph.2017.51] [PMID: 28392564]

Gomer 2010

Gomer RH, Lupher ML Jr. Investigational approaches to therapies for idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis. *Expert Opinion on Investigational Drugs* 2010;**19**(6):737-45. [DOI: 10.1517/13543784.2010.484018] [PMID: 20443753]

Gong 2004

Gong Y, Gluud C. Colchicine for primary biliary cirrhosis. *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews* 2004, Issue 2. Art. No: CD004481. [DOI: 10.1002/14651858.CD004481.pub2] [PMID: 15106254]

Gotlieb 1991

Gotlieb AI, Langille BL, Fedoroff S, editor(s). Atherosclerosis: Cellular and Molecular Interactions in the Artery Wall. New York: Springer Science+Business Media New York, 1991. [DOI: 10.1007/978-1-4615-3754-0] [ISBN (EBOOK): 978-1-4615-3754-0]

GRADEpro GDT [Computer program]

GRADEpro GDT. Version accessed prior to 18 July 2024. Hamilton (ON): McMaster University (developed by Evidence Prime), 2024. Available at https://www.gradepro.org.

GraphPad 2024 [Computer program]

GraphPad. Computing number needed to treat (NNT) (graphpad.com), 2024.

Guyatt 2008

Guyatt GH, Oxman AD, Kunz R, Vist GE, Falck-Ytter Y, Schünemann HJ. What is "quality of evidence" and why is it important to clinicians? *BMJ* 2008;**336**(7651):995-8. [DOI: 10.1136/bmj.39490.551019.BE] [PMID: 18456631]

Gómez Lumbreras 2023

Gómez-Lumbreras A, Boyce RD, Villa-Zapata L, Tan MS, Hansten PD, Horn J, et al. Drugs that interact with colchicine via inhibition of cytochrome P450 3A4 and P-Glycoprotein: a signal detection analysis using a database of spontaneously reported adverse events (FAERS). *Annals of Pharmacotherapy* 2023;**57**(10):1137-46. [PMID: 36688283]

Halabe-Cherem 2009

Halabe-Cherem J, Hamui-Sutton A, Cohen-Cohen S, Sacal-Dumani E, Shuchleib-Cung A, Nellen-Hummel H, et al. Recurrent pericardial effusion due to familiar Mediterranean fever. *Revista Médica del Instituto Mexicano del Seguro Social* 2009;**47**(2):211-4. [PMID: 19744393]

Hannawi 2021

Hannawi SM, Hannawi H, Al Salmi I. Cardiovascular risk in rheumatoid arthritis: literature review. *Oman Medical Journal* 2021;**36**(3):e262. [DOI: 10.5001/omj.2021.25] [PMID: 34164156]

Hansson 2006

Hansson GK, Robertson A K, Söderberg-Nauclèr C. Inflammation and atherosclerosis. *Annual Review of Pathology* 2006;**1**:297-329. [DOI: 10.1146/annurev.pathol.1.110304.100100] [PMID: 18039117]



Hansten 2021

Hansten PD, Tan MS, Horn JR, Gomez-Lumbreras A, Villa-Zapata L, Boyce RD, et al. Colchicine drug interaction errors and misunderstandings: recommendations for improved evidence-based management. *Drug Safety* 2021;**46**:223-42. [PMID: 36522578]

Harrison 2017

Harrison S, Jones HE, Martin RM, Lewis SJ, Higgins JP. The albatross plot: a novel graphical tool for presenting results of diversely reported studies in a systematic review. *Research Synthesis Methods* 2017;**8**(3):281-9. [DOI: 10.1002/jrsm.1239] [PMID: 28453179]

Hemkens 2016

Hemkens LG, Ewald H, Gloy VL, Arpagaus A, Olu KK, Nidorf M, et al. Colchicine for prevention of cardiovascular events. *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews* 2016, Issue 1. Art. No: CD011047. [DOI: 10.1002/14651858.CD011047.pub2] [PMID: 26816301]

Hermans 2010

Hermans MP, Fruchart JC. Reducing residual vascular risk in patients with atherogenic dyslipidemia: where do we go from here? *Clinical Lipidology* 2010;**5**(6):811-26. [DOI: https:// doi.org/10.2217/clp.10.65]

Higgins 2003

Higgins JP, Thompson SG, Deeks JJ, Altman DG. Measuring inconsistency in meta-analyses. *BMJ* 2003;**327**(7414):557-60. [DOI: 10.1136/bmj.327.7414.557] [PMID: 12958120]

Higgins 2008a

Higgins JP, Green S, editor(s). Cochrane Handbook for Systematic Reviews of Interventions. 1st edition. Chichester (UK): John Wiley & Sons, 2008. [ISBN: 978-0-470-6995-569951-5]

Higgins 2008b

Higgins JP, Altman DG, editor(s). Chapter 8: Assessing risk of bias in included studies. In: Higgins JP, Green S, editors(s). Cochrane Handbook for Systematic Reviews of Interventions. 1st edition. Chichester (UK): John Wiley & Sons, 2008:187-235. [ISBN: 978-0-470-6995-569951-5]

Ho 2019

Ho GC, Lau WH, Leung MH. Colchicine gastrotoxicity in a patient with chronic kidney disease. *Rheumatology* 2019;**58**(12):2229. [DOI: 10.1093/rheumatology/kez178] [PMID: 31056709]

Hollis 1999

Hollis S, Campbell F. What is meant by intention to treat analysis? Survey of published randomised controlled trials. *BMJ* 1999;**319**(7211):670-4. [DOI: 10.1136/bmj.319.7211.670] [PMID: 10480822]

Howland 2011

Howland 2011. What you see depends on where you're looking and how you look at it: publication bias andoutcome reporting bias. *Journal of Psychosocial Nursing and Mental Health Services* 2011;**49**(8):13-5. [PMID: 21766733]

Hu 2021

Hu D, Wang Z, Wang Y, Liang C. Targeting macrophages in atherosclerosis. *Current Pharmaceutical Biotechnology* 2021;**22**(15):2008-18. [DOI: 10.2174/1389201022666210122142233] [PMID: 33480337]

Hung 2005

Hung IFN, Wu AK, Cheng VC, Tang BS, To KW, Yeung CK, et al. Fatal interaction between clarithromycin and colchicine in patients with renal insufficiency: a retrospective study. *Clinical Infectious Diseases* 2005;**41**(3):291-300. [DOI: 10.1086/431592.] [PMID: 16007523]

Hussain 2020

Hussain SM, Dawson C, Wang Y, Tonkin AM, Chou L, Wluka AE, et al. Vascular pathology and osteoarthritis: a systematic review. *Journal of Rheumatology* 2020;**47**(5):748-60. [DOI: 10.3899/ jrheum.181236] [PMID: 31154415]

Ibrahim 2019

Ibrahim A, Gazzard L, Alharbi M, Rompré-Brodeur A, Aube M, Carrier S. Evaluation of oral pentoxifylline, colchicine, and penile traction for the management of Peyronie's disease. *Sexual Medicine* 2019;**7**(4):459-63. [DOI: 10.1016/ j.esxm.2019.07.003] [PMID: 31445974]

Imai 2020

Imai S, Momo K, Kashiwagi H, Miyai T, Sugawara M, Takekuma Y. Prescription of colchicine with other dangerous concomitant medications: a nation-wide survey using the Japanese claims database. *Biological and Pharmaceutical Bulletin* 2020;**43**(10):1519-25. [DOI: 10.1248/bpb.b20-00314] [PMID: 32999162]

Imazio 2005a

Imazio M, Bobbio M, Cecchi E, Demarie D, Pomari F, Moratti M, et al. Colchicine as first-choice therapy for recurrent pericarditis: results of the CORE (COlchicine for REcurrent pericarditis) trial. *Archives of Internal Medicine* 2005;**165**(17):1987-91. [DOI: 10.1001/archinte.165.17.1987] [PMID: 16186468]

Imazio 2005b

Imazio M, Bobbio M, Cecchi E, Demarie D, Demichelis B, Pomari F, et al. Colchicine in addition to conventional therapy for acute pericarditis: results of the COlchicine for acute PEricarditis (COPE) trial. *Circulation* 2005;**112**(13):2012-6. [DOI: 10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.105.542738] [PMID: 16186437]

Imazio 2010

Imazio M, Trinchero R, Brucato A, Rovere ME, Gandino A, Cemin R, COPPS Investigators. Colchicine for the prevention of the post-pericardiotomy syndrome (COPPS): a multicentre, randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled trial. *European Heart Journal* 2010;**31**(22):2749-54. [DOI: 10.1093/eurheartj/ ehq319] [PMID: 20805112]

Imazio 2011a

Imazio M, Brucato A, Cemin R, Ferrua S, Belli R, Maestroni S, et al. Colchicine for recurrent pericarditis (CORP): a randomized trial. *Annals of Internal Medicine* 2011;**155**(7):409-14. [DOI: 10.7326/0003-4819-155-7-201110040-00359] [PMID: 21873705]



Imazio 2011b

Imazio M, Brucato A, Rovere ME, Gandino A, Cemin R, Ferrua S, et al. Colchicine prevents early postoperative pericardial and pleural effusions. *American Heart Journal* 2011;**162**(3):527-32. [DOI: 10.1016/j.ahj.2011.05.017] [PMID: 21884871]

Imazio 2014a

Imazio M, Belli R, Brucato A, Cemin R, Ferrua S, Beqaraj F, et al. Efficacy and safety of colchicine for treatment of multiple recurrences of pericarditis (CORP-2): a multicentre, double-blind, placebo-controlled, randomised trial. *Lancet* 2014;**383**(9936):2232-7. [DOI: 10.1016/S0140-6736(13)62709-9] [PMID: 24694983]

Imazio 2014b

Imazio M, Brucato A, Ferrazzi P, Pullara A, Adler Y, Barosi A, COPPS-2 Investigators. Colchicine for prevention of postpericardiotomy syndrome and postoperative atrial fibrillation: the COPPS-2 randomized clinical trial. *JAMA* 2014;**312**(10):1016-23. [DOI: 10.1001/jama.2014.11026] [PMID: 25172965]

Imazio 2016

Imazio M, Gaita F. Colchicine for cardiovascular medicine. *Future Cardiology* 2016;**12**(1):9-16. [DOI: 10.2217/fca.15.59] [PMID: 26632860]

Imazio 2021

Imazio M, Nidorf N. Colchicine and the heart. *European Heart Journal* 2021;**42**(28):2745-60. [PMID: 10.1093/eurheartj/ehab221] [PMID: 33961006]

IntHout 2016

IntHout J, Ioannidis JP, Rovers M M, Goeman JJ. Plea for routinely presenting prediction intervals in meta-analysis. *BMJ Open* 2016;**6**(7):e010247. [DOI: 10.1136/bmjopen-2015-010247] [PMID: 27406637]

Ioannidis 2005

Ioannidis JP. Why most published research findings are false. *PLOS Medicine* 2005;**2**(8):e124. [PMID: 16060722]

Ioannidis 2008

Ioannidis JP. Why most discovered true associations are inflated. *Epidemiology* 2008;**19**(5):640-8. [PMID: 18633328]

Ioannidis 2010

Ioannidis JP. Meta-research: the art of getting it wrong. *Research Synthesis Methods* 2010;**1**(3-4):169-84. [PMID: 26061464]

Ioannidis 2014

Ioannidis JP, Greenland S, Hlatky MA, Khoury MJ, Macleod MR, Moher D, et al. Increasing value and reducing waste in research design, conduct, and analysis. *Lancet* 2014;**383**(9912):166-75. [PMID: 24411645]

Janke 2020

Janke C, Magiera MM. The tubulin code and its role in controlling microtubule properties and functions. *Nature Reviews. Molecular Cell Biology* 2020;**21**(6):307-26. [DOI: 10.1038/s41580-020-0214-3] [PMID: 32107477]

Colchicine for the primary prevention of cardiovascular events (Review) Copyright © 2025 The Cochrane Collaboration. Published by John Wiley & Sons, Ltd.

January 2014

January CT, Wann LS, Alpert JS, Calkins H, Cigarroa JE, Cleveland Jr JC, American College of Cardiology/American Heart Association Task Force on Practice Guidelines. 2014 AHA/ACC/HRS guideline for the management of patients with atrial fibrillation: a report of the American College of Cardiology/American Heart Association Task Force on Practice Guidelines and the Heart Rhythm Society. *Journal of the American College of Cardiology* 2014;**64**(21):e1-76. [DOI: 10.1016/j.jacc.2014.03.022] [PMID: 24685669]

Karamanou 2018

Karamanou M, Tsoucalas G, Pantos K, Androutsos G. Isolating colchicine in 19th Century: an old drug revisited. *Current Pharmaceutical Design* 2018;**24**(6):654-8. [DOI: 10.2174/1381612824666180115105850] [PMID: 29336251]

Kaur 2020

Kaur I, Singal A, Rohatgi J. Conjunctival ulcers in Behcet's disease and response to colchicine. *Indian Dermatology Online Journal* 2020;**11**(6):1005-6. [DOI: 10.4103/idoj.IDOJ_362_20. eCollection 2020] [PMID: 33344359]

Kelly 2024

Kelly P, Lemmens R, Weimar C, Walsh C, Purroy F, Barber M, et al. Long-term colchicine for the prevention of vascular recurrent events in non-cardioembolic stroke (CONVINCE): a randomised controlled trial. *Lancet* 2024;**404**(10448):125-33.

Kiraz 1998

Kiraz S, Ertenli I, Arici M, Calgüneri M, Haznedaroglu I, Celik I, et al. Effects of colchicine on inflammatory cytokines and selectins in familial Mediterranean fever. *Clinical and Experimental Rheumatology* 1998;**16**(6):721-4. [PMID: 9844766]

Kirchhof 2016

Kirchhof P, Benussi S, Kotecha D, Ahlsson A, Atar D, Casadei B, ESC Scientific Document Group. 2016 ESC Guidelines for the management of atrial fibrillation developed in collaboration with EACTS. *European Heart Journal* 2016;**37**(8):2893-962. [DOI: 10.1093/eurheartj/ehw210] [PMID: 27567408]

Kobiyama 2018

Kobiyama K, Ley K. Atherosclerosis. *Circulation Research* 2018;**123**(10):1118-20. [DOI: 10.1161/CIRCRESAHA.118.313816] [PMID: 30359201]

Kontopantelis 2010

Kontopantelis E, Reeves D. Metaan: random-effects meta-analysis. *Stata Journal* 2010;**10**(3):395-407. [DOI: 10.1177/1536867X1001000307]

Kottoor 2018

Kottoor SJ, Arora RR. The utility of anti-inflammatory agents in cardiovascular disease: a novel perspective on the treatment of atherosclerosis. *Journal of Cardiovascular Pharmacology and Therapeutics* 2018;**23**(6):483-93. [DOI: 10.1177/1074248418778548] [PMID: 29783850]

Lazaros 2018

Lazaros G, Imazio M, Brucato A, Vlachopoulos C, Lazarou E, Vassilopoulos D, et al. The role of colchicine in pericardial syndromes. *Current Pharmaceutical Design* 2018;**24**(6):702-9. [DOI: 10.2174/1381612824666180116101823] [PMID: 29336245]

Lefebvre 2019

Lefebvre C, Glanville J, Briscoe S, Littlewood A, Marshall C, Metzendorf M- I, et al. Chapter 4: Searching for and selecting studies. In: Higgins JP, Thomas J, Chandler J, Cumpston M, Li T, Page MJ, Welch VA, editors(s). Cochrane Handbook for Systematic Reviews of Interventions. 2nd edition. Chichester (UK): John Wiley & Sons, 2019:67-108.

Lennerz 2017

Lennerz C, Barman M, Tantawy M, Sopher M, Whittaker P. Colchicine for primary prevention of atrial fibrillation after open-heart surgery: systematic review and meta-analysis. *International Journal of Cardiology* 2017;**249**:127-37. [DOI: 10.1016/j.ijcard.2017.08.039] [PMID: 28918897]

Leung 2015

Leung YY, Hui LL, Kraus VB. Colchicine - update on mechanisms of action and therapeutic uses. *Seminars in Arthritis and Rheumatism* 2015;**45**(3):341-50. [DOI: 10.1016/ j.semarthrit.2015.06.013] [PMID: 26228647]

Li 2022

Li X, Sundquist J, Nymberg V, Sundquist K. Association of autoimmune diseases with cardiomyopathy: a nationwide follow-up study from Sweden. *European Heart Journal. Quality* of Care and Clinical Outcomes 2022;**8**(1):79-85. [DOI: 10.1093/ ehjqcco/qcab044] [PMID: 34152406]

Liang 2019

Liang X, Xiu C, Liu M, Lin C, Chen H, Bao R, et al. Plateletneutrophil interaction aggravates vascular inflammation and promotes the progression of atherosclerosis by activating the TLR4/NF-kB pathway. *Journal of Cellular Biochemistry* 2019;**120**(4):5612-9. [DOI: 10.1002/jcb.27844] [PMID: 30302814]

Liantinioti 2018

Liantinioti G, Argyris AA, Protogerou AD, Vlachoyiannopoulos P. The role of colchicine in the treatment of autoinflammatory diseases. *Current Pharmaceutical Design* 2018;**24**(6):690-4. [DOI: 10.2174/1381612824666180116095658] [PMID: 29336247]

Libby 2002

Libby P. Inflammation in atherosclerosis. *Nature* 2002;**420**(420):868-74. [PMID: 12490960]

Libby 2019

Libby P, Buring J E, Badimon L, Hansson G K, Deanfield J, Bittencourt MS, et al. Atherosclerosis. *Nature Reviews. Disease Primers* 2019;**5**(1):56. [DOI: 10.1038/s41572-019-0106-z] [PMID: 31420554]

Liberati 2009

Liberati A, Altman DG, Tetzlaff J, Mulrow C, Gotzsche PC, Ioannidis JP, et al. The PRISMA statement for reporting systematic reviews and meta-analyses of studies that evaluate health care interventions: explanation and elaboration. *PLOS Medicine* 2009;**6**(7):e1000100. [DOI: 10.1371/ journal.pmed.1000100] [PMID: 19621070]

Liu 2018

Liu Y, Kaplan MJ. Cardiovascular disease in systemic lupus erythematosus: an update. *Current Opinion in Rheumatology* 2018;**30**(5):441-8. [DOI: 10.1097/BOR.00000000000528] [PMID: 29870498]

Liu 2019

Liu W, Balu N, Canton G, Hippe DS, Watase H, Waterton JC, et al. Understanding atherosclerosis through an osteoarthritis data set. *Arteriosclerosis, Thrombosis, and Vascular Biology* 2019;**39**(6):1018-25. [DOI: 10.1161/ATVBAHA.119.312513] [PMID: 31070477]

Liu 2023

Liu Y, Guan S, Xu H, Zhang N, Huang M, Liu Z. Inflammation biomarkers are associated with the incidence of cardiovascular disease: a meta-analysis. *Frontiers in Cardiovascular Medicine* 2023;**10**:1175174. [PMID: 37485268]

Liuzzo 1994

Liuzzo G, Biasucci LM, Gallimore JR, Grillo RL, Rebuzzi AG, Pepys MB, et al. The prognostic value of C-reactive protein and serum amyloid a protein in severe unstable angina. *New England Journal of Medicine* 1994;**331**(7):417-24. [DOI: 10.1056/ NEJM199408183310701] [PMID: 7880233]

Ma 2019

Ma WT, Gao F, Gu K, Chen DK. The role of monocytes and macrophages in autoimmune diseases: a comprehensive review. *Frontiers in Immunology* 2019;**10**:1140. [DOI: 10.3389/ fimmu.2019.01140] [PMID: 31178867]

Magro 2021

Magro L, Arzento E, Leone R, Stano MG, VezzaroM, Rudolph A, et al. Identifying and characterizing serious adverse drug reactions associated with drug-drug interactions in a spontaneous reporting database. *Frontiers in Pharmacology* 2021;**11**:622862. [DOI: 10.3389/fphar.2020.622862] [PMID: 33536925]

Maisch 2004

Maisch B, Seferović PM, Ristiá AD, Erbel R, Rienmüller R, Adler Y, et al. Guidelines on the diagnosis and management of pericardial diseases executive summary; The task force on the diagnosis and management of pericardial diseases of the European Society of Cardiology. *European Heart Journal* 2004;**25**(7):587-610. [DOI: 10.1016/j.ehj.2004.02.002] [PMID: 15120056]

Martí-Carvajal 2018

Martí-Carvajal A. Proper randomization reduces the chance of wasted biomedical research. In: Berger VW, editors(s). Randomization, Masking, and Allocation Concealment. Boca Raton, FL: CRC Press Taylor & Francis Group, 2018:9-28. [ISBN: 13: 978-1-138-03364-1]



Martínez 2018a

Martínez BK, White CM. The emerging role of inflammation in cardiovascular disease. *Annals of Pharmacotherapy* 2018;**52**(8):801-9. [DOI: 10.1177/1060028018765939] [PMID: 29557210]

Martínez 2018b

Martínez GJ, Celermajer DS, Patel S. The NLRP3 inflammasome and the emerging role of colchicine to inhibit atherosclerosisassociated inflammation. *Atherosclerosis* 2018;**269**:262-71. [PMID: 29352570]

McKenzie 2019

McKenzie JE, Brennan SE, Ryan RE, Thomson HJ, Johnston RV. Chapter 9: Summarizing study characteristics and preparing for synthesis. In: Higgins JP, Thomas J, Chandler J, Cumpston M, Li T, Page MJ, Welch VA, editors(s). Cochrane Handbook for Systematic Reviews of Interventions. 2nd edition. Chichester (UK): John Wiley & Sons, 2019:229-40.

Meneses 2015

Meneses CF, Egües CA, Uriarte M, Belzunegui J, Rezola M. Colchicine use in isolated renal AA amyloidosis. *Reumatologia Clinica* 2015;**11**(4):242-3. [DOI: 10.1016/j.reuma.2014.09.007] [PMID: 25453598]

Meurin 2015

Meurin P, Lelay-Kubas S, Pierre B, Pereira H, Pavy B, Iliou MC, French Society of Cardiology. Colchicine for postoperative pericardial effusion: a multicentre, double-blind, randomised controlled trial. *Heart* 2015;**101**(21):1711-6. [DOI: 10.1093/ eurheartj/ehab221] [PMID: 26076938]

Micheletti 2020

Micheletti RG, Pagnoux C. Management of cutaneous vasculitis. *Presse Medicale* 2020;**49**(3):104033. [DOI: 10.1016/ j.lpm.2020.104033] [PMID: 32645416]

Miller 2022

Miller E, Kishi R, Raleigh C, Dowd C. An agenda for addressing bias in conflict data. *Scientific Data* 2022;**9**(1):593. [PMID: 36180448]

Ministrini 2022

Ministrini S, Carbone F. PCSK9 and inflammation: their role in autoimmune diseases, with a focus on rheumatoid arthritis and systemic lupus erythematosus. *Current Medicinal Chemistry* 2022;**29**(6):970-9. [DOI: 10.2174/0929867328666210810150940] [PMID: 34375179]

Mizuno 2011

Mizuno Y, Jacob RF, Mason RP. Inflammation and the development of atherosclerosis. *Journal of Atherosclerosis and Thrombosis* 2011;**18**(5):351-8. [DOI: 10.5551/jat.7591] [PMID: 21427505]

Mohammadnia 2023

Mohammadnia N, Opstal TS, El Messaoudi S, Bax WA, Cornel JH. An update on inflammation in atherosclerosis: how to effectively treat residual risk. *Clinical Therapeutics* 2023;**45**(11):1055-9. [PMID: 37716836]

Colchicine for the primary prevention of cardiovascular events (Review) Copyright © 2025 The Cochrane Collaboration. Published by John Wiley & Sons, Ltd.

Moriya 2019

Moriya J. Critical roles of inflammation in atherosclerosis. Journal of Cardiology 2019;**73**(1):22-7. [DOI: 10.1016/ j.jjcc.2018.05.010] [PMID: 29907363]

Morton 1999

Morton IKM, Hall JM. Concise Dictionary of Pharmacological Agents Properties and Synonyms. 1st edition. Dordrecht, the Netherlands: Kluwer Academic Publishers, 1999. [ISBN: 075-1404-993]

NIDDK 2021

National Institute of Diabetes and Digestive and Kidney Diseases. Definition & Facts of Primary Biliary Cholangitis (Primary Biliary Cirrhosis). https://www.niddk.nih.gov/healthinformation/liver-disease/primary-biliary-cholangitis/allcontent#section1.

Nidorf 2013

Nidorf SM, Eikelboom JW, Budgeon CA, Thompson PL. Lowdose colchicine for secondary prevention of cardiovascular disease. *Journal of the American College of Cardiology* 2013;**61**(4):404-10. [DOI: 10.1016/j.jacc.2012.10.027] [PMID: 23265346]

Nidorf 2014

Nidorf SM, Eikelboom JW, Thompson PL. Colchicine for secondary prevention of cardiovascular disease. *Current Atherosclerosis Reports* 2014;**16**(3):391. [DOI: 10.1007/ s11883-013-0391-z] [PMID: 24425060]

Nidorf 2020

Nidorf SM, Fiolet ATL, Mosterd A, Eikelboom JW, Schut A, Opstal TSJ, et al. Colchicine in patients with chronic coronary disease. *New England Journal of Medicine* 2020;**383**(19):1838-47. [PMID: 32865380]

Nording 2020

Nording H, Baron L, Langer HF. Platelets as therapeutic targets to prevent atherosclerosis. *Atherosclerosis* 2020;**307**:97-108. [DOI: 10.1016/j.atherosclerosis.2020.05.018] [PMID: 32653088]

Nuki 2008

Nuki G. Colchicine: its mechanism of action and efficacy in crystal-induced inflammation. *Current Rheumatology Reports* 2008;**10**(3):218-27. [DOI: 10.1007/s11926-008-0036-3] [PMID: 18638431]

Oikonomou 2020

Oikonomou E, Leopoulou M, Theofilis P, Antonopoulos AS, Siasos G, Latsios G, et al. A link between inflammation and thrombosis in atherosclerotic cardiovascular diseases: clinical and therapeutic implications. *Atherosclerosis* 2020;**309**:16-26. [DOI: 10.1016/j.atherosclerosis.2020.07.027] [PMID: 32858395]

Opstal 2022

Opstal TS, van Broekhoven A, Ernoud TL, Fiolet AT, Mosterd A, Eikelboom JW, et al. Long-term efficacy of colchicine in patients with chronic coronary disease: insights from LoDoCo2. *Circulation* 2022;**145**(8):626-8. [PMID: 35188792]



Ozen 2021

Ozen G, Pedro S, Schumacher R, Simon T, Michaud K. Risk factors for venous thromboembolism and atherosclerotic cardiovascular disease: do they differ in patients with rheumatoid arthritis? *RMD Open* 2021;**7**(2):e001618. [DOI: 10.1136/rmdopen-2021-001618] [PMID: 34193517]

Pant 2014

Pant S, Deshmukh A, Gurumurthy GS, Pothineni NV, Watts TE, Romeo F, et al. Inflammation and atherosclerosis--revisited. *Journal of Cardiovascular Pharmacology and Therapeutics* 2014;**19**(2):170-8. [DOI: 10.1177/1074248413504994] [PMID: 24177335]

Papageorgiou 2017

Papageorgiou N, Briasoulis A, Lazaros G, Imazio M, Tousoulis D. Colchicine for prevention and treatment of cardiac diseases: a meta-analysis. *Cardiovascular Therapeutics* 2017;**35**(1):10-8. [PMID: 10.1111/1755-5922.12226] [PMID: 27580061]

Parry 2021

Parry C, Johnston-Fleece M, Johnson MC Jr, Shifreen A, Clauser SB. Patient-centered approaches to transitional care research and implementation: overview and insights from patient-centered outcomes research institute's transitional care portfolio. *Medical Care* 2021;**59(Suppl 4)**:S330-S5. [PMID: 34228014]

Paschke 2013

Paschke S, Weidner AF, Paust T, Marti O, Beil M, Ben-Chetrit E. Technical advance: Inhibition of neutrophil chemotaxis by colchicine is modulated through viscoelastic properties of subcellular compartments. *Journal of Leukocyte Biology* 2013;**94**(5):1091-6. [DOI: 10.1189/jlb.1012510] [PMID: 23901122]

Patel 2022

Patel NH, Dey AK, Sorokin AV, Teklu M, Petrole R, Zhou W, et al. Chronic inflammatory diseases and coronary heart disease: insights from cardiovascular CT. *Journal of Cardiovascular Computed Tomography* 2022;**16**(1):7-18. [DOI: 10.1016/ j.jcct.2021.06.003] [PMID: 34226164]

Peduzzi 1988

Peduzzi P. General statistical design considerations of randomized clinical trials. *Progress in Clinical and Biological Research* 1988;**264**:61-70. [PMID: 3289035]

Pereira 2011

Pereira TV, Ioannidis JP. Statistically significant meta-analyses of clinical trials have modest credibility andinflated effects. *Journal of Clinical Epidemiology* 2011;**64**(10):1060-9. [PMID: 24411645]

Perico 1996

Perico N, Ostermann D, Bontempeill M, Morigi M, Amuchastegui CS, Zoja C, et al. Colchicine interferes with L-selectin and leukocyte function-associated antigen-1 expression on human T lymphocytes and inhibits T cell activation. *Journal of the American Society of Nephrology* 1996;**7**(4):594-601. [DOI: 10.1681/ASN.V74594]

Pircher 2019

Pircher J, Engelmann B, Massberg S, Schulz C. Plateletneutrophil crosstalk in atherothrombosis. *Thrombosis* and Haemostasis 2019;**119**(8):1274-82. [DOI: 10.1055/ s-0039-1692983] [PMID: 31254975]

Plotz 2022

Plotz B, Pillinger M, Samuels J. Colchicine and clinical trials for hand osteoarthritis. *Osteoarthritis and Cartilage* 2022;**30**(1):172-3. [DOI: 10.1016/j.joca.2020.12.026] [PMID: 33636316]

Rahman 2017

Rahman M S, Woollard K. Atherosclerosis. *Advances in Experimental Medicine and Biology* 2017;**1003**:121-44. [DOI: 10.1007/978-3-319-57613-8_7] [PMID: 28667557]

Rajapakse 2001

Rajapakse R, Warman J, Korelitz BI. Colchicine for persistent constipation after total abdominal colectomy with ileorectostomy for colonic inertia. *Journal of Clinical Gastroenterology* 2001;**33**(1):81-4. [DOI: 10.1097/00004836-200107000-00022] [PMID: 11418801]

Rambaldi 2001

Rambaldi A, Gluud C. Colchicine for alcoholic and nonalcoholic liver fibrosis and cirrhosis. *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews* 2001, Issue 3. Art. No: CD002148. [DOI: 10.1002/14651858.CD002148.pub2]

Reglero-Real 2021

Reglero-Real N, Pérez-Gutiérrez L, Yoshimura A, Rolas L, Garrido-Mesa J, Barkaway A, et al. Autophagy modulates endothelial junctions to restrain neutrophil diapedesis during inflammation. *Immunity* 2021;**54**(9):1989-2004.e9. [DOI: 10.1016/j.immuni.2021.07.012]

RevMan 2024 [Computer program]

Review Manager (RevMan). Version 8.6.1. The Cochrane Collaboration, 2024. Available at https://revman.cochrane.org.

Richette 2010

Richette P, Bardin T. Colchicine for the treatment of gout. *Expert Opinion on Pharmacotherapy* 2010;**11**(17):2933-8. [DOI: 10.1517/14656566.2010.529432] [PMID: 21050036]

Ridker 2018

Ridker PM. Clinician's guide to reducing inflammation to reduce atherothrombotic risk: JACC review topic of the week. *Journal of the American College of Cardiology* 2018;**72**(25):3320-31. [DOI: 10.1016/j.jacc.2018.06.082] [PMID: 30415883]

Riley 2011

Riley RD, Higgins JP, Deeks JJ. Interpretation of random effects meta-analyses. *BMJ* 2011;**342**:d549. [DOI: 10.1136/bmj.d549] [PMID: 21310794]

Roberts 2015

Roberts I, Ker K, Edwards P, Beecher D, Manno D, Sydenham E. The knowledge system underpinning healthcare is not fit



for purpose and must change. *BMJ* 2015;**350**:h2463. [PMID: 26041754]

Roll-Mecak 2020

Roll-Mecak A. The tubulin code in microtubule dynamics and information encoding. *Developmental Cell* 2020;**54**(1):7-20. [DOI: 10.1016/j.devcel.2020.06.008] [PMID: 32634400]

Rollot 2004

Rollot F, Pajot O, Chauvelot-Moachon L, Nazal EM, Kélaïdi C, Blanche P. Acute colchicine intoxication during clarithromycin administration. *Annals of Pharmacotherapy* 2004;**38**(12):2074-7. [DOI: 10.1345/aph.1E197] [PMID: 15494379]

Roman 2020

Roman YM, Hernandez AV, White CM. The role of suppressing inflammation in the treatment of atherosclerotic cardiovascular disease. *Annals of Pharmacotherapy* 2020;**54**(10):1021-9. [DOI: 10.1177/1060028020922994] [PMID: 32425120]

Roth 2020

Roth GA, Mensah GA, Johnson CO, Addolorato G, Ammirati E, Baddour LM, GBD-NHLBI-JACC Global Burden of Cardiovascular Diseases Writing Group. Global burden of cardiovascular diseases and risk factors, 1990-2019: update from the GBD 2019 Study. *Journal of the American College of Cardiology* 2020;**76**(25):2982-3021. [DOI: 10.1016/j.jacc.2020.11.010] [PMID: 33309175]

Roubille 2020

Roubille F, Tardif JC. Colchicine for secondary cardiovascular prevention in coronary disease. *Circulation* 2020;**142**(20):1901-4. [DOI: 10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.120.051240] [PMID: 33196312]

Rudolph 1977

Rudolph SA, Greengard P, Malawista SE. Effects of colchicine on cyclic AMP levels in human leukocytes. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* 1977;**74**(8):3404-8. [DOI: 10.1073/pnas.74.8.3404] [PMID: 198784]

Sabouraud 1994

Sabouraud A, Chappey O, Dupin T, Scherrmann JM. Binding of colchicine and thiocolchicoside to human serum proteins and blood cells. *International Journal of Clinical Pharmacology and Therapeutics* 1994;**32**(8):429-32. [PMID: 7981928]

Salih 2017

Salih M, Smer A, Charnigo R, Ayan M, Darrat YH, Traina M, et al. Colchicine for prevention of post-cardiac procedure atrial fibrillation: meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. *International Journal of Cardiology* 2017;**243**:258-62. [DOI: 10.1016/j.ijcard.2017.04.022] [PMID: 28747027]

Samuel 2020

Samuel M, Waters DD. Will colchicine soon be part of primary and secondary cardiovascular prevention? *Canadian Journal of Cardiology* 2020;**36**(11):1697-99. [PMID: 32585327]

Samuel 2021

Samuel M, Tardif JC, Khairy P, Roubille F, Waters DD, Grégoire JC, et al. Cost-effectiveness of low-dose colchicine after myocardial infarction in the Colchicine Cardiovascular Outcomes Trial (COLCOT). *European Heart Journal. Quality of Care & Clinical Outcomes* 2021;**7**(5):486-95.

Santesso 2020

Santesso N, Glenton C, Dahm P, Garner P, Akl EA, Alper B, et al. GRADE guidelines 26: informative statements to communicate the findings of systematic reviews of interventions. *Journal of Clinical Epidemiology* 2020;**119**:126-35. [DOI: 10.1016/ j.jclinepi.2019.10.014] [PMID: 31711912]

Savovic 2012

Savovic J, Jones HE, Altman DG, Harris RJ, Juni P, Pildal J, et al. Influence of reported study design characteristics on intervention effect estimates from randomized, controlled trials. *Annals of Internal Medicine* 2012;**157**(6):429-38. [PMID: 22945832]

Schrottmaier 2020

Schrottmaier WC, Mussbacher M, Salzmann M, Assinger A. Platelet-leukocyte interplay during vascular disease. *Atherosclerosis* 2020;**307**:109-20. [DOI: 10.1016/ j.atherosclerosis.2020.04.018] [PMID: 32439204]

Schünemann 2019a

Schünemann HJ, Higgins JP, Vist G E, Glasziou P, Akl E A, Skoetz N, et al. Chapter 14: Completing 'Summary of findings' tables and grading the certainty of the evidence. In: Higgins JP, Thomas J, Chandler J, Cumpston M, Li T, Page MJ, Welch VA, editors(s). Cochrane Handbook for Systematic Reviews of Interventions. 2nd edition. Chichester (UK): John Wiley & Sons, 2019:375-402.

Schünemann 2019b

Schünemann HJ, Vist GE, Higgins JP, Santesso N, Deeks JJ, Glasziou P, et al. Chapter 15: Interpreting results and drawing conclusions. In: Higgins JP, Thomas J, Chandler J, Cumpston M, Li T, Page MJ, Welch VA, editor(s). Cochrane Handbook for Systematic Reviews of Interventions Version 6.0 (updated July 2019). Cochrane, 2019. Available from https:// training.cochrane.org/handbook/archive/v6/chapter-15.

Semb 2017

Semb AG. Handbook of Cardiovascular Disease Management in Rheumatoid Arthritis. 1st edition. Switzerland: Springer International Publishing AG, 2017. [ISBN: 978-3-319-26782-1 (eBook)]

Shah 2020

Shah B, Toprover M, Crittenden DB, Jeurling S, Pike VC, Krasnokutsky S, et al. Colchicine use and incident coronary artery disease in male patients with gout. *Canadian Journal of Cardiology* 2020;**36**(11):1722-8. [PMID: 32454073]

Shi 2010

Shi GP. Immunomodulation of vascular diseases: atherosclerosis and autoimmunity. *European Journal of*



Vascular and Endovascular Surgery 2010;**39**(4):485-94. [DOI: 10.1016/j.ejvs.2010.01.028] [PMID: 20188603]

Siak 2021

Siak J, Flint N, Shmueli HG, Siegel RJ, Rader F. The use of colchicine in cardiovascular diseases - a systematic review. *American Journal of Medicine* 2021;**134**(6):735-44.e1. [DOI: 10.1016/j.amjmed.2021.01.019] [PMID: 33609528]

Sinanoglu 2018

Sinanoglu O, Kurtulus FO, Akgün FS. Long-term effect of colchicine treatment in preventing urethral stricture recurrence after internal urethrotomy. *Urology Journal* 2018;**15**(4):204-8. [DOI: 10.22037/uj.v0i0.4198] [PMID: 29681046]

Slobodnick 2015

Slobodnick A, Shah B, Pillinger MH, Krasnokutsky S. Colchicine: old and new. *American Journal of Medicine* 2015;**128**(5):461-70. [DOI: 10.1016/j.amjmed.2014.12.010] [PMID: 25554368]

Stata [Computer program]

Stata. Version 17. College Station, TX, USA: StataCorp, 2024. Available from https://www.stata.com.

Sterne 2011

Sterne JA, Sutton AJ, Ioannidis JP, Terrin N, Jones DR, Lau J, et al. Recommendations for examining and interpreting funnel plot asymmetry in meta-analyses of randomised controlled trials. *BMJ* 2011;**343**:d4002. [DOI: 10.1136/bmj.d4002] [PMID: 21784880]

Stewart 2020

Stewart S, Yang KC, Atkins K, Dalbeth N, Robinson PC. Adverse events during oral colchicine use: a systematic review and meta-analysis of randomised controlled trials. *Arthritis Research and Therapy* 2020;**22**(1):28. [DOI: 10.1186/s13075-020-2120-7] [PMID: 32054504]

Tardif 2019

Tardif JC, Kouz S, Waters DD, Bertrand OF, Diaz R, Maggioni AP, et al. Efficacy and safety of low-dose colchicine after myocardial infarction. *New England Journal of Medicine* 2019;**381**(26):2497-505. [DOI: 10.1056/NEJMoa1912388] [PMID: 31733140]

Taylor 1965

Taylor EW. The mechanism of colchicine inhibition of mitosis. I. Kinetics of inhibition and the binding of H3-colchicine. *Journal of Cell Biology* 1965;**25**(1 Suppl):145-60. [DOI: 10.1083/ jcb.25.1.145] [PMID: 14342828]

Terkeltaub 2009

Terkeltaub RA. Colchicine update: 2008. Seminars in Arthritis and Rheumatism 2009;**38**(6):411-9. [DOI: 10.1016/ j.semarthrit.2008.08.006 Abstract] [PMID: 18973929]

Thompson 2019

Thompson PL. Colchicine in cardiovascular disease: repurposing an ancient gout drug. *Clinical Therapeutics* 2019;**41**(1):8-10. [DOI: 10.1016/j.clinthera.2018.11.014] [PMID: 30594311]

Colchicine for the primary prevention of cardiovascular events (Review) Copyright © 2025 The Cochrane Collaboration. Published by John Wiley & Sons, Ltd.

Thornton 2000

Thornton A, Lee PJ. Publication bias in meta-analysis: its causes and consequences. *Journal of Clinical Epidemiology* 2000;**53**(2):207-16. [PMID: 10729693]

Tong 2016

Tong DC, Wilson AM, Layland J. Colchicine in cardiovascular disease: an ancient drug with modern tricks. *Heart* 2016;**102**(13):995-1002. [DOI: 10.1136/heartjnl-2015-309211] [PMID: 26993138]

Tong 2020

Tong DC, Quinn S, Nasis A, Hiew C, Roberts-Thomson P, Adams H, et al. Colchicine in patients with acute coronary syndrome: the Australian COPS randomized clinical trial. *Circulation* 2020;**142**:1890-900. [PMID: 32862667]

Trivedi 2014

Trivedi C, Sadadia M. Colchicine in prevention of atrial fibrillation following cardiac surgery: systematic review and meta-analysis. *Indian Journal of Pharmacology* 2014;**46**(6):590-5. [DOI: 10.4103/0253-7613.144905] [PMID: 25538328]

Tsivgoulis 2018

Tsivgoulis G, Katsanos AH, Giannopoulos G, Panagopoulou V, Jatuzis D, Lemmens R, et al. The role of colchicine in the prevention of cerebrovascular ischemia. *Current Pharmaceutical Design* 2018;**24**(6):668-74. [DOI: 10.2174/1381612824666180116100310] [PMID: 29336246]

Van Nuland 2017

Van Nuland SE, Rogers KA. Academic nightmares: predatory publishing. *Anatomical Sciences Education* 2017;**10**:392-4. [DOI: 10.1002/ase.1671] [PMID: 27911990]

Vanuzzo 2011

Vanuzzo D. The epidemiological concept of residual risk. Internal and Emergency Medicine 2011;6(Suppl 1):45-51. [DOI: 10.1007/s11739-011-0669-5] [PMID: 22009612]

Verma 2015

Verma S, Eikelboom JW, Nidorf SM, Al-Omran M, Gupta N, Teoh H, et al. Colchicine in cardiac disease: a systematic review and meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. *BMC Cardiovascular Disorders* 2015;**15**:96. [DOI: 10.1186/ s12872-015-0068-3] [PMID: 26318871]

Verne 1997

Verne GN, Eaker EY, Davis RH, Sninsky CA. Colchicine is an effective treatment for patients with chronic constipation: an open-label trial. *Digestive Diseases and Sciences* 1997;**42**(9):1959-63. [DOI: 10.1023/a:1018883731556] [PMID: 9331162]

Verne 2003

Verne GN, Davis RH, Robinson ME, Gordon JM, Eaker EY, Sninksy CA. Treatment of chronic constipation with colchicine: randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled, crossover trial. *American Journal of Gastroenterology* 2003;**98**(5):1112-6. [DOI: 10.1111/j.1572-0241.2003.07417.x] [PMID: 12809836] Cochrane Library

Trusted evidence. Informed decisions. Better health.

Veronese 2018

Veronese N, Stubbs B, Solmi M, Smith TO, Reginster JY, Maggi S. Osteoarthristis increases the risk of cardiovascular disease: data from the osteoarthritis initiative. *Journal of Nutrition, Health, and Aging* 2018;**22**(3):371-6. [DOI: 10.1007/s12603-017-0941-0] [PMID: 29484350]

Vicente 2021

Vicente GN, Pereira IA, de Castro GR, da Mota LM, Carnieletto AP, de Souza DG, et al. Cardiovascular risk comorbidities in rheumatoid arthritis patients and the use of anti-rheumatic drugs: a cross-sectional real-life study. *Advances in Rheumatology* 2021;**61**(1):38. [DOI: 10.1186/ s42358-021-00186-4] [PMID: 34172097]

Vilardell 1978

Vilardell F. Prolonged remission with colchicine in a case of familial Mediterranean fever. *Revista Clinica Española* 1978;**149**(1):97-8. [PMID: 674762]

Villa Zapata 2020

Villa Zapata L, Hansten PD, Horn JR, Boyce RD, Gephart S, Subbian V, et al. Evidence of clinically meaningful drugdrug interaction with concomitant use of colchicine and clarithromycin. *Drug Safety* 2020;**43**(7):661-8. [DOI: 10.1007/ s40264-020-00930-7] [PMID: 32274687]

Wang 2016

Wang MX, Deng XL, Mu BY, Cheng YJ, Chen YJ, Wang Q, et al. Effect of colchicine in prevention of pericardial effusion and atrial fibrillation: a meta-analysis. *International and Emergency Medicine* 2016 **;11**(6):867-76. [DOI: 10.1007/s11739-016-1496-5] [PMID: 27378573]

Whayne 2021

Whayne TF Jr. Inflammation may be the future of cardiovascular risk reduction: Does colchicine have a current Indication? *American Journal of Cardiovascular Drugs* 2021;**21**(1):1-10. [DOI: 10.1007/s40256-020-00408-y] [PMID: 32356107]

Wilson 1976

Wilson L. Microtubules as drug receptors: pharmacological properties of microtubule protein. *Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences* 1976;**253**:213-31. [DOI: 10.1111/j.1749-6632.1975.tb19201.x.] [PMID: 1096718]

CHARACTERISTICS OF STUDIES

Characteristics of included studies [ordered by study ID]

Wolf 2019

Wolf D, Ley K. Immunity and inflammation in atherosclerosis. *Circulation Research* 2019;**124**(2):315-37. [DOI: 10.1161/ CIRCRESAHA.118.313591] [PMID: 30653442]

Xia 2021

Xia M, Yang X, Qian C. Meta-analysis evaluating the utility of colchicine in secondary prevention of coronary artery disease. *American Journal of Cardiology* 2021;**140**:33-8. [DOI: 10.1016/j.amjcard.2020.10.043] [PMID: 33137319]

Yalcinkaya 2021

Yalcinkaya D, Yarlioglues M, Ergun E, Celik IE, Oksuz F, Cicek G, et al. Severe cardiovascular involvement in a patient with rheumatoid arthritis. *Kardiologia Polska* 2021;**79**(5):577-8. [DOI: 10.33963/KP.15879]

Zhang 2022

Zhang M, Wang M, Tai Y, Tao J, Zhou W, Han Y, et al. Triggers of cardiovascular diseases in rheumatoid arthritis. *Current Problems in Cardiology* 2022;**47**(6):100853. [DOI: 10.1016/ j.cpcardiol.2021.100853] [PMID: 34016483]

Zhao 2022

Zhao M, Wu J, Wu H, Sawalha A, Lu Q. Clinical treatment options in scleroderma: recommendations and comprehensive review. *Clinical Reviews in Allergy and Immunology* 2022;**62**(2):273-91. [DOI: 10.1007/s12016-020-08831-4] [PMID: 33449302]

Zhu 2018

Zhu Y, Xian X, Wang Z, Bi Y, Chen Q, Han X, et al. Research progress on the relationship between atherosclerosis and inflammation. *Biomolecules* 2018;**8**(3):80. [DOI: 10.3390/biom8030080] [PMID: 30142970]

References to other published versions of this review

Martí-Carvajal 2022

Martí-Carvajal AJ, De Sanctis JB, Hidalgo R, Martí-Amarista CE, Alegría E, Correa-Pérez A, et al. Colchicine for the primary prevention of cardiovascular events. *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews* 2022, Issue 6. Art. No: CD015003. [DOI: 10.1002/14651858.CD015003]

* Indicates the major publication for the study

Study characterist	tics	
Methods	1. Study design: parallel	
	2. Number of arms: 2 arms	
	3. Duration: 1 year	
	4. Follow-up period: 30 days (approx. 4 weeks)	
	5. Run-in period: not stated	



Bessissow 2018 (Continued)

Trusted evidence. Informed decisions. Better health.

	6. Run-in period time: not applicable
	7. Multicentre (number of centres): yes (2)
	8. International: no
	9. Country: Canada
	10.Study setting: inpatient and outpatient
Participants	1. Type of disease: perioperative atrial fibrillation (POAF) in lung resection surgery
	2. Diagnosis criteria: "new-onset atrial fibrillation developing after induction of anesthesia until the end
	of follow-up." (supplementary material page 1)
	3. Severity: not stated
	4. Total randomised: 100 participants
	a. Colonicitie: 49
	D. Placebol 51 E. Number lest to follow up/withdrawn (%): 20 (20)
	a. Colchicine: 14 (28.6)
	b. Placebo: 15 (29.4)
	6. Total analysed: 100 participants
	a. Colchicine: 49
	b. Placebo: 51
	7. Age, years, mean (SD)
	a. Colchicine: 68.9 (7.5)
	b. Placebo: 68.3 (7.4)
	8. Sex, male % (males/total)
	a. Colonicine: 32.6 (16/49)
	D. Placebo: 56.8 (29/51)
	9. DMI: NOU Stated
	10.115-CKF Dasal level. Not stated
	12 Inclusion criteria:
	a. All participants ≥ 55 years of age in sinus rhythm undergoing resection of a tumour in the lung (malignant, benign, or unknown) during the study period.
	13.Exclusion criteria:
	a. Participants in AF or atrial flutter just prior to surgery
	b. Participants undergoing only minor thoracic interventions or procedures (i.e., chest tube insertion, needle pleural/lung biopsy, minor chest-wall surgeries, or mediastinoscopy).
	c. Participants with contraindications to colchicine (i.e., allergy, myelodysplastic disorders, pregnan- cy, or estimated glomerular filtration rate [e-GFR] <30 ml/min/1.73m2)
	d. Participants not expected to take oral medications for >24 hours after surgery (e.g., esophagecto-
	my)
	e. Participants taking non-study colchicine before surgery
Interventions	1. Intervention
	a. Drug: Colchicine
	b. Pharmaceutical laboratory: Pharmascience
	c. Dose: 0.6 mg, twice daily for 10 days
	d. Administration route: oral
	a. Drug: Placebo (composition not stated)
	h. Dose: 0.6 mg. twice daily for 10 days
	c Administration route: oral
	3. Co-intervention: not stated.
	4. Prohibited medications: not stated.
Outcomes	1. Primary (baseline to day 30)

Colchicine for the primary prevention of cardiovascular events (Review)



Bessissow 2018 (Continued)

Trusted evidence. Informed decisions. Better health.

	 a. New onset period a. Secondary (baseline a. Death b. Myocardial injury c. Myocardial infare d. Stroke and trans e. Clinically import f. Clinically import g. Life-threatening h. Serious adverseding i. Sepsis/infections j. Non-infectious d k. Length of hospita 	perative atrial fibrillation (POAF) of any duration. e to day 30) y after noncardiac surgery (MINS) ction after MINS ient ischaemic attack (TIA) ant bradycardia ant hypotension bleeding events s liarrhoea al stay
Notes	 Trial registration number: COPAF131001* Date of trial conduction: April 2014 to April 2015 A priori sample size estimation: not stated Financial disclosure: supported by grants from the Canadian Institutes of Health Research, Physicians Services Incorporated and the Division of General Internal Medicine at McMaster University. Disclosure comment: "none declared" (page 950, main reference) Ethical committee approved: yes Published in a predatory journal: no *Not stated in the publication 	
Risk of bias		
Bias	Authors' judgement	Support for judgement
Random sequence genera- tion (selection bias)	Low risk	Quote: " via an Interactive Web Randomization System (IWRS) maintained by the coordinating centre at the Population Health Research Institute (PHRI) in Hamilton, Ontario." page 946.
Allocation concealment (selection bias)	Low risk	Quote: " via an Interactive Web Randomization System (IWRS) maintained by the coordinating centre at the Population Health Research Institute (PHRI) in Hamilton, Ontario." page 946.
Blinding of participants and personnel (perfor- mance bias) All outcomes	Low risk	Quote: "Colchicine was () undertook drug over-encapsulation (i.e. to make an identical appearing placebo), labelling, packaging and shipping." page 496.
Blinding of outcome as- sessment (detection bias) All outcomes	Unclear risk	Comment: insufficient information to judge "high" or "low" risk of bias.
Incomplete outcome data (attrition bias) All outcomes	High risk	 Randomised: 100 Colchicine: 49 Placebo: 51 Withdrawals: 29 Colchicine: 14 (28.57%) Placebo: 15 (29.4%)

Note: page 950.

Colchicine for the primary prevention of cardiovascular events (Review)



Bessis	sow 2018	(Continued)
--------	----------	-------------

Selective reporting (re- porting bias)	Low risk	Trialists reported the main clinical predefined outcomes in this review.
Other bias	High risk	Design bias and confusion biases. The combination of lack of a priori sample size and high risk of attrition yielded these biases. The ethics of an RCT design starts with the estimation of the sample size for comparing the hypothesis. And, the attrition bias generates distortion of the original sample size either quantitatively or qualitatively.

Bodenheimer 1988

Study characteristic	S
Methods	1. Study design: parallel
	2. Number of arms: 2 arms
	3. Duration: 5 years
	4. Follow-up period: 4 years (208 weeks)
	5. Run-in period: not stated
	6. Run-in period time: not apply
	7. Multicentre (number of centres): yes (2)
	8. International: no
	9. Country: the USA
	10.Study setting: outpatient
Participants	1. Type of disease: primary biliary cirrhosis (currently known as primary biliary cholangitis NIDDK 2021)
	2. Diagnosis criteria: liver biopsy confirmed
	3. Severity: "all four stages of the disease were represented." (page 125)
	4. Total randomised: 57 participants
	a. Colchicine: 28
	b. Placebo: 29
	 Number lost to follow-up/withdrawn (%): 10 (17.54) a. Colchicine: 5 (17.85)
	b. Placebo: 5 (17.24)
	6. Total analysed: 47 participants
	a. Colchicine: 23
	b. Placebo: 24
	 Age, years, mean a. Colchicine: 53
	b. Placebo: 51
	 Sex, male % (males/total) a. Colchicine: 7.1 (2/28)
	b. Placebo: 10.3 (3/29)
	9. BMI: not stated
	10.hs-CRP basal level: not stated
	11.Participants with cardiovascular risk factors: not stated
	12.Inclusion criteria: a. History of chronic cholestatic liver disease and liver biopsy results compatible with primary biliary cirrhosis.
	13.Exclusion criteria: not stated
Interventions	1. Intervention
	a. Drug: Colchicine

Colchicine for the primary prevention of cardiovascular events (Review)



Bodenheimer 1988 (Continued)	
	b. Pharmaceutical laboratory: Eli Lilly and Company (Indianapolis, USA)
	c. Dose: 0.6 mg, twice daily for 4 years
	d. Administration route: oral
	2. Comparison/Control
	a. Drug: placebo (composition not stated)
	b. Dose: twice daily for 4 years
	c. Administration route: oral
	3. Co-intervention: cholestyramine, calcium, and vitamins.
	4. Prohibited medications: not stated
Outcomes	Alkaline phosphatase (baseline through year 4)
	ALT (baseline through year 4)
	Bilirubin (baseline through year 4)
	• IgM (baseline through year 4)
	Pathologic stage of the disease (baseline through year 4)
Notes	1. Trial registration number: not stated
	2. Date of trial conduction: not stated
	3. A priori sample size estimation: not stated
	4. Financial disclosure: Eli Lilly and Company supplied the drug and placebo
	5. Disclosure comment: not stated
	6. Ethical committee approved: yes
	7. Published in a predatory journal: no
Risk of bias	
Bias	Authors' judgement Support for judgement

	, ,	
Random sequence genera- tion (selection bias)	Unclear risk	Quote: "The randomization process produced two subject cohorts" page 125.
		Insufficient information to judge a "High" or "Low" risk of bias
Allocation concealment (selection bias)	Unclear risk	Insufficient information to judge a "High" or "Low" risk of bias.
Blinding of participants and personnel (perfor- mance bias) All outcomes	Low risk	Quote: "The design of our trial was that of a double-blind, randomized eval- uation of colchicine () twice daily compared with an identically appearing placebo." page 125
Blinding of outcome as- sessment (detection bias) All outcomes	Unclear risk	Insufficient information to judge a "High" or "Low" risk of bias.
Incomplete outcome data (attrition bias) All outcomes	High risk	 Total sample: 57 Colchicine: 28 Placebo: 29 Withdrawals: 17.54 % (10/57) due to non-compliance. Colchicine: 17.85 % (5/28) Placebo:17.24 % (5/29)
Selective reporting (re- porting bias)	Low risk	This trial reported all-cause mortality and gastrointestinal adverse events (di- arrhoea).
Other bias	High risk	Design bias: no information about sample size estimation a priori.

Colchicine for the primary prevention of cardiovascular events (Review)



Bodenheimer 1988 (Continued)

Confusion bias: high attrition bias yielded qualitative and quantitative distortion of the original sample size.

Buligescu 1989	
Study characteristics	
Methods	 Study design: parallel Number of arms: 2 arms Duration: not stated Follow-up period: 3 years (156 weeks) Run-in period: not stated Run-in period time: not applicable Multicentre (number of centres): not stated International: no Country: Romania Study setting: outpatient
Participants	 Type of disease: liver cirrhosis Diagnosis criteria: not stated Severity: not stated Total randomised: 180 participants Colchicine: 100 Control: 80 Number lost to follow-up/withdrawn (%): not stated Total analysed: not stated Age, years: not stated Sex: not stated Sex: not stated Ml: not stated not stated Participants with cardiovascular risk factors: not stated Lnclusion criteria: not stated Exclusion criteria: not stated
Interventions	 Intervention Intervention Drug: Colchicine Pharmaceutical laboratory: not stated Dose: 1 mg daily for 3 years Administration route: oral Comparison/Control The trial did not adequately describe the nature of the control group/condition. Dose: not stated Administration route: not stated Co-intervention: not stated Prohibited medications: not stated
Outcomes	 Serum bilirubin Alkaline phosphatase AST/ALT Serum albumin Serum gamma globulins



Buligescu 1989 (Continued)

- Prothrombin time (PT)
- Risk if jaundice
- Mortality

Notes	1. Trial registration number: not stated
	2. Date of trial conduction: not stated
	3. A priori sample size estimation: not stated
	4. Financial disclosure: not stated
	5. Disclosure comment: not stated
	6. The ethical committee approved: not stated
	7. Published in a predatory journal: no

8. Data gathered from conference abstract

Risk of bias

Bias	Authors' judgement	Support for judgement
Random sequence genera- tion (selection bias)	Unclear risk	Quote: "by a prospective randomized clinical trial" page S12 Comment: insufficient information to judge as "high" or "low" risk of bias.
Allocation concealment (selection bias)	Unclear risk	Quote: "by a prospective randomized clinical trial" page S12 Comment: insufficient information to judge as "high" or "low" risk of bias.
Blinding of participants and personnel (perfor- mance bias) All outcomes	Unclear risk	Comment: insufficient information to judge as "high" or "low" risk of bias.
Blinding of outcome as- sessment (detection bias) All outcomes	Unclear risk	Comment: insufficient information to judge as "high" or "low" risk of bias.
Incomplete outcome data (attrition bias) All outcomes	Unclear risk	 Randomised: 180 Colchicine: 100 Usual care: 80 There was no information about dropouts.
Selective reporting (re- porting bias)	Low risk	Reported adverse event (diarrhoea) in four participants. Trial did not mention the occurrences by comparison groups.
Other bias	Unclear risk	Comment: insufficient information to judge as "high" or "low" risk of bias.

Cortez-Pinto 2002

Study characteristics	
Methods	 Study design: parallel Number of arms: 2 arms
	3. Duration: 11 years
	4. Follow-up period: 10 years (520 weeks)
	5. Run-in period: not stated



 6. Run-in period time: not applicable 7. Multicentre (number of centres): not stated 8. International: no 9. Country: Portugal 10.Study setting: outpatient Participants Type of disease: alcoholic liver cirrhosis Diagnosis criteria: biopsy-proven liver cirrhosis and alcohol intake history Severity: Child-Pugh A or B Total randomised: 62 participants a. Colchicine: 31 participants b. Placebo: 31 participants colchicine: not stated Placebo: not stated Total analysed: 55 participants a. Colchicine: 29 b. Placebo: 26 7. Age, years, mean (SD) a. Colchicine: 53.2 (8.5) b. Placebo: 54.4 (9.1) Sex, male% (males/total) a. Colchicine: 93.1 (27/29) b. Placebo: 84.6 (22/26)
7. Multicentre (number of centres): not stated 8. International: no 9. Country: Portugal 10.Study setting: outpatient Participants 1. Type of disease: alcoholic liver cirrhosis 2. Diagnosis criteria: biopsy-proven liver cirrhosis and alcohol intake history 3. Severity: Child-Pugh A or B 4. Total randomised: 62 participants a. Colchicine: 31 participants b. Placebo: 31 participants 5. Number lost to follow-up/withdrawn (%): 33 (53.2) a. Colchicine: not stated b. Placebo: not stated c. Total analysed: 55 participants a. Colchicine: 29 b. Placebo: 26 7. Age, years, mean (SD) a. Colchicine: 53.2 (8.5) b. Placebo: 54.4 (9.1) 8. Sex, male % (males/total) a. Colchicine: 93.1 (27/29) b. Placebo: 84.6 (22/26)
8. International: no 9. Country: Portugal 10.Study setting: outpatient Participants 1. Type of disease: alcoholic liver cirrhosis 2. Diagnosis criteria: biopsy-proven liver cirrhosis and alcohol intake history 3. Severity: Child-Pugh A or B 4. Total randomised: 62 participants a. Colchicine: 31 participants b. Placebo: 31 participants 5. Number lost to follow-up/withdrawn (%): 33 (53.2) a. Colchicine: not stated b. Placebo: not stated c. Total analysed: 55 participants a. Colchicine: 29 b. Placebo: 26 7. Age, years, mean (SD) a. Colchicine: 53.2 (8.5) b. Placebo: 54.4 (9.1) a. Colchicine: 93.1 (27/29) b. Placebo: 84.6 (22/26)
9. Country: Portugal 10.Study setting: outpatient Participants 1. Type of disease: alcoholic liver cirrhosis 2. Diagnosis criteria: biopsy-proven liver cirrhosis and alcohol intake history 3. Severity: Child-Pugh A or B 4. Total randomised: 62 participants a. Colchicine: 31 participants b. Placebo: 31 participants 5. Number lost to follow-up/withdrawn (%): 33 (53.2) a. Colchicine: not stated b. Placebo: not stated c. Total analysed: 55 participants a. Colchicine: 29 b. Placebo: 26 7. Age, years, mean (SD) a. Colchicine: 53.2 (8.5) b. Placebo: 54.4 (9.1) 8. Sex, male % (males/total) a. Colchicine: 93.1 (27/29) b. Placebo: 84.6 (22/26)
10.Study setting: outpatient Participants 1. Type of disease: alcoholic liver cirrhosis 2. Diagnosis criteria: biopsy-proven liver cirrhosis and alcohol intake history 3. Severity: Child-Pugh A or B 4. Total randomised: 62 participants a. Colchicine: 31 participants b. Placebo: 31 participants 5. Number lost to follow-up/withdrawn (%): 33 (53.2) a. Colchicine: not stated b. Placebo: not stated c. Total analysed: 55 participants a. Colchicine: 29 b. Placebo: 26 7. Age, years, mean (SD) a. Colchicine: 53.2 (8.5) b. Placebo: 54.4 (9.1) 8. Sex, male % (males/total) a. Colchicine: 83.1 (27/29) b. Placebo: 84.6 (22/26)
Participants 1. Type of disease: alcoholic liver cirrhosis 2. Diagnosis criteria: biopsy-proven liver cirrhosis and alcohol intake history 3. Severity: Child-Pugh A or B 4. Total randomised: 62 participants a. Colchicine: 31 participants b. Placebo: 31 participants 5. Number lost to follow-up/withdrawn (%): 33 (53.2) a. Colchicine: not stated b. Placebo: not stated c. Total analysed: 55 participants a. Colchicine: 29 b. Placebo: 26 7. Age, years, mean (SD) a. Colchicine: 53.2 (8.5) b. Placebo: 54.4 (9.1) 8. Sex, male % (males/total) a. Colchicine: 93.1 (27/29) b. Placebo: 84.6 (22/26)
 Diagnosis criteria: biopsy-proven liver cirrhosis and alcohol intake history Severity: Child-Pugh A or B Total randomised: 62 participants Colchicine: 31 participants Placebo: 31 participants Number lost to follow-up/withdrawn (%): 33 (53.2) Colchicine: not stated Placebo: not stated Placebo: 26 Total analysed: 55 participants Colchicine: 29 Placebo: 26 Age, years, mean (SD) Colchicine: 53.2 (8.5) Placebo: 54.4 (9.1) Sex, male % (males/total) Colchicine: 93.1 (27/29) Placebo: 84.6 (22/26)
 3. Severity: Child-Pugh A or B 4. Total randomised: 62 participants a. Colchicine: 31 participants b. Placebo: 31 participants 5. Number lost to follow-up/withdrawn (%): 33 (53.2) a. Colchicine: not stated b. Placebo: not stated 6. Total analysed: 55 participants a. Colchicine: 29 b. Placebo: 26 7. Age, years, mean (SD) a. Colchicine: 53.2 (8.5) b. Placebo: 54.4 (9.1) 8. Sex, male % (males/total) a. Colchicine: 93.1 (27/29) b. Placebo: 84.6 (22/26)
 4. Total randomised: 62 participants a. Colchicine: 31 participants b. Placebo: 31 participants 5. Number lost to follow-up/withdrawn (%): 33 (53.2) a. Colchicine: not stated b. Placebo: not stated 6. Total analysed: 55 participants a. Colchicine: 29 b. Placebo: 26 7. Age, years, mean (SD) a. Colchicine: 53.2 (8.5) b. Placebo: 54.4 (9.1) 8. Sex, male % (males/total) a. Colchicine: 93.1 (27/29) b. Placebo: 84.6 (22/26)
 a. Colchicine: 31 participants b. Placebo: 31 participants 5. Number lost to follow-up/withdrawn (%): 33 (53.2) a. Colchicine: not stated b. Placebo: not stated 6. Total analysed: 55 participants a. Colchicine: 29 b. Placebo: 26 7. Age, years, mean (SD) a. Colchicine: 53.2 (8.5) b. Placebo: 54.4 (9.1) 8. Sex, male % (males/total) a. Colchicine: 93.1 (27/29) b. Placebo: 84.6 (22/26)
 b. Placebo: 31 participants 5. Number lost to follow-up/withdrawn (%): 33 (53.2) a. Colchicine: not stated b. Placebo: not stated 6. Total analysed: 55 participants a. Colchicine: 29 b. Placebo: 26 7. Age, years, mean (SD) a. Colchicine: 53.2 (8.5) b. Placebo: 54.4 (9.1) 8. Sex, male % (males/total) a. Colchicine: 93.1 (27/29) b. Placebo: 84.6 (22/26)
 5. Number lost to follow-up/withdrawn (%): 33 (53.2) a. Colchicine: not stated b. Placebo: not stated 6. Total analysed: 55 participants a. Colchicine: 29 b. Placebo: 26 7. Age, years, mean (SD) a. Colchicine: 53.2 (8.5) b. Placebo: 54.4 (9.1) 8. Sex, male % (males/total) a. Colchicine: 93.1 (27/29) b. Placebo: 84.6 (22/26)
 b. Placebo: not stated 6. Total analysed: 55 participants a. Colchicine: 29 b. Placebo: 26 7. Age, years, mean (SD) a. Colchicine: 53.2 (8.5) b. Placebo: 54.4 (9.1) 8. Sex, male % (males/total) a. Colchicine: 93.1 (27/29) b. Placebo: 84.6 (22/26)
 6. Total analysed: 55 participants a. Colchicine: 29 b. Placebo: 26 7. Age, years, mean (SD) a. Colchicine: 53.2 (8.5) b. Placebo: 54.4 (9.1) 8. Sex, male % (males/total) a. Colchicine: 93.1 (27/29) b. Placebo: 84.6 (22/26)
 a. Colchicine: 29 b. Placebo: 26 7. Age, years, mean (SD) a. Colchicine: 53.2 (8.5) b. Placebo: 54.4 (9.1) 8. Sex, male % (males/total) a. Colchicine: 93.1 (27/29) b. Placebo: 84.6 (22/26)
 b. Placebo: 26 7. Age, years, mean (SD) a. Colchicine: 53.2 (8.5) b. Placebo: 54.4 (9.1) 8. Sex, male % (males/total) a. Colchicine: 93.1 (27/29) b. Placebo: 84.6 (22/26)
 7. Age, years, mean (SD) a. Colchicine: 53.2 (8.5) b. Placebo: 54.4 (9.1) 8. Sex, male % (males/total) a. Colchicine: 93.1 (27/29) b. Placebo: 84.6 (22/26)
 a. Colchicine: 53.2 (8.5) b. Placebo: 54.4 (9.1) 8. Sex, male % (males/total) a. Colchicine: 93.1 (27/29) b. Placebo: 84.6 (22/26)
 b. Placebo: 54.4 (9.1) 8. Sex, male % (males/total) a. Colchicine: 93.1 (27/29) b. Placebo: 84.6 (22/26)
 8. Sex, male % (males/total) a. Colchicine: 93.1 (27/29) b. Placebo: 84.6 (22/26)
a. Colchicine: 93.1 (27/29) b. Placebo: 84.6 (22/26)
D. Placedo: 84.6 (22/26)
9. BMI: not stated
10.ns-CRP basal level: not stated
11.Participants with cardiovascular risk factors: not stated
12.Inclusion criteria:
h Age 18 to 65 years old
c. Well-documented history of previous daily alcohol intake exceeding 40 g of ethanol in women and
60 g in men for more than 5 years
d. Other causes of liver disease were excluded
13.Exclusion criteria:
a. Other liver diseases
D. Cliffer-rugit class c c. Serum bilightin > 10 mg/dl
c. Serum bilinubili > 10 mg/dL
a. Befractory assistes
f. Serious illness (renal or cardiac failure, neoplasia)
Interventions 1. Intervention
a. Drug: Colchicine
b. Pharmaceutical laboratory: not stated
c. Dose: 1 mg daily, 5 days/week for 10 years
d. Administration route: oral
2. Comparison/Control
a. Drug: Placebo (composition not stated)
b. Dose: once daily, 5 days/week for 10 years
c. Administration route: oral
3. Co-intervention: not stated
4. Prohibited medications: not stated



Cortez-Pinto 2002 (Continued)

Outcomes	 Primary (baseline through year 10) Death from any cause Gastrointestinal bleeding Ascites Encephalopathy Jaundice Secondary (baseline through year 10) AST ALT GGT Bilirubin
Notos	1 Trial registration number: not stated
notes	2. Date of trial conduction: 1989 to 2000
	3 A priori sample size estimation: ves
	 A prior sample size estimation, yes Financial disclosure: a grant from the Center of Nutrition and Metabolism (RUN 437) partially supported the study.
	5. Disclosure comment: not stated
	6. Ethical committee approved: yes
	7. Published in a predatory journal: no

Risk of bias

Bias	Authors' judgement	Support for judgement
Random sequence genera- tion (selection bias)	Low risk	Quote: "() according to a computer-generated randomization list (blocks of four)". Page 378.
Allocation concealment (selection bias)	Low risk	Quote: "() according to a computer-generated randomization list (blocks of four)". Page 378.
Blinding of participants and personnel (perfor- mance bias) All outcomes	Low risk	Quote: "colchicine or a placebo identical in appearance, prepared at the hos- pital pharmacy." () The study drugs were coded and distributed to the pa- tient by the hospital pharmacy. At no time were the treatment codes disclosed for any patient, attending physicians or investigators". Page 378
Blinding of outcome as- sessment (detection bias) All outcomes	Unclear risk	Insufficient information to judge as "High" or "Low" risk of bias.
Incomplete outcome data (attrition bias) All outcomes	High risk	 Total sample: 62 Colchicine: 31 Placebo: 31 Total withdrawal: 33 (53%) participants before the 10 years follow-up mark, no distinction between groups. Page 379
Selective reporting (re- porting bias)	Low risk	This trial reported all-cause mortality and gastrointestinal adverse events (di- arrhoea).
Other bias	High risk	Confusion bias: the high attrition rate (60% over 10 years) poses a substantial risk of bias that could distort the original sample composition and undermine the study's internal validity.



Kaplan 1986

Study characteristics	
Methods	1. Study design: parallel
	2. Number of arms: 2 arms
	3. Duration: not stated
	 Follow-up period: 2 years (104 weeks)*
	5. Run-in period: not stated
	6. Run-in period time: not applicable
	7. Multicentre (number of centres): no
	8. International: no
	9. Country: the USA
	10.Study setting: outpatient
	*Data from the "double-blind" phase of the study, the first 2 years
Participants	1. Type of disease: primary biliary cirrhosis (currently known as primary biliary cholangitis NIDDK 2021)
	2. Diagnosis criteria: biopsy-proven primary biliary cirrhosis
	3. Severity: histologic stages 1 to 4 of primary biliary cirrhosis
	4. Total randomised: 60 participants
	a. Colchicine: 30
	b. Placebo: 30
	5. Number lost to follow-up/withdrawn (%): 10 (16.67) a. Colchicine: 5 (16.67)
	b. Placebo: 5 (16 67)
	6 Total analysed: 57 narticipants
	a. Colchicine: 28
	b. Placebo: 29
	7. Age, years: average age not stated
	 Sex, male % (males/total) a. Colchicine: 6.67 (2/30)
	b. Placebo: 3.33 (1/30)
	9. BMI: not stated
	10.hs-CRP basal level: not stated
	11.Participants with cardiovascular risk factors: not stated
	12.Inclusion criteria:
	a. Clinical history and biochemical profile consistent with primary biliary cirrhosis
	b. Positive test for antimitochondrial antibody
	c. Liver biopsy consistent with primary biliary cirrhosis
	d. Patency of the biliary ducts by radiographic or ultrasonographic evidence
	13.Exclusion criteria:
	a. End-stage liver disease
	b. Debilitating cardiovascular disease
Interventions	1. Intervention
	a. Drug: Colonicine
	b. Pharmaceutical laboratory: Eli Litty and Company (indianapolis, USA)
	d. Administration route early
	a. Administration route: orat
	a. Drug Placebo (composition not stated)
	b. Dose: twice daily for 2 years*
	c. Administration route: oral

Colchicine for the primary prevention of cardiovascular events (Review) Copyright @ 2025 The Cochrane Collaboration. Published by John Wiley & Sons, Ltd.



Kaplan 1986 (Continued)	
	3. Co-intervention: cholestyramine
	4. Prohibited medications: not stated
	*Data from the "double-blind" phase of the study, the first 2 years
Outcomes	1. Primary (baseline to year 2)
	a. Treatment failure rate
	2. Secondary (baseline to year 2)
	a. Albumin
	b. PT
	c. Symptom score
	d. Clinical score
	e. Bilirubin
	f. Cholesterol
	g. Alkaline phosphatase
	h. "Aminotransferase" (page 1450)
	i. Liver histology scores
	j. Cumulative mortality due to liver failure
Notes	1 Trial registration number: not stated
Notes	2. Data of trial conduction: not stated
	2. A priori comple size estimation vos
	3. A priori sample size estimation: yes
	4. Financial disclosure: Eli Lilly and Company supplied the medication and placebo
	5. Disclosure comment: not stated
	6. Ethical committee approved: yes
	7. Published in a predatory journal: no

Risk of bias

Bias	Authors' judgement	Support for judgement
Random sequence genera- tion (selection bias)	Unclear risk	Insufficient information to judge as "High" or "Low" risk of bias. Page 1449.
Allocation concealment (selection bias)	Unclear risk	Insufficient information to judge as "High" or "Low" risk of bias. Page 1449.
Blinding of participants and personnel (perfor- mance bias) All outcomes	Low risk	Colchicine and placebo had identical appearance. Page 1449.
Blinding of outcome as- sessment (detection bias) All outcomes	Unclear risk	Insufficient information to judge as "High" or "Low" risk of bias. Page 1449.
Incomplete outcome data (attrition bias) All outcomes	Low risk	 Total sample: 60 a. Colchicine: 30 b. Placebo: 30 Withdrawals: 5 % (3/60) a. Colchicine: 6.66 % (2/30) b. Placebo: 3.33 % (1/30)
Selective reporting (re- porting bias)	Low risk	Reported information about all-cause mortality, cardiovascular mortality (my- ocardial infarction) and adverse events.

Colchicine for the primary prevention of cardiovascular events (Review)

Kaplan 1986 (Continued)

Other bias

Unclear risk

Financial disclosure: Eli Lilly and Company supplied the medication and placebo. However, we lack evidence whether Eli Lilly and Company had any role in the design, conduct, analysis, or reporting of the study, if any of the study authors had financial ties or conflicts of interest related to Eli Lilly and Company, or the study authors maintained full control over the data and decision to publish. Insufficient information to judge as "High" or "Low" risk of bias.

Kaplan 1999

Study characteristics	
Methods	1. Study design: parallel
	2. Number of arms: 2 arms
	3. Duration: 2 years
	4. Follow-up period: 6 years*
	5. Run-in period: not stated
	6. Run-in period time: not applicable
	7. Multicentre (number of centres): no
	8. International: no
	9. Country: the USA
	10.Study setting: outpatient
_	11.Article is an interim analysis of the first 2 years of the study
Participants	1. Type of disease: Primary biliary cirrhosis (currently known as primary biliary cholangitis NIDDK 2021)
	2. Diagnosis criteria: biopsy-proven primary biliary cirrhosis
	3. Severity: not stated
	 4. Total randomised: 87 participants ("Two withdrew from the study immediately after randomization before they received any drugs" page 1175) a. Colchicine: 43
	b. Methotrexate: 42
	 Number lost to follow-up/withdrawn (%): unclear a. Colchicine: unclear
	b. Methotrexate: unclear
	 Total analysed: 83 participants a. Colchicine: unclear
	b. Methotrexate: unclear
	7. Age, years, mean (SE)a. Colchicine: 51 (1.4)
	b. Methotrexate: 51 (1.5)
	8. Sex, male % (males/total)
	a. Colchicine: 2.3 (1/43)
	b. Methotrexate: 4.8 (2/42)
	9. BMI: not stated
	10.hs-CRP basal level: not stated
	11.Participants with cardiovascular risk factors: it includes patients with high cholesterol
	12.Inclusion criteria:
	a. Clinical history and biochemical profile consistent with primary biliary cirrhosis
	b. Serum alkaline phosphatase level of at least 2 times greater than the upper limit of normal
	c. Serum bilirubin level not greater than 10 mg/dL
	d. Liver biopsy performed within 12 months of entry consistent with or diagnostic of primary biliary cirrhosis
	e. Radiological or ultrasonic evidence that the bile ducts were patent



Kaplan 1999 (Continued)	
	13.Exclusion criteria:
	a. End-stage liver disease
	b. History of alcohol abuse
	c. Administration of drugs associated with chronic liver disease
	d. Contemplation of pregnancy
	e. Other serious medical illnesses
	f. Signs of hypersplenism
Interventions	1. Intervention
	a. Drug: Colchicine
	b. Pharmaceutical laboratory: Eli Lilly and Co. (Indianapolis, USA)
	c. Dose: 0.6 mg twice daily for 6 years
	d. Administration route: oral
	2. Comparison/Control
	a. Drug: Methotrexate
	b. Pharmaceutical laboratory: Lederle Laboratories (Pearl River, USA)
	c. Dose: 15 mg/week; taken 5 mg every 12 hours for 6 years
	d. Administration route: oral
	3. Co-intervention: ursodeoxycholic acid (Ciba-Geigy Corp), cholestyramine, colestipol
	4. Prohibited medications: not stated
Outcomes	Incidence of death or liver transplant (baseline through year 2)
	Fatigue (baseline through year 2)
	Pruritus (baseline through year 2)
	Bilirubin (baseline through year 2)
	 Alkaline phosphatase (baseline through year 2)
	Albumin (baseline through year 2)
	PT (baseline through year 2)
	 IgM (baseline through year 2)
	ALT (baseline through year 2)
	AST (baseline through year 2)
	Cholesterol (baseline through year 2)
	Liver histology (baseline through year 2)
	Treatment success (baseline through year 2)
Notes	1. Trial registration number: not stated
	2. Date of trial conduction: not stated
	3. A priori sample size estimation: yes
	4. Financial disclosure: grants from the National Institutes of Health Center for Research Resources, Gas-
	troenterologic Research in Absorptive and Secretory Processes Digestive Disease Center, and Lederle
	Laboratories supported the study.
	5. Disclosure comment: not stated
	6. Ethical committee approved: yes
	7. Published in a predatory journal: no
	*Note: this article is an interim analysis of the first 2 years of the study. However, we do not know if the
	final results have been published.
Risk of bias	
Bias	Authors' judgement Support for judgement

Random sequence genera- tion (selection bias)	Unclear risk	Quote: "Patients were randomly assigned by a single study monitor" page 1174



Kaplan 1999 (Continued)

Trusted evidence. Informed decisions. Better health.

		Insufficient information to judge as "High" or "Low" risk of bias.
Allocation concealment (selection bias)	Unclear risk	Quote: "Patients were randomly assigned by a single study monitor" page 1174
		Insufficient information to judge as "High" or "Low" risk of bias.
Blinding of participants and personnel (perfor- mance bias) All outcomes	Low risk	Quote: "Both the patients and investigators were blinded to the treatment as- signments." Page 1174
		Quote: "Each patient was to remain in the double-blind phase of the study for 6 years or until clear evidence of disease progression or drug toxicity was de- tected and the treatment was judged a failure." Page 1174
		Quote: "Colchicine and identical-appearing placebo, and methotrexate and identical-appearing placebo" Page 1174
		The trial authors did not describe how the double-blind was conducted.
Blinding of outcome as- sessment (detection bias) All outcomes	Unclear risk	Insufficient information to judge as "High" or "Low" risk of bias.
Incomplete outcome data (attrition bias) All outcomes	High risk	Original randomised: 87 (four did not receive treatment or were referred to transplantation).
		Colchicine: 43
		Methotrexate: 42
		However, there is inconsistency in the total number in the comparison groups. (Page 1176, Table 1).
		Withdrawals: 10. However, there was no discrimination by comparison group.
Selective reporting (re- porting bias)	Low risk	This trial reported all-cause mortality and two adverse events: gastrointestinal (diarrhoea) and neurological complications (pneumonitis).
Other bias	High risk	Confusion bias which is based on the explanation for graded as high risk for at- trition bias.

Kershenobich 1988

Study characteristics	
Methods	1. Study design: parallel
	2. Number of arms: 2 arms
	3. Duration: not stated
	4. Follow-up period: "up to 14 years" (page 1709)
	5. Run-in period: not stated
	6. Run-in period time: not applicable
	7. Multicentre (number of centres): no
	8. International: no
	9. Country: Mexico
	10.Study setting: outpatient
Participants	1. Type of disease: liver cirrhosis
	2. Diagnosis criteria: history, physical examination, and biochemical or histological evidence (page 1709)



Kershenobich 1988 (Continued)

- 3. Severity: Child-Turcotte-Pugh A, B and C
- 4. Total randomised: 100 participants
 - a. Intervention: 54
 - b. Control: 46
- 5. Number lost to follow-up/withdrawn (%): 19 (19)
 - a. Intervention: 10 (18.5)
 - b. Control: 9 (19.6)
- 6. Total analysed: 100 participants
 - a. Intervention: 54
 - b. Control: 46
- 7. Age, years, mean (SE)
 - a. Intervention: 49.7 (1.52)
 - b. Control: 50.8 (1.74)
- 8. Sex, male % (males/total)
 - a. Intervention: 46.3 (24/54)
- b. Control: 54.3 (25/46)
- 9. BMI: not stated
- 10.hs-CRP basal level: not stated
- 11.Participants with cardiovascular risk factors: not stated
- 12.Inclusion criteria:
 - a. Liver cirrhosis by history, physical examination, and biochemical or histological evidence.
 - b. Age: 18 years or older.
- 13.Exclusion criteria:
 - a. Gastrointestinal bleeding or encephalopathy in the previous two weeks.
 - b. Total serum bilirubin above 171 $\mu mol/L$ (10 mg/dL)
 - c. Serum albumin below 220 µmol/L (1.5 g/dL)
 - d. Severe concomitant disease
- e. Inability to attend the study site regularly

Interventions	 Intervention Drug: Colchicine Pharmaceutical laboratory: not stated Dose: 1 mg once daily, 5 days a week for 14 years Administration route: oral
	 2. Comparison/Control a. Drug: Placebo (composition not stated) b. Dose: 1 mg once daily, 5 days a week for 14 years
	c. Administration route: oral
	3. Co-intervention: not stated
	4. Prohibited medications: not stated
Outcomes	 Primary (baseline up to year 14) Death
	2. Secondary (baseline up to year 14)
	a. Cause of death
	b. Histological characteristics
Notes	1. Trial registration number: not stated
	2. Date of trial conduction: 1979 - not stated
	3. A priori sample size estimation: No. "the required sample sized was not estimated" (page 1712)
	4. Financial disclosure: not stated
	5. Disclosure comment: not stated
	6. Ethical committee approved: yes

Colchicine for the primary prevention of cardiovascular events (Review)



Kershenobich 1988 (Continued)

7. Published in a predatory journal: no

Rick	٥f	h	ins
RISK	UI	ν	เนง

Bias	Authors' judgement	Support for judgement
Random sequence genera- tion (selection bias)	Unclear risk	Quote: "Randomization was carried out by one of us who was based in an insti- tution separate from the Instituto Nacional de la Nutricion Salvador Zubiran." page 1710
		Comment: insufficient information to judge as "high" or "low" risk of bias. The random sequence generation procedure is unknown.
Allocation concealment (selection bias)	Unclear risk	Quote: "Randomization was carried out by one of us who was based in an insti- tution separate from the Instituto Nacional de la Nutricion Salvador Zubiran." page 1710
		Comment: insufficient information to judge as "high" or "low" risk of bias. The random sequence generation procedure is unknown.
Blinding of participants and personnel (perfor- mance bias) All outcomes	Low risk	Quote: " were randomly assigned to receive either colchicine () or a placebo that was identical in appearance, for five days a week. () At no time did he come into contact with any of the patients in the study or disclose the treat- ment code for any patient to the attending physicians. He prepared coded supplies of colchicine and placebo and made these available to the clinicians for each new patient at entry and every two months thereafter". Page 1710.
Blinding of outcome as- sessment (detection bias) All outcomes	Unclear risk	Comment: insufficient information to judge as "high" or "low" risk of bias.
Incomplete outcome data (attrition bias) All outcomes	High risk	 Total sample: 100 a. Colchicine: 54 b. Placebo: 46 Total withdrawals: 19% (19/100) a. Colchicine: 18.51% (10/54) b. Placebo: 19.56% (9/46)
Selective reporting (re- porting bias)	Low risk	Reported all-cause mortality in both comparison groups, including fatal my- ocardial infarction in the placebo group.
Other bias	High risk	Confusion bias: the follow-up's median was greater in the colchicine group (42 months) than the placebo group (12 months). Furthermore, the high risk of at- trition bias modifies the original sample.

Lin 1996

Study characteristi	cs
Methods	1. Study design: parallel
	2. Number of arms: 2 arms
	3. Duration: 4 years
	4. Follow-up period: 4 years (208 weeks)
	5. Run-in period: no stated
	6. Run-in period time: not applicable
	7. Multicentre (number of centres): not stated
Colchicine for the prim	ary prevention of cardiovascular events (Review)



Lin 1996 (Continued)	
	8. International: no
	9. Country: Taiwan
	10.Study setting: outpatient
Participants	1. Type of disease: chronic hepatitis B
	2. Diagnosis criteria: seropositive for hepatitis B surface antigen (HBsAg) and abnormal serum amino- transferase for more than 6 months
	3. Severity: not stated
	 Total randomised: 66 participants ("One patient was excluded 2 month after entry" Page 963) a. Intervention: 38
	b. Control: 27
	 Number lost to follow-up/withdrawn (%): 8 (12.1) a. Intervention: 3 (7.9)
	b. Control: 5 (18.5)
	6. Total analysed: 57 participantsa. Intervention: 35
	b. Control: 22
	7. Age, years, mean (SD)a. Intervention: 39.9 (9.06)
	b. Control: 39.6 (13.28)
	8. Sex, male % (males/total)a. Intervention: 86.8 (33/38)
	b. Control: 88.9 (24/27)
	9. BMI: not stated
	10.hs-CRP basal level: not stated
	11.Participants with cardiovascular risk factors: not stated
	12.Inclusion criteria: a. Clinically and pathologically documented chronic hepatitis B
	b. Positive hepatitis B surface antigen (HBsAg) and abnormal serum aminotransferase for over 6 month.
	c. Histological evidence of bridging hepatic necrosis (BHN) or one episode of hepatitis accompanied by elevation in serum alpha fetoprotein (AFP) greater than 100 ng/ml
	13.Exclusion criteria: a. Age under 25 years
	b. Pregnancy
	c. Renal insufficiency
	d. History of idiosyncrasy to colchicine
	e. "Cardiopulmonary decompensation" (page 962)
	f. Signs or symptoms of hepatic failure
Interventions	1. Intervention
	a. Drug: Colchicine
	b. Pharmaceutical laboratory: not stated
	c. Dose: 1 mg once daily, 5 days per week for 4 years
	d. Administration route: oral
	2. Comparison/Control: none
	3. Co-intervention: not stated
	4. Prohibited medications: steroids and antiviral agents (only prohibited for the control group, page 962)
Outcomes	 Primary (baseline to year 4) a. Incidence of liver cirrhosis
	2. Secondary (baseline to year 4)
	a. Incidence of acute exacerbation of hepatitis
	b. Biochemical test



Lin 1996 (Continued)

	c. Adverse events
Notes	1. Trial registration number: not stated
	2. Date of trial conduction: October 1989 to September 1993
	3. A priori sample size estimation: not stated
	 Financial disclosure: grants from the National Science Council of the Republic of China funded the study.
	5. Disclosure comment: not stated
	6. Ethical committee approved: not stated
	7 Dublished in a wordstaw is used to a

7. Published in a predatory journal: no

Risk of bias

Bias	Authors' judgement	Support for judgement
Random sequence genera- tion (selection bias)	Low risk	Random sequence table was done before the start of the trial.
Allocation concealment (selection bias)	Unclear risk	Insufficient information to judge as "High" or "Low" risk of bias.
Blinding of participants and personnel (perfor- mance bias) All outcomes	High risk	Trial reported as open. Also, control group did not receive matching interven- tion (page 962)
Blinding of outcome as- sessment (detection bias) All outcomes	High risk	Trial reported as open. Also, control group did not receive matching interven- tion (page 962)
Incomplete outcome data (attrition bias) All outcomes	High risk	 Total sample: 66 (one patient withdrawn in the placebo group due to liver histology showing cirrhosis). a. Colchicine: 38 b. No treatment: 27 Total withdrawal: 12.30 % (8/65) a. Colchicine: 7.89 %(3/38) b. No treatment: 18.51 %(5/27) c. Imbalance: 10.62
Selective reporting (re- porting bias)	Low risk	This trial reported all-cause mortality and gastrointestinal adverse events (di- arrhoea).
Other bias	High risk	Design bias: no information about sample size estimation <i>a priori</i> Confusion bias: high imbalance between comparison groups distorted the original sample size as qualitative as quantitative.

Morgan 2005

Study characteristics

Methods

- 1. Study design: parallel
- 2. Number of arms: 2 arms
- 3. Duration: 6 years



Morgan 2005 (Continued)	
	4. Follow-up period: 6 years (312 weeks)
	5. Run-in period: not stated
	6. Run-in period time: not applicable
	7. Multicentre (number of centres): yes (13)
	8. International: no
	9. Country: the USA
	10.Study setting: outpatient
Participants	1. Type of disease: Alcoholic liver cirrhosis
	2. Diagnosis criteria: histological evidence, long history of alcohol use and exclusion of other causes.
	Severity: Advance, Child-Turcotte-Pugh score ≥ 7 (Class B or C)
	4. Total randomised: 549 participantsa. Intervention: 274
	b. Control: 275
	 Number lost to follow-up/withdrawn (%): 0 a. Intervention: 0
	b. Control: 0
	6. Total analysed: 549 participants
	a. Intervention: 274
	b. Control: 275
	7. Age, years, mean (SD)a. Intervention: 55.2 (8)
	b. Control 55.9 (7.6)
	8. Sex, male % (males/total)a. Intervention: 97.5 (267/274)
	b. Control: 98.6 (271/275)
	9. BMI: not stated
	10.hs-CRP basal level: not stated
	11.Participants with cardiovascular risk factors: not stated
	 12. Inclusion criteria: a. Alcoholic cirrhosis by histological evidence, long history of alcohol use and exclusion of other causes
	b. Child-Turcotte-Pugh score > 7 (Class B or C)
	12 Evolution criteria:
	a. Gastrointestinal bleeding in the previous 28 days, requiring transfusion
	b. Illicit drug use in the previous 12 months
	c. HIV infection
	d. Cancer in the previous 10 years
	e. Serum creatinine > 1.5 mg/dL
	f. Total white blood cells count < 3500/mL
	g. 70 years or older
	h. Serious chronic disease
	i. No home telephone
Interventions	1. Intervention
	a. Drug: Colchicine
	b. Pharmaceutical laboratory: not stated
	c. Dose: 0.6 mg twice daily for 24 months up to 72 months
	d. Administration route: oral
	2. Comparison/Control
	a. Drug: Placebo (composition not stated)
	b. Dose: twice daily for 24 months up to 72 months
	c. Administration route: oral



Morgan 2005 (Continued)			
	3. Co-intervention: oral multivitamin supplement		
	4. Prohibited medications: not stated		
Outcomes	 Primary (baseline to year 6) a. Death from any cause 		
	2. Secondary (baseline to year 6)		
	a. Death from liver disease		
	b. Liver function status		
	c. Histological improvement		
	d. Adverse events		
Notes	1. Trial registration number: not stated		
	2. Date of trial conduction: August 1994 to August 2000		
	3. A priori sample size estimation: yes		
	4. Financial disclosure: the Veterans Affairs Cooperative Studies Program funded the study		
	5. Disclosure comment: not stated		
	6. Ethical committee approved: yes		

7. Published in a predatory journal: no

Risk of bias

Bias	Authors' judgement	Support for judgement
Random sequence genera- tion (selection bias)	Low risk	Quote: "Patient enrollment and random assignment to treatment was by tele- phone call to the data-coordinating center". Page 883.
Allocation concealment (selection bias)	Low risk	Quote: "Patient enrollment and random assignment to treatment was by tele- phone call to the data-coordinating center". Page 883.
Blinding of participants and personnel (perfor- mance bias) All outcomes	Low risk	Quote: "Neither the patients, the nurses administering the treatment, nor the physicians assessing the outcomes were aware of the treatment group assign- ment until all data analysis was complete." page 883. Quote: "Study medications were dispensed by each VA Pharmacy from prepackaged kits matched to the treatment ID number." page 883
Blinding of outcome as- sessment (detection bias) All outcomes	Low risk	Quote: "adjudication committee consisting of 3 hepatologists reviewed blind- ed/redacted medical records." page 884
Incomplete outcome data (attrition bias) All outcomes	Low risk	 Randomised: 549 Colchicine: 275 Placebo: 274
Selective reporting (re- porting bias)	Low risk	Reported all-cause mortality and adverse events.
Other bias	Low risk	We did not find evidence of other bias.

Nikolaidis 2006

 Study characteristics

 Methods
 1. Study design: parallel



Nikolaidis 2006 (Continued)	
	2. Number of arms: 2 arms
	3. Duration: 1 year
	4. Follow-up period: 1 year (52 weeks)
	5. Run-in period: not stated
	6. Run-in period time: not applicable
	7. Multicentre (number of centres): no
	8. International: no
	9. Country: Greece
	10.Study setting: outpatient
Participants	1. Type of disease: Chronic liver disease
	2. Diagnosis criteria: liver biopsy-proven chronic active disease (page 282)
	3. Severity: not stated
	4. Total randomised: 38 participants
	a. Intervention: 21 participants
	b. Control: 17 participants
	5. Number lost to follow-up/withdrawn (%): not reported
	6. Total analysed: unclear
	7. Age, years, median (range)
	h. Control 53 (33 to 69)
	8 Sex male % (males/total)
	a. Intervention: 57.1 (12/21)
	b. Control: 64.7 (11/17)
	9. BMI: not stated
	10.hs-CRP basal level: not stated
	11.Participants with cardiovascular risk factors: not stated
	12.Inclusion criteria:
	a. Chronic liver disease proven by liver biopsy
	13.Exclusion criteria:
	a. Age < 20 or > 70 years old
	b. Pregnancy
	c. Malignancies
	d. Renal, cardiopulmonary, haematological, neurological or collagen disease
	e. Diabetes mellitus
	t. Hyper/nypothyroidism
	g. Child class C
Interventions	1. Intervention
	a. Drug: Colchicine
	b. Pharmaceutical laboratory: not stated
	c. Dose: I mg once daily for 5 days per week, for 12 months
	d. Administration route: oral
	2. Companison/control: none
	3. CO-Intervention: not stated
Outcomes	Biochemical parameters (baseline to months 12 and 24)
	• Serum Immunoglobins
	 Serum aminoterminal peptide of procollagen III CD4
	0 UDO



Nikolaidis 2006 (Continued)

	Adverse events (baseline to months 12 and 24)
Notes	1. Trial registration number: not stated
	2. Date of trial conduction: not stated
	3. A priori sample size estimation: not stated
	4. Financial disclosure: not stated
	5. Disclosure comment: not stated
	6. Ethical committee approved: yes
	7. Published in a predatory journal: no
	 Financial disclosure: not stated Disclosure comment: not stated Ethical committee approved: yes Published in a predatory journal: no

Risk of bias

Bias	Authors' judgement	Support for judgement
Random sequence genera- tion (selection bias)	Unclear risk	Quote: "The patients were randomly" (page 282) Comment: insufficient information to judge as "High" or "Low" risk of bias.
Allocation concealment (selection bias)	Unclear risk	Insufficient information to judge as "High" or "Low" risk of bias.
Blinding of participants and personnel (perfor- mance bias) All outcomes	Unclear risk	Insufficient information to judge as "High" or "Low" risk of bias.
Blinding of outcome as- sessment (detection bias) All outcomes	Low risk	Quote: "Liver biopsies were taken () were evaluated by two pathologists () who were blinded to treatment groups" (page 282)
Incomplete outcome data (attrition bias) All outcomes	Unclear risk	There is no report about withdrawals.
Selective reporting (re- porting bias)	Low risk	Trial author declared lack of any adverse event.
Other bias	High risk	Design bias: lack of an <i>a priori</i> sample size estimation.

Olsson 1995

Study characteristics	
Methods	1. Study design: parallel
	2. Number of arms: 2 arms
	3. Duration: 3 years
	4. Follow-up period: 3 years (156 weeks)
	5. Run-in period: not stated
	6. Run-in period time: not applicable
	7. Multicentre (number of centres): yes (not stated)
	8. International: no
	9. Country: Sweden
	10.Study setting: outpatient
Participants	1. Type of disease: Primary sclerosing cholangitis

Colchicine for the primary prevention of cardiovascular events (Review)



Olsson 1995 (Continued)	
	2. Diagnosis criteria: "typical cholangiographic appearance" (page 1199)
	3. Severity: not stated
	4. Total randomised: 84 participants
	a. Intervention: 44 participants
	b. Control: 40 participants
	5. Number lost to follow-up/withdrawn (%): 10 (11.9)
	a. Intervention: 8 (18.2)
	b. Control: 2 (5)
	6. Total analysed: 84 participants
	a. Intervention: 44
	a. Intervention: 39.5 (36.2 to 42.7)
	b. Control: 43.7 (40.1 to 47.3)
	8. Sex, male % (males/total)
	a. Intervention: $61.4 (27/44)$
	b. Control: 72.5 (29/40)
	9. BMI: not stated
	10.hs-CRP basal level: not stated
	11.Participants with cardiovascular risk factors: not stated
	12.Inclusion criteria:
	13 Evolusion criteria: not stated
	13.Exclusion entena. not stated
Interventions	1. Intervention
	a. Drug: Colchicine
	b. Pharmaceutical laboratory: not stated
	c. Dose: 1 mg once daily for 3 years
	d. Administration route: oral
	2. Comparison/Control
	a. Drug: Placebo (composition not stated)
	b. Dose: once daily for 3 years
	c. Administration route: oral
	3. Co-Intervention: not stated
	4. Prohibited medications: not stated
Outcomes	1. Primary (baseline to year 3)
	a. Mortality
	b. Incidence of liver transplantation
	2. Secondary (baseline to year 3)
	a. Clinical changes: pain, fever and pruritus
	b. Biochemical changes
	c. Histological changes
Notes	1. Trial registration number: not stated
	2. Date of trial conduction: not stated
	3. A priori sample size estimation: not stated
	4 Financial disclosure: not stated
	5. Disclosure comment: not stated
	6. Ethical committee approved: ves
	7. Published in a predatory journal: no
	······································
Risk of bias	

Olsson 1995 (Continued)

Bias	Authors' judgement	Support for judgement
Random sequence genera- tion (selection bias)	Unclear risk	Quote: " The randomization procedure was performed for each center using the sealed envelope technique." page 1999
		Comment: there is no description procedure to conduct a random sequence generation.
Allocation concealment (selection bias)	Unclear risk	Quote: " The randomization procedure was performed for each center using the sealed envelope technique." page 1999
		Comment: there is no description of whether the sealed envelope was opaque.
Blinding of participants	Unclear risk	Quote: "The results of a double-blind," page 1999
and personnel (perfor- mance bias) All outcomes		Comment: Insufficient information to judge as "High" or Low" risk of bias.
Blinding of outcome as- sessment (detection bias) All outcomes	Unclear risk	Insufficient information to judge as "High" or "Low" risk of bias.
Incomplete outcome data (attrition bias) All outcomes	High risk	 Randomised: 84 Colchicine: 44 Placebo: 40 Withdrawals: 11.9% (10/84) Colchicine: 18% (8/44) Placebo: 5% (2/40) Imbalance: 13% Reasons were reported.
Selective reporting (re- porting bias)	Low risk	Reported all-cause mortality and one case of diarrhoea as a side effect in the colchicine group.
Other bias	High risk	Design bias: there was no <i>a priori</i> sample size estimation.
		Confusion bias due to distortion due to imbalance loss between comparison groups.

Sainz 1992

Study characteristics	
Methods	1. Study design: parallel
	2. Number of arms: 2 arms
	3. Duration: 2 years
	4. Follow-up period: 2 years (104 weeks)
	5. Run-in period: not stated
	6. Run-in period time: not applicable
	7. Multicentre (number of centres): not stated
	8. International: no
	9. Country: Spain
	10.Study setting: outpatient
Participants	1. Type of disease: alcoholic liver disease

Colchicine for the primary prevention of cardiovascular events (Review)



Sainz 1992 (Continued)

Trusted evidence. Informed decisions. Better health.

	2. Diagnosis criteria: al	cohol consumption > 80 g/day for > 5 years and histological evidence of alcoholic
	3. Severity: not stated	
	4. Total randomised: 5	4 participants
	a. Intervention: 28 p	participants
	b. Control: 26 partic	ipants
	5. Number lost to follo a. Intervention: 4 (1	w-up/withdrawn (%): 14 (25.9) 4.3)
	b. Control: 10 (35.7)	
	6. Total analysed: not	stated
	7. Age: not stated	
	8. Sex: not stated	
	9. BMI: not stated	
	10.hs-CRP basal level: r	not stated
	11.Participants with ca	rdiovascular risk factors: not stated
	12.Inclusion criteria:	
	a. Alcohol consump	tion > 80 g/day for > 5 years
	b. Histological evide	ence of alcoholic liver lesion
	13.Exclusion criteria: no	ot stated
Interventions	1. Intervention a. Drug: Colchicine	
	h Pharmaceutical l	aboratory: not stated
	c Dose [,] 1 mg once	daily 5 days a week for 2 years
	d Administration re	nute: oral
	2 Comparison/Contro	
	3 Co-intervention: not	stated
	A Prohibited medicati	one: not stated
	Trombice medicati	
Outcomes	 Disease complicatio 	ns (baseline to year 2)
	Amino-terminal type	e III procollagen peptide (baseline to year 2)
	 Histological changes 	s (baseline to year 2)
Notes	1. Trial registration nu	mber: not stated
	2. Date of trial conduct	ion: not stated
	3. A priori sample size	estimation: not stated
	4. Financial disclosure	not stated
	5. Disclosure commen	t: not stated
	6. Ethical committee a	pproved: not stated
	7. Published in a preda	itory journal: no
	8. Data gathered from	conference proceeding
Risk of bias		
Bias	Authors' judgement	Support for judgement
Random sequence genera- tion (selection bias)	Unclear risk	Insufficient information to judge a "High" or "Low" risk of bias. (page 56)
Allocation concealment (selection bias)	Unclear risk	Insufficient information to judge a "High" or "Low" risk of bias.

Sainz 1992 (Continued)

Blinding of participants and personnel (perfor- mance bias) All outcomes	Unclear risk	Insufficient information to judge a "High" or "Low" risk of bias.
Blinding of outcome as- sessment (detection bias) All outcomes	Unclear risk	Insufficient information to judge a "High" or "Low" risk of bias.
Incomplete outcome data (attrition bias) All outcomes	High risk	 Total sample: 54 Colchicine: 28 Control: 26 Withdrawal: 25.92% (14/54) Colchicine: 14.2 % (4/28) Control: 38.46 % (10/26) Imbalance: 24.26 (38.46 - 14.2). No information about the reasons for withdrawals.
Selective reporting (re- porting bias)	High risk	No information about any adverse events.
Other bias	High risk	Design bias: no information about <i>a priori</i> sample size estimation. Confusion bias: the large number of withdrawals distorted the original sample size.

Wang 1994

Study characteristics	
Methods	 Study design: parallel Number of arms: 2 arms Duration: 10 years* Follow-up period: 10 years* (520 weeks) Run-in period: not stated Run-in period time: not applicable Multicentre (number of centres): no International: no
	 9. Country: Faiwait 10.Study setting: outpatient *The study was designed for a 5-year double-blind period and 5-year post-treatment follow-up (page 873).
Participants	 Type of disease: hepatitis B virus-related postnecrotic cirrhosis Diagnosis criteria: histological evidence or "compatible clinical features, biochemical data and sono- graphic findings." (Page 873) Severity: not stated Total randomised: 100 participants Intervention: 50 participants Control: 50 participants Number lost to follow-up/withdrawn (%): 9 (9) Intervention: 2 (4) Control: 7 (14)



Wang 1994 (Continued)			
	6. Total analysed: varie	es with each outcome	
	a. Intervention: var	les with each outcome	
	b. Control: varies w	ith each outcome	
	7. Age, years, mean (ra	nge) '22 to 70)	
	a. Intervention: 60 (52 (0 79) 	
	D. CONTOR 59 (36 to		
	8. Sex, male % (males/	(101a) (47/50)	
	b Control: 94 (47/5)	n)	
	9 BMI: not stated	5)	
	10 hs_CPP hasal level: r	not stated	
	11 Participants with ca	rdiovaccular rick factors: not stated	
	12 Inclusion critoria:	ומוסטמגנעומו ווא ומכנסוג. ווסר גרמנפע	
	a Henatitis B surfa	ce antigen (HBsAg)-nositive cirrhosis	
	13 Exclusion criteria		
	a. End-stage liver ci	rrhosis	
	b. Episodes of varic	eal bleeding or hepatic encephalopathy in the previous 2 weeks	
	c. Concomitant det	pilitating illness	
	d. Unable to attend	clinic regularly	
Interventions	1. Intervention		
	h Pharmaceutical l	aboratory, not stated	
	c. Dose: 1 mg once	daily for 5 years	
	d Administration r	auto: oral	
	2 Comparison/Contro		
	a. Drug: Placebo (co	n proposition not stated)	
	b Dose: once daily	for 5 years	
	c. Administration ro	bute: oral	
	3. Co-intervention: not	stated	
	4. Prohibited medicati	ons: not stated	
Outcomes	• Death (baseline to e	nd of follow-up)	
	Biochemical liver te	st (baseline to end of follow-up)	
	 Ultrasonographic st 	atus (baseline to end of follow-up)	
	Histologic progressi	on (baseline to end of follow-up)	
Notos	1 Trial registration number: not stated		
	2. Date of trial conduct	tion: not stated	
	3. A priori sample size	estimation: ves	
	4. Financial disclosure	a grant from the National Science Council of the Republic of China funded the	
	study.		
	5. Disclosure commen	t: not stated	
	6. Ethical committee a	pproved: yes	
	7. Published in a preda	atory journal: no	
Risk of bias			
Bias	Authors' judgement	Support for judgement	
Random sequence genera- tion (selection bias)	Low risk	Quote: "The patients were then randomly () by random numbers. The ran- dom numbers were computer generated and arranged in numerical order and divided in two." Page 873	

Colchicine for the primary prevention of cardiovascular events (Review)



Wang 1994 (Continued)		
Allocation concealment (selection bias)	Unclear risk	Quote: "Randomization was carried out by a nurse who assisted in the pa- tients' follow-up and file management" Page 873
Blinding of participants and personnel (perfor- mance bias)	Unclear risk	Quote: "receive either 1 mg of colchicine daily or an identical placebo by ran- dom numbers." () Neither the patients nor the physicians knew which treat- ment was given." Page 873
All outcomes		Quote: "Randomization was carried out by a nurse who assisted in the pa- tients' follow-up and file management" Page 873
		Comment: it is unclear the full involvement the nurse in charge of the ran- domisation had with the participants' clinical assessments.
Blinding of outcome as- sessment (detection bias) All outcomes	Unclear risk	Quote: "receive either 1 mg of colchicine daily or an identical placebo by ran- dom numbers." () Neither the patients nor the physicians knew which treat- ment was given." Page 873
		Quote: "Randomization was carried out by a nurse who assisted in the pa- tients' follow-up and file management" Page 873
		Comment: it is unclear the full involvement the nurse in charge of the ran- domisation had with the participants' clinical assessments.
Incomplete outcome data (attrition bias) All outcomes	Unclear risk	 Total sample: 100 Colchicine: 50 Placebo: 50 Withdrawals: 9% (9 /100). Colchicine: 4 % (2/50)

Warnes 1987

porting bias)

Other bias

Selective reporting (re-

Study characteristics	
Methods	1. Study design: parallel
	2. Number of arms: 2 arms
	3. Duration: 18 months
	4. Follow-up period: 18 months (78 weeks)
	5. Run-in period: not stated
	6. Run-in period time: not applicable
	7. Multicentre (number of centres): no
	8. International: no
	9. Country: the UK
	10.Study setting: outpatient
Participants	1. Type of disease: primary biliary cirrhosis (currently known as primary biliary cholangitis NIDDK 2021)
	2. Diagnosis criteria: liver histology compatible with primary biliary cirrhosis
	3. Severity: not stated
	4. Total randomised: 64 participants

b. Placebo: 14 % (7/50)c. Imbalance: 10

This trial reported all-cause mortality and two types of adverse events: gastrointestinal (diarrhoea) and liver complications (jaundice, ascites).

Insufficient information to judge a "High" or "Low" risk of bias.

Colchicine for the primary prevention of cardiovascular events (Review) Copyright © 2025 The Cochrane Collaboration. Published by John Wiley & Sons, Ltd.

Low risk

Unclear risk


Warnes 1987 (Continued)	
	a. Intervention: 34 participants
	b. Control: 30 participants
	 Number lost to follow-up/withdrawn (%): 10 (15.6) a. Intervention: 8 (23.5)
	b. Control: 2 (6.7)
	 Total analysed: varies with each outcome a. Intervention: varies with each outcome
	b. Control: varies with each outcome
	7. Age, years: not stated
	8. Sex: not stated
	9. BMI: not stated
	10.hs-CRP basal level: not stated
	11.Participants with cardiovascular risk factors: not stated
	12.Inclusion criteria:
	a. Liver histology compatible with, or diagnostic of, primary biliary cirrhosis
	b. Raised serum alkaline phosphatase
	c. Positive anti-mitochondrial antibody test
	13.Exclusion criteria: not stated
Interventions	1. Intervention
	a. Drug: Colchicine
	b. Pharmaceutical laboratory: not stated
	c. Dose: 0.5 mg twice daily for 12 months
	d. Administration route: oral
	2. Comparison/Control
	a. Drug: Placebo (composition not stated)
	b. Dose twice daily for 12 months
	c. Administration route: oral
	3. Co-Intervention: not stated
	4. Prohibited medications: not stated
Outcomes	Death (baseline to month 18)
	Side effects (baseline to month 12)
	Biochemical liver tests (baseline to month 12)
	Immunological test (baseline to month 12)
	Histological changes (baseline to month 12)
Notes	1. Trial registration number: not stated
	2. Date of trial conduction: not stated
	3. A priori sample size estimation: not stated
	4. Financial disclosure: not stated
	5. Disclosure comment: not stated
	6. Ethical committee approved: yes
	7. Published in a predatory journal: no
Risk of bias	
Bias	Authors' judgement Support for judgement
Random sequence genera- tion (selection bias)	Low risk Quote: " by reference to random tables." page 2

Warnes 1987 (Continued)

Allocation concealment (selection bias)	Unclear risk	Comment: insufficient information to judge "high" or "low" risk of bias.
Blinding of participants and personnel (perfor- mance bias) All outcomes	Unclear risk	Comment: insufficient information to judge "high" or "low" risk of bias.
Blinding of outcome as- sessment (detection bias) All outcomes	Unclear risk	Quote "The study was double-blind." page 2
Incomplete outcome data (attrition bias) All outcomes	High risk	 Randomised: 64 Colchicine: 34 Placebo: 30 Withdrawals: 16% (10/64) Colchicine: 23 % (8/34) Placebo: 7 % (2/30)
Selective reporting (re- porting bias)	Low risk	Reported information about all-cause mortality and adverse events.
Other bias	High risk	Design bias: no <i>a priori</i> sample size estimation. Confusion bias: high-risk attrition bias, which distorts the quality of the origi- nal sample size.

Yurdakul 2001

Study characteristics	
Methods	 Study design: parallel Number of arms: 2 arms Duration: 2 years Follow-up period: 2 years (104 weeks) Run-in period: not stated Run-in period time: not applicable Multicentre (number of centres): no International: no Country: Turkey Study centring: a substant
Participants	1. Type of disease: Behçet's syndrome
	 Diagnosis criteria: not stated Severity: active disease Total randomised: 120 participants a. Intervention: 60 participants b. Control: 60 participants Number lost to follow-up/withdrawn (%): 36 (30) a. Intervention: 18 (30) b. Control: 18 (30) Total analysed: 116 participants a. Intervention: 58 b. Control: 58

Yurdakul 2001 (Continued)	
	7. Age, years, mean (SD)
	a. Intervention
	i. Female: 26.7 (4.8)
	ii. Male: 27 (5.5)
	b. Control
	i. Female: 27.2 (5.5)
	ii. Male: 27.3 (5.3)
	8. Sex, male % (males/total)
	a. Intervention: 51.7 (30/58)
	b. Control: 51.7 (30/58)
	9. BMI: not stated
	10.hs-CRP basal level: not stated
	11.Participants with cardiovascular risk factors: not stated
	12.Inclusion criteria:
	a. "Consecutive patients" (page 2687)
	b. 18 to 35 years of age
	c. Active disease
	d. Disease duration ≤ 2 years
	e. Live at a travel distance from the study centre
	13.Exclusion criteria:
	a. Use of immunosuppressant agents, steroids or colchicine in the previous 6 months
	b. Organ involvement requiring immunosuppression
	c. Had eye disease, especially with retinal involvement
Interventions	1 Intervention
	a. Drug: Colchicine
	b. Pharmaceutical laboratory: F. Frik Pharmaceutical Company Limited (Istanbul, Turkey)
	c. Dose: 1 to 2 mg a day (adjust to body weight) for 2 years
	d Administration route: oral
	2 Comparison/Control
	a. Drug: Placebo (composition not stated)
	b. Dose: daily for 2 years
	c. Administration route: oral
	3. Co-intervention: local treatment for ulcers and paracetamol or NSAIDs for joint pains
	4. Prohibited medications: not stated
Outcomes	1. Primary (baseline to year 2)
	a. Complete absence of:
	I. Oral ulceration
	ii. Genital ulcers
	iii. Erythema nodosum
	iv. Follicular lesions
	v. Arthritis
	2. Secondary (baseline to year 2)
	a. Differences in the mean number of mucocutaneous lesions or joints with arthritis
	b. Other symptoms of the disease
	c. Adverse events
Notes	1. Trial registration number: not stated
	2. Date of trial conduction: November 1991 to November 1995
	3. A priori sample size estimation: not stated
	4. Financial disclosure: TUBITAK (Turkish Scientific and Technical Research Council) and the Research
	Fund of the University of Istanbul supported the study. F. Frik Pharmaceutical Company Limited (Is- tanbul, Turkey) provided the drug and the placebo.

Colchicine for the primary prevention of cardiovascular events (Review)

Copyright @ 2025 The Cochrane Collaboration. Published by John Wiley & Sons, Ltd.



Yurdakul 2001 (Continued)

- 5. Disclosure comment: not stated
- 6. Ethical committee approved: yes
- 7. Published in a predatory journal: no

Risk of bias

Bias	Authors' judgement	Support for judgement
Random sequence genera- tion (selection bias)	Unclear risk	Quote: "The randomization was done separately for each sex." Page 2687
		Comment: insufficient information to judge "high" or "low" risk of bias.
Allocation concealment (selection bias)	Unclear risk	Comment: insufficient information to judge the "high" or "low" risk of bias.
Blinding of participants and personnel (perfor-	Unclear risk	Quote: " All participating physicians were blinded to the patient's allocation to the study arms." Page 2687
All outcomes		Comment: insufficient information to judge "high" or "low" risk of bias.
Blinding of outcome as- sessment (detection bias) All outcomes	Unclear risk	Quote: "Adverse effects were recorded by questioning patients regarding loss of appetite, nausea, abdominal pain, and diarrhea or any other symptom vol- unteered by the patient at each visit." Page 2687.
		Comments: no information regarding other outcomes.
Incomplete outcome data (attrition bias) All outcomes	High risk	 Randomised: 120 Colchicine: 60 Placebo: 60
		 Withdrawals at 18 months: 30% (84/120) a. Colchicine: 30% (42/60)
		b. Placebo: 30% (42/60)
		Reported several reasons to explain the withdrawals.
Selective reporting (re- porting bias)	Low risk	This trial reported two types of adverse events: gastrointestinal (loss of ap- petite, nausea, abdominal pain, diarrhoea) and neurological complications (intracranial hypertension).
Other bias	High risk	Design bias: no <i>a priori</i> sample size estimation.
		Confusion bias: high-risk attrition bias distorts the quality and quantity of the original sample size.

• AF: atrial fibrillation

- ALT: alanine transaminase
- AST: aspartate aminotransferase
- BMI: body mass index
- GGT: gamma-glutamyl transferase
- HBsAg: hepatitis B surface antigen
- hs-CRP: high-sensitivity C-reactive protein
- IgM: immunoglobulin M
- MINS: myocardial injury after non-cardiac surgery
- NSAIDs: non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs
- POAF: perioperative atrial fibrillation
- PT: prothrombin time



- PTT: partial thromboplastin time
- SD: standard deviation
- SE: standard error
- TIA: transient ischaemic attack

Characteristics of excluded studies [ordered by study ID]

Study	Reason for exclusion
Agzarian 2018	Follow-up less than 1 year
Ahern 1987	Follow-up less than 1 year
Ahmadieh 2015	Follow-up less than 1 year
	Quote "The patients were followed for 6 months." page e171
Aisen 2001	Follow-up less than 1 year
Akriviadis 1990	Follow-up less than 1 year
	Quote "During a 4-month follow-up period" Source: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.ni- h.gov/2199290/
Aktulga 1980	Follow-up less than 1 year
Amirpour 2016	Follow-up less than 1 year
Basak 1993	Follow-up less than 1 year
Borstad 2004	Follow-up less than 1 year
Da Cunha 2006	Follow-up less than 1 year
Das 2002	Follow-up less than 1 year
Davis 2021	Follow-up less than 1 year
Deftereos 2013	Follow-up less than 1 year
Døssing 2023	Follow-up less than 1 year
Ediz 2012	Follow-up less than 1 year
Fish 1997	Follow-up less than 1 year
Grimaitre 2000	Follow-up less than 1 year (2 months)
Hays 2021	Follow-up less than 1 year
Korkerdsup 2022	Follow-up less than 1 year
Lenior 2001	Follow-up less than 1 year
Leung 2018	Follow-up less than 1 year
Levine 2022	Follow-up less than 1 year



Study	Reason for exclusion
Meek 1990	Follow-up less than 1 year (2 months)
Meurin 2015	Follow-up less than 1 year
Safarinejad 2004	Follow-up less than 1 year
Samuels 2020	Follow-up less than 1 year
Schnebel 1988	Follow-up less than 1 year
Simmons 1990	Follow-up less than 1 year
Taghavi 2010	Follow-up less than 1 year
Trinchet 1989	Follow-up less than 1 year
Wuttiputhanun 2022	Follow-up less than 1 year

Characteristics of studies awaiting classification [ordered by study ID]

Conen 2023

Methods	Randomised controlled trial conducted at 45 sites in 11 countries
Participants	Patients aged 55 years or older and undergoing major non-cardiac thoracic surgery
Interventions	Oral colchicine 0.5 mg twice daily or matching placebo
Outcomes	Perioperative atrial fibrillation and myocardial injury after non-cardiac surgery (MINS), sepsis or in- fection, and non-infectious diarrhoea
Notes	

Eikelboom 2022

Methods	Open-label, 2 × 2 factorial, randomised, controlled trial conducted at 48 clinical sites in 11 coun- tries
Participants	Patients in the community aged 30 years and older with symptomatic, laboratory confirmed COV- ID-19 who were within 7 days of diagnosis and at high risk of disease progression
Interventions	Colchicine versus usual care
Outcomes	Hospitalisation or death
Notes	



Parise 1995

Methods	
Participants	
Interventions	
Outcomes	
Notes	We were not able to find the full-text article.

Reinhardt 1986	
Methods	
Participants	
Interventions	
Outcomes	
Notes	We were not able to find the full-text article.

Characteristics of ongoing studies [ordered by study ID]

EUCTR2018-002114-13

Study name	Efficacy of Colchicine to prevent skin relapses in adult's IgA vasculitis
Methods	 Study type: Interventional study Study design: Parallel Target sample size: 264 Phase: III Country: France
Participants	 Age: 18 years to 85 years Sex: Both Inclusion criteria: IgA-V recently diagnosed (< 20 days since skin biopsy) and defined by:

EUCTR2018-002114-13 (Continued)

Cochrane

Library

Trusted evidence.

Informed decisions. Better health.

:UC1R2018-002114-13 (Continued)	macrolide (except spyramicin),- combination with pristinamycin; i) Participation in another interventional trial; j) Patient having not signed an informed consent; k) Patient without Social Security System Insurance
Interventions	Experimental:
	1. COLCHICINE OPOCALCIUM 1 mg, oral
	Control:
	1. Placebo
Outcomes	Primary:
	1. Number of patients who have presented at least one cutaneous relapse in the colchicine group versus the placebo group, 6 months after inclusion. Cutaneous relapse is defined by reappearance of palpable purpura with lower limb predominance and not related to thrombocytopenia.
	Secondary:
	1. Time (in days) to first cutaneous relapse
	2. Number of cutaneous relapses per patients at M6 and M12
	3. Rate of patients who have presented at least a severe cutaneous relapse at M0, M6 and M12- 36
	4. 36-item Short-form Health Survey (SF-36) score at M6 and M12
	5. Rate of patients displaying at least one work stoppage related to IgAV between M0 and M12 and number of days of work stoppage per patient.
	6. Rate of patient who consulted in emergency for IgA relapse or new organ involvement between M0 and M12.
	7. Adverse events associated with Colchicine and compliance at M3 and M6
	8. Clinical, biological and histological candidate predictors at diagnosis.
Starting date	1. Date of first enrolment: 2019-05-24
-	2. Date of registration: 2019-03-26
Contact information	1. DRCI Hôpital Saint Louis
	2. Address: 1 av Claude Vellefaux, Paris 75010, France
	3. Telephone:+331 44 84 17 33
	4. Email: cecile.kedzia@aphp.fr
	5. Affiliation: ASSISTANCE PUBLIQUE - HOPITAUX DE PARIS (APHP)
Notes	https://www.clinicaltrialsregister.eu/ctr-search/trial/2018-002114-13/FR#A

IRCT138808062641N1

Study name	The effectiveness of 1 mg/day Colchicine in the treatment of patients with ocular involvement in Behcet's Disease
Methods	 Study type: Interventional study Study design: Parallel Target sample size: 80 Phase: IV Country: Iran
Participants	 Age: 17 years to 70 years Sex: Both Inclusion criteria: Diagnosed Behcet's disease according to Iran's diagnostic tree criteria, signing the informed consent, not being pregnant or breast feeding, no history of malignancy, age more than 16, posterior uveitis or retinitis in latest ophthalmological visit

Colchicine for the primary prevention of cardiovascular events (Review)

Copyright @ 2025 The Cochrane Collaboration. Published by John Wiley & Sons, Ltd.



IRCT138808062641N1 (Continued)

	4. Exclusion criteria:a. blood dyscrasia, pregnancy, low compliance
Interventions	 Experimental: 1. Colchicine 1 mg/day during one year orally Control: 1. placebo
Outcomes	 Primary (total following time is 12 months in 5 visits): Decrease/or not relapsing of ocular inflammatory index: 3 months Secondary: decrease/or not relapsing ocular IBDDAM: 3 months retinal inflammatory index: 3 months posterior chamber inflammatory index: 3 months
Starting date	 Date of first enrolment: 2010-01-21 Date of registration: 2020-08-13
Contact information	 Fereydoun Davatchi Address: Iran (Islamic Republic of) Telephone: +98 21 8802 6956 Email: davachif@sina.tums.ac.ir Affiliation: Rheumatology Research Center, Tehran University of Medical Sciences
Notes	https://en.irct.ir/trial/2453

NCT02442921

Study name	The Effect of Colchicine Treatment on the Progression of Proteinuria in Patients With Diabetic Nephropathy
Methods	 Study type: Interventional study Study design: Parallel Target sample size: 40 Phase: II Country: Israel
Participants	 Age: ≥18 years Sex: Both Inclusion criteria: a. Patients with diabetes mellitus, age >18 years old, able to sign an informed consent. b. Haemoglobin A1c in the range of 6-9%, stable for last year (0.5±) c. Blood creatinine lower than 2 mg/dL. d. Blood pressure lower than 140/90 mmHg on stable anti-hypertensive treatment for at least 3 months. e. Treated with ACE or angiotensin II receptor blocker, unless contraindicated Exclusion criteria: a. Malignancy or significant heart, lung or liver disease. b. Any gastrointestinal disease, inflammatory bowel disease, malnutrition (BMI under 18) c. Psychiatric disease d. Any muscle disease, history of rhabdomyolysis, myopathy or myositis. e. Any disease causing renal injury/proteinuria apart from diabetes mellitus

 $\label{eq:colchicine} \mbox{ for the primary prevention of cardiovascular events (Review)}$

Copyright @ 2025 The Cochrane Collaboration. Published by John Wiley & Sons, Ltd.



NCT02442921 (Continued)

	f. Any inflammatory or autoimmune disease g. Any infection during the last month.
Interventions	 Experimental: a. 2 mg of colchicine Control:
Outcomes	 Primary: 1. Change of urinary protein excretion (mg/24 h) from baseline to 18 months. [Time Frame: From baseline to 18 months (end of trial)]
Starting date	 Date of first enrolment: 2015-05-13 Date of registration: 2015-04-30
Contact information	 Shaye Kivity, MD Address: Ramat Gan, Israel, 52621 Telephone: +970526668134 Email: kivitys@gmail.com Affiliation: Sheba Medical Center
Notes	https://classic.clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/show/NCT02442921

NCT03693781

Study name	Proteostasis and ALS: protocol for a phase II, randomised, double-blind, placebo-controlled, multi- centre clinical trial for colchicine in ALS (Co-ALS)
Methods	 Study type: Interventional study Study design: Parallel Target sample size: a. Intervention 1: 18. b. Intervention 2: 18. c. Control group: 18. Phase: II Country: Italy
Participants	 Age: 18 years to 80 years Sex: Both Inclusion criteria: Patients diagnosed with a laboratory-supported, clinically 'probable' or 'definite' ALS according to the Revised El Escorial criteria. Sporadic ALS. ALS phenotypes: classic or bulbar. Disease duration from symptom onset no longer than 18 months at the screening visit. Patients treated with a stable dose of riluzole (100 mg/day) for at least 30 days prior to screening. Patients with a weight of >50 kg and a BMI of ≥18. Patients with an FVC ≥65% predicted normal value for gender, height and age at the screening visit. Patients able and willing to comply with study procedures as per protocol. Patients able to understand and capable of providing informed consent at screening visit prior to any protocol-specific procedures.

NCT03693781 (Continued)	• Use of <i>highly effective</i> contraception for both men and women.
	4. Exclusion criteria:
	 Prior use of colchicine. Prior allergy/sensitivity to colchicine. Receiving colchicine or other anti-inflammatory drugs (such as corticosteroids, methotrexate, antineoplastic, interleukin 1–1b antagonist, tumour necrosis factor-alpha inhibitor). Receiving food or co-medications, such as strong-moderate cytochrome P450 3A4 inhibitors that will result in elevated plasma levels of colchicine. Inflammatory disorders (systemic lupus erythematosus, rheumatoid arthritis and connective tissue disorder), chronic infections (HIV and hepatitis B or C infections) or significant history of malignancy.
Interventions	 Experimental: 1. Colchicine 0.01 mg/kg/day + riluzole. 2. Colchicine 0.005 mg/kg/day + riluzole. Control: 1. Placebo + riluzole.
Outcomes	 Clinical assessment Periodic clinical assessment will be performed at defined time points by: Overall survival from randomisation to date of documented death or tracheostomy or non-invasive ventilation (NIV) >22 hours/day. Survival rate at weeks 30, 42 and 54. Forced vital capacity score from baseline to weeks 8, 18, 30, 42 and 54. Quality of life assessment Determination of quality of life as perceived by patients with ALS will be investigated by comparing ALS assessment questionnaire (ALSAQ-40) from baseline to weeks 8, 30 and 54.
Starting date	 Date of first enrolment: 2019-04-10 Date of registration: 2018-10-03
Contact information	 Jessica Mandrioli Address: Telephone: Email: Affiliation: Azienda Ospedaliero Universitaria di Modena
Notes	https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC6549675/ https://classic.clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/show/NCT03693781

NCT04160117

Study name	Impact of Short-course Colchicine Versus Placebo After Pulmonary Vein Isolation (IMPROVE-PVI): A Pilot Study
Methods	 Study type: Interventional study Study design: Parallel Target sample size: 200 Phase: III Country: Canada



NCT04160117 (Continued)

Trusted evidence. Informed decisions. Better health.

Participants	1. Age: ≥ 18 years
	2. Sex: Both
	 Inclusion criteria: Symptomatic atrial fibrillation and planned catheter-guided first or repeat ablation (pulmonary vein isolation) for atrial fibrillation (radiofrequency or cryoablation energy; concomitant ablation of the cavotricuspid isthmus and other lesions left at the discretion of the treating physician)
	b. Written informed consent
	 Exclusion criteria: a. Ablation for left atrial tachycardia or isthmus-dependent atrial flutter only (i.e. without pul- monary vein isolation)
	b. Administration of a strong inhibitor of CYP3A4 or p-gp (clarithromycin, erythromycin, telithromycin, cyclosporine, ketoconazole or itraconazole)
	c. Known hypersensitivity to colchicine
	d. Serious gastrointestinal disease (severe gastritis or diarrhoea)
	e. Clinically overt hepatic disease
	f. Severe renal disease (eGFR < 30ml/min/1.73m2)
	g. Clinically significant blood dyscrasia (e.g., myelodysplasia)
	h. Absolute indication for or ongoing treatment with colchicine
	i. Pregnant or breastfeeding women, or women of child-bearing potential who do not use a high- ly effective form of birth control
Interventions	• Experimental:
	1. Colchicine 0.6 mg
	Control:
	1. Placebo
Outcomes	• Primary:
	1. Average monthly enrolment rate
	2. Compliance with study treatment
	3. Rate of complete follow-up at 6 months
	Secondary:
	1. Rate of non-infectious diarrhoea
	2. Rate of signs and symptoms of pericarditis
	3. Recurrence of atrial fibrillation within the first 2 weeks after catheter ablation
	4. Recurrence of action infinitation between 10 and 15 weeks after catheter ablation
	6. Rate of all-cause mortality (24 months)
Starting date	1. Date of first enrolment: 2020-01-14
Contact information	1. Alex Benz
	2. Address:
	3. Telephone: 905-521-2100
	4. Email: IMPROVE-PVI@pnri.ca
	5. Annuation: Hamilton Health Sciences Corporation - Hamilton General Hospital
Notes	https://clinicaltrials.gov/study/NCT04160117?a=5

Cochrane Library

Trusted evidence. Informed decisions. Better health.

NCT05175274

Study name	Colchicine Use for Primary Prevention in People at High Risk of Coronary Artery Disease
Methods	 Study type: Interventional study Study design: Parallel Target sample size: 6792 Phase: III Country: China
Participants	 Age: 40 years to 70 years Sex: Both Inclusion Criteria: At least 3 risk factors for CAD. GFR > 90 mmol/L. Patients are not pre-diagnosed with CAD, which is defined by negative results of CT coronary angiography. Exclusion Criteria: Patients with any pre-existing diagnosis of coronary artery disease. Other cardiovascular diseases such as peripheral vascular disease, congestive heart failure and cardiomyopathy. Cerebrovascular diseases such as cerebral thrombosis and cerebral haemorrhage. Currently on treatment with colchicine. Patients who are known to be allergic to colchicine. Chronic symptomatic heart failure within the last year and known reduced ejection fraction (LVEF ≤ 40%), documented before recruitment. Severe hepatic impairment (Child-Pugh class C) at the time of inclusion into the trial. Any other non-cardiovascular diseases, such as active malignancy requiring treatment at the time of screening or with a life expectancy of fewer than two years based on the investigator's clinical judgement.
Interventions	 Experimental: a. Colchicine 0.5 mg every 24 hours for 3 years Control: a. Placebo
Outcomes	 Primary: The incidence of CAD [Time Frame: 3 years]: collect the incidence of CAD during the follow-up time. CAD is defined with the positive stress test, ST depression in ECG with typical symptoms of myocardial ischaemia, and progression to myocardial infarction. To further detect patients with occult CAD, the rest of the asymptomatic patients will be subjected to CT coronary angiography, in which CAD is defined with over 50% diameter stenosis in a major coronary artery. Occurrence of adverse events in both groups [Time Frame: 3 years]: collect the occurrence of adverse events in both groups during the drug use. Adverse events include gastrointestinal, liver, haematology, muscle, neurology, other sensory, infectious and death. Secondary: MACE events [Time Frame: 3 years]: to assess the occurrence of myocardial infarction, stroke and death from cardiovascular causes during the follow-up time.
Starting date	 Date of first enrolment: 2022-01-03 Date of registration: 2020-08-13
Contact information	 Mengmei Li, MD Address: Qingdao, Shandong, China, 266042 Telephone: 0086053284961672 Email: Sjogen@163.com



NCT05175274 (Continued)

(continued)	5. Affiliation: Qingdao Central Hospital
Notes	https://classic.clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/show/NCT05175274 Estimated Primary Completion Date: March 1, 2028
	Estimated Study Completion Date: July 1, 2028
	Sponsors and Collaborators:

Qingdao Central Hospital Qingdao Municipal Hospital

NCT05802992

Study name	A Single-center Clinical Trial to Evaluate the Efficacy and Safety of Colchicine Combined With Con- ventional Therapy in Multiple Myeloma Patients
Methods	 Study type: Interventional study Study design: Parallel Target sample size: 30 Phase: III Country: China
Participants	 Age: 18 years to 80 years Sex: Both Inclusion criteria: Clinical diagnosis of multiple myeloma Have received at least one-line treatment Must be able to swallow tablets Exclusion criteria: Resistance to or intolerance to therapeutic agents such as bortezomib or lenalidomide Allergy to the experimental drug or its ingredients Has invaded the central nervous system Severe cardiovascular, liver and kidney failure, severe chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD), and moderate to severe asthma Active hepatitis B or C infection HIV seropositivity g a participating in other clinical trial or has participated in other clinical trials within the past two weeks Other factors that the researchers determined were not suitable for the trial
Interventions	 Experimental: 1. Colchicine Control: 1. Lenalidomide
Outcomes	 Primary: Changes of the level of Serum M protein before and after treatment [60 months] Changes of the proportion of bone marrow plasma cells before and after treatment Changes of the level of SPEP and UPEP before and after treatment Changes of the level of Serum FLC before and after treatment Secondary: Changes of the level of Serum M protein before and after treatment Changes of the level of Serum M protein before and after treatment



NCT05802992 (Continued)

3. Changes of the level of Serum M protein before and after treatment

4. Changes of the ECOG score before and after treatment.

Starting date	 Date of first enrolment: 2020-09-01 Date of registration: 2022-03-30
Contact information	 Hongming Huang Address: China Telephone: +8615006281688 Email: hhmmmc@163.com Affiliation: Hospital of Nantong University
Notes	https://clinicaltrials.gov/study/NCT05802992

- ACE: angiotensin converting enzyme inhibitors
- ALS: amyotrophic lateral sclerosis
- BMI: body mass index
- BD: Behçet's disease
- CKD-EPI: Chronic Kidney Disease Epidemiology Collaboration
- CAD: coronary artery disease
- CBC: complete blood count
- eGFR: estimated glomerular filtration rate
- ECG: electrocardiogram
- ECOG: Eastern Cooperative Oncology Group
- EVA: escala análoga visual (visual analogue scale)
- FLC: free light chains
- FVC: forced vital capacity
- GFR: glomerular filtration rate
- IgA: immunoglobulin A
- IBDDAM: Iranian BD dynamic measure
- LVFE: left ventricular ejection fraction
- MACE: major adverse cardiovascular events
- MDRD: modification of diet in renal disease
- SPEP: serum protein electrophoresis
- ST: ST segment
- UPEP: urine protein electrophoresis

DATA AND ANALYSES

Comparison 1. Colchicine versus placebo

Outcome or subgroup title	No. of studies	No. of partici- pants	Statistical method	Effect size
1.1 All-cause mortality	6	463	Risk Ratio (M-H, Random, 95% CI)	0.68 [0.51, 0.91]
1.2 Non-fatal myocardial in- farction	1	100	Risk Ratio (M-H, Random, 95% CI)	0.87 [0.41, 1.82]
1.3 Stroke	1	100	Risk Ratio (M-H, Random, 95% CI)	2.43 [0.67, 8.86]

Colchicine for the primary prevention of cardiovascular events (Review)

Copyright \odot 2025 The Cochrane Collaboration. Published by John Wiley & Sons, Ltd.

Outcome or subgroup title	No. of studies	No. of partici- pants	Statistical method	Effect size
1.4 Adverse events	9		Risk Ratio (M-H, Random, 95% CI)	Subtotals only
1.4.1 Gastrointestinal (diar- rhoea)	8	605	Risk Ratio (M-H, Random, 95% CI)	3.99 [1.44, 11.06]
1.4.2 Neurological (seizure, confusion)	2	155	Risk Ratio (M-H, Random, 95% CI)	0.72 [0.31, 1.66]
1.5 Cardiovascular mortality	2	160	Risk Ratio (M-H, Random, 95% CI)	1.27 [0.03, 62.43]
1.6 Post-cardiac procedure atrial fibrillation	1	100	Risk Ratio (M-H, Random, 95% CI)	0.74 [0.25, 2.19]

Analysis 1.1. Comparison 1: Colchicine versus placebo, Outcome 1: All-cause mortality

	Colchi	cine	Place	ebo		Risk Ratio	Risk Ratio	Risk of Bias
Study or Subgroup	Events	Total	Events	Total	Weight	M-H, Random, 95% CI	M-H, Random, 95% CI	ABCDEFG
Cortez-Pinto 2002	8	29	10	26	14.3%	0.72 [0.33 , 1.54]	• • • ? • •
Kaplan 1986	6	30	14	30	12.7%	0.43 [0.19 , 0.96]]	?? + ? + ??
Kershenobich 1988	21	54	28	46	50.6%	0.64 [0.43 , 0.96]] 🗕	?? 🖶 ? 🖨 🖶 🖨
Olsson 1995	1	44	2	40	1.5%	0.45 [0.04 , 4.82]]	?????
Wang 1994	11	50	10	50	14.4%	1.10 [0.51 , 2.36]	+ ? ? ? ? + ?
Warnes 1987	5	34	5	30	6.5%	0.88 [0.28 , 2.75]]	• ? ? ? • •
Total (Wald₄)		241		222	100.0%	0.68 [0.51 , 0.91]	ı 🔶	
Total events:	52		69					
Test for overall effect: Z	= 2.63 (P =	0.009)					0.01 0.1 1 10 100)
Test for subgroup differences: Not applicable						Favours colchicine Favours placebo		
Heterogeneity: Tau ² (DL	b) = 0.00; C	hi² = 3.20,	df = 5 (P =	0.67); I ² =	: 0%			

Footnotes

aCI calculated by Wald-type method. bTau² calculated by DerSimonian and Laird method.

Risk of bias legend

(A) Random sequence generation (selection bias)

(B) Allocation concealment (selection bias)

(C) Blinding of participants and personnel (performance bias)

(D) Blinding of outcome assessment (detection bias)

(E) Incomplete outcome data (attrition bias)

(F) Selective reporting (reporting bias)

Analysis 1.2. Comparison 1: Colchicine versus placebo, Outcome 2: Non-fatal myocardial infarction



(G) Other bias

Analysis 1.3. Comparison 1: Colchicine versus placebo, Outcome 3: Stroke

	Colchi	icine	Plac	ebo		Risk Ratio	Risk R	atio		Ri	sk of	Bia	IS	
Study or Subgroup	Events	Total	Events	Total	Weight	M-H, Random, 95% CI	M-H, Randon	n, 95% CI	A	во	D	Е	F	G
Bessissow 2018	7	49	3	51	100.0%	2.43 [0.67 , 8.86] -		•	Đ	?	•	•	•
Total		49		51	100.0%	2.43 [0.67 , 8.86								
Total events:	7		3					-						
Test for overall effect: Z	= 1.34 (P =	0.18)					0.01 0.1 1	10 100						
Test for subgroup different	ences: Not a	pplicable					Favours colchicine	Favours placebo						
Heterogeneity: Not appl	icable													

Risk of bias legend

(A) Random sequence generation (selection bias)

(B) Allocation concealment (selection bias)

(C) Blinding of participants and personnel (performance bias)

(D) Blinding of outcome assessment (detection bias)

(E) Incomplete outcome data (attrition bias)

(F) Selective reporting (reporting bias)



Analysis 1.4. Comparison 1: Colchicine versus placebo, Outcome 4: Adverse events

	Colch	icine	Place	ebo		Risk Ratio	Risk Ratio	Risk of Bias
Study or Subgroup	Events	Total	Events	Total	Weight	M-H, Random, 95% CI	M-H, Random, 95% CI	ABCDEFG
1.4.1 Gastrointestinal	(diarrhoea)							
Bessissow 2018	5	49	1	51	12.9%	5.20 [0.63 , 42.96]		🖶 🖶 🖶 ? 🖨 🖶 🖨
Bodenheimer 1988	3	28	1	29	12.3%	3.11 [0.34 , 28.12]		?? 🕈 ? 🖨 🕈 🖨
Cortez-Pinto 2002	7	29	0	26	9.0%	13.50 [0.81 , 225.38]		→ 🖶 🖶 🖶 ? 🛑 🖶 🛑
Kaplan 1986	4	30	0	30	8.7%	9.00 [0.51 , 160.17]		→ ?? ÷ ? ÷ ÷?
Kershenobich 1988	9	54	0	46	9.0%	16.24 [0.97 , 271.59]		→ ?? ? 🖶 ? 🖶 🖶 🛑
Olsson 1995	1	44	0	40	7.6%	2.73 [0.11 , 65.24]		- ????? 🖶 🖶 🖨
Warnes 1987	6	34	1	30	13.2%	5.29 [0.68 , 41.51]		😑 ? ? ? 🖨 🖶 🖨
Yurdakul 2001	22	41	19	44	27.3%	1.24 [0.80 , 1.93]		?????
Subtotal (Wald₄)		309		296	100.0%	3.99 [1.44 , 11.06]		
Total events:	57		22					
Test for overall effect:	Z = 2.66 (P =	0.008)						
Heterogeneity: Tau ² (D	L _b) = 0.94; C	hi² = 14.35	5, df = 7 (P	= 0.05); I ²	= 51%			
1.4.2 Neurological (sei	izure, confus	ion)						
Cortez-Pinto 2002	1	29	1	26	9.5%	0.90 [0.06 , 13.62]		🖶 🖶 🛨 ? 🖨 🖶 🖨
Wang 1994	7	50	10	50	90.5%	0.70 [0.29 , 1.69]		🛨 ? ? ? ? 🖶 ?
Subtotal (Wald₃)		79		76	100.0%	0.72 [0.31 , 1.66]		
Total events:	8		11				-	
Test for overall effect:	Z = 0.78 (P =	0.44)						
Heterogeneity: Tau ² (D	L _b) = 0.00; C	hi² = 0.03,	df = 1 (P =	= 0.87); I ² =	= 0%			
Test for subgroup diffe	rences: Chi ² =	= 6.50, df =	= 1 (P = 0.0	1), I ² = 84.	.6%		0.01 0.1 1 10 Favours placebo Favours colo	100 hicine

Footnotes

^aCI calculated by Wald-type method.

 ${}_{b}Tau^{2}$ calculated by DerSimonian and Laird method.

Risk of bias legend

(A) Random sequence generation (selection bias)

(B) Allocation concealment (selection bias)

(C) Blinding of participants and personnel (performance bias)

(D) Blinding of outcome assessment (detection bias)

(E) Incomplete outcome data (attrition bias)

(F) Selective reporting (reporting bias)

Analysis 1.5. Comparison 1: Colchicine versus placebo, Outcome 5: Cardiovascular mortality

	Colch	Colchicine Placebo		ebo		Risk Ratio	Risk F	Ratio	Risk of Bias
Study or Subgroup	Events	Total	Events	Total	Weight	M-H, Random, 95% CI	M-H, Rando	m, 95% CI	A B C D E F G
Kaplan 1986	4	30	0	30	50.6%	9.00 [0.51 , 160.17]	_		??
Kershenobich 1988	0	54	2	46	49.4%	0.17 [0.01 , 3.47]	•		5 5 ⊕ 5 ⊕ ⊕ ⊕
Total (Walda)		84		76	100.0%	1.27 [0.03 , 62.43]			
Total events:	4		2						
Test for overall effect:	Z = 0.12 (P =	0.90)				0	01 01 1	10 100	
Test for subgroup differ	rences: Not a	pplicable				Fav	vours colchicine	Favours placebo	
Heterogeneity: Tau ² (D	Lь) = 5.63; С	hi ² = 3.49,	, df = 1 (P =	= 0.06); I ² =	= 71%				
Footnotes									
aCI calculated by Wald	-type method								
bTau ² calculated by Der	Simonian an	d Laird me	ethod.						
Risk of bias legend									
(A) Random sequence	generation (s	election bi	as)						
(B) Allocation conceal	nent (selectio	on bias)							

(C) Blinding of participants and personnel (performance bias)

(D) Blinding of outcome assessment (detection bias)

(E) Incomplete outcome data (attrition bias)

(F) Selective reporting (reporting bias)

(G) Other bias

Analysis 1.6. Comparison 1: Colchicine versus placebo, Outcome 6: Post-cardiac procedure atrial fibrillation

Study or Subgroup	Colchi Events	icine Total	Place Events	ebo Total	Weight	Risk Ratio M-H, Random, 95% CI	Risk Ratio M-H, Random, 95% CI	Risk of Bias A B C D E F G
Bessissow 2018	5	49	7	51	100.0%	0.74 [0.25 , 2.19]	· _ _ _	• • • ? • •
Total Total events: Test for overall effect: Z Test for subgroup differe Heterogeneity: Not appli Risk of bias legend (A) Random sequence gy (B) Allocation concealm (C) Blinding of participa (D) Blinding of outcome	5 = 0.54 (P = ences: Not ap icable eneration (see ent (selectio ints and pers e assessment data (attribute	49 0.59) pplicable election bi. n bias) sonnel (per (detectior pa biac)	7 as) formance b i bias)	51 bias)	100.0%	0.74 [0.25 , 2.19]	0.01 0.1 1 10 100 Favours colchicine Favours placebo	
(F) Selective reporting (I(G) Other bias	reporting bia	ns)						

Comparison 2. Colchicine versus immunomodulating drugs

Outcome or subgroup title	No. of studies	No. of partici- pants	Statistical method	Effect size
2.1 All-cause mortality	1	85	Risk Ratio (M-H, Random, 95% CI)	0.42 [0.12, 1.51]

Analysis 2.1. Comparison 2: Colchicine versus immunomodulating drugs, Outcome 1: All-cause mortality



Comparison 3. Colchicine versus usual care

Outcome or subgroup title	No. of studies	No. of partici- pants	Statistical method	Effect size
3.1 All-cause mortality	2	729	Risk Ratio (M-H, Random, 95% CI)	1.07 [0.90, 1.27]
3.2 Adverse events	2	729	Risk Ratio (M-H, Random, 95% CI)	3.32 [1.56, 7.03]

Analysis 3.1. Comparison 3: Colchicine versus usual care, Outcome 1: All-cause mortality

	Colchi	Colchicine		Usual care		Risk Ratio	Risk	Risk Ratio			Risk of Bias					
Study or Subgroup	Events	Total	Events	Total	Weight	M-H, Random, 95% CI	M-H, Rand	om, 95% CI	Α	в	С	D	Е	F	G	
Buligescu 1989	7	100	8	80	3.2%	0.70 [0.27 , 1.85]		?	?	?	?	?	÷	?	
Morgan 2005	134	274	124	275	96.8%	1.08 [0.91 , 1.30]		+	Ŧ	Ŧ	Ŧ	Ŧ	Ŧ	Ŧ	
Total (Walda)		374		355	100.0%	1.07 [0.90 , 1.27]	•								
Total events:	141		132					[
Test for overall effect:	Z = 0.75 (P =	0.45)					0.01 0.1	1 10 1	- 00							
Test for subgroup differ	rences: Not a	pplicable					Favours colchicine	Favours usual	care							
Heterogeneity: Tau ² (D	$I_{\rm b} = 0.00 \cdot C$	$hi^2 = 0.77$	df = 1 (P =	= 0 38) · 12 =	= 0%											

Footnotes

aCI calculated by Wald-type method.

bTau² calculated by DerSimonian and Laird method.

Risk of bias legend

(A) Random sequence generation (selection bias)

(B) Allocation concealment (selection bias)

(C) Blinding of participants and personnel (performance bias)

(D) Blinding of outcome assessment (detection bias)(E) Incomplete outcome data (attrition bias)

(F) Selective reporting (reporting bias)

Analysis 3.2. Comparison 3: Colchicine versus usual care, Outcome 2: Adverse events

	Colchi	icine	Usual care or no co	omparison		Risk Ratio	Risk Ratio)	R	isk of	Bias	
Study or Subgroup	Events	Total	Events	Total	Weight	M-H, Random, 95% CI	M-H, Random, 9	5% CI	АВ	C D	Εl	F G
Buligescu 1989	4	100	0	80	6.7%	7.22 [0.39 , 132.11]			??	??	?	• ?
Morgan 2005	25	274	8	275	93.3%	3.14 [1.44 , 6.83]		- (• •	• •	•	•
Total (Walda)		374		355	100.0%	3.32 [1.56 , 7.03]						
Total events:	29		8									
Test for overall effect: 2	Z = 3.13 (P =	0.002)				H 0.0)1 0.1 1	10 100				
Test for subgroup differ	ences: Not a	pplicable				Favours usual care o r	not comparison Fa	avours colchicine				
Heterogeneity: Tau ² (Dl	L _b) = 0.00; C	hi² = 0.30,	df = 1 (P = 0.58); I ² =	0%								

Footnotes

^aCI calculated by Wald-type method. ^bTau² calculated by DerSimonian and Laird method.

Risk of bias legend

(A) Random sequence generation (selection bias)

(B) Allocation concealment (selection bias)

(C) Blinding of participants and personnel (performance bias)

(D) Blinding of outcome assessment (detection bias)

(E) Incomplete outcome data (attrition bias)(F) Selective reporting (reporting bias)

(G) Other bias

APPENDICES

Appendix 1. Search strategies

CENTRAL

#1 MeSH descriptor: [Colchicine] this term only
#2 colchicine
#3 #1 or #2

MEDLINE Ovid

1 Colchicine/ (14911) 2 Colchicine.tw. (16798) 3 1 or 2 (21877) 4 randomized controlled trial.pt. (580762) 5 controlled clinical trial.pt. (95098) 6 randomized.ab. (582385) 7 placebo.ab. (233297) 8 clinical trials as topic.sh. (200559) 9 randomly.ab. (395442) 10 trial.ti. (273844) 11 4 or 5 or 6 or 7 or 8 or 9 or 10 (1485150) 12 exp animals/ not humans.sh. (5064943) 13 11 not 12 (1366379) 14 3 and 13 (828)

Embase Ovid

1 colchicine/ (31979) 2 Colchicine.tw. (18985) 3 1 or 2 (35495)

4 Randomized controlled trial/ or Controlled clinical study/ or randomization/ or intermethod comparison/ or double blind procedure/ or human experiment/ or (random\$ or placebo or (open adj label) or ((double or single or doubly or singly) adj (blind or blinded or blindly)) or parallel group\$1 or crossover or cross over or ((assign\$ or match or matched or allocation) adj5 (alternate or group\$1 or intervention\$1 or patient\$1 or subject\$1 or participant\$1)) or assigned or allocated or (controlled adj7 (study or design or trial)) or volunteer or volunteers).ti, ab. or (compare or compared or compared or trial).ti. or ((evaluated or evaluate or evaluating or assessed or assess) and (compare or compared or comparing or comparison)).ab. (5888817)

5 (random\$ adj sampl\$ adj7 ("cross section\$" or questionnaire\$1 or survey\$ or database\$1)).ti,ab. not



(comparative study/ or controlled study/ or randomi?ed controlled.ti,ab. or randomly assigned.ti,ab.) (9097)

6 Cross-sectional study/ not (randomized controlled trial/ or controlled clinical study/ or controlled study/ or (randomi?ed controlled or control group\$1).ti,ab.) (326829)

7 (((case adj control\$) and random\$) not randomi?ed controlled).ti,ab. (20377)

8 (Systematic review not (trial or study)).ti. (227083)

9 (nonrandom\$ not random\$).ti,ab. (17955)

10 ("Random field\$" or (random cluster adj3 sampl\$)).ti,ab. (4262)

11 (review.ab. and review.pt.) not trial.ti. (1037611)

12 "we searched".ab. and (review.ti. or review.pt.) (44391)

13 ("update review" or (databases adj4 searched)).ab. (54873)

14 (rat or rats or mouse or mice or swine or porcine or murine or sheep or lambs or pigs or piglets or rabbits or cat or cats or dog or dogs or cattle or bovine or monkey or monkeys or trout or

marmoset\$1).ti. and animal experiment/ (1120827)

15 Animal experiment/ not (human experiment/ or human/) (2325530)

16 or/5-15 (3948874)

17 4 not 16 (5204655)

18 3 and 17 (3252)

19 limit 18 to embase (2260)

Web of Science (WOS)

Colchicine (Topic) and (random* or blind* or allocat* or assign* or trial* or placebo* or crossover* or cross-over*) (Topic)

LILACS

Colchicine

ClinicalTrials.gov

Study type: Interventional Studies (Clinical Trials) Intervention/treatment: Colchicine

WHO ICTRP

Intervention: Colchicine

Appendix 2. Domains for assessing of risk of bias in the included studies

Random sequence generation

- Low risk of bias: the allocation sequence was generated by a computer or random number table, drawing of lots, tossing of a coin, shuffling of cards or throwing dice.
- High risk of bias: a system involving dates, names, or admittance numbers was used for the allocation of participants. These studies are known as quasi-randomised and were excluded from the review.
- Unclear risk of bias: the trial was described as randomised, but the method used for the allocation sequence generation was not mentioned.

Allocation concealment

- Low risk of bias: the allocation of participants involved a central independent unit, on-site locked computer, identical-appearing numbered drug bottles or containers prepared by an independent pharmacist or investigator, or sealed envelopes.
- High risk of bias: the allocation sequence was known to the investigators who assigned participants or if the study was quasirandomised, the latter of which were excluded from the review.
- Unclear risk of bias: the trial was described as randomised, but the method used to conceal the allocation was not mentioned.

Blinding (or masking)

We assessed each trial as low, high, or unclear risk of bias for:

- blinding of participant to treatment allocation;
- blinding of clinician (person delivering treatment) to treatment allocation;
- blinding of outcome assessor to treatment allocation.

Incomplete outcome data

• Low risk of bias: the numbers and reasons for dropouts and withdrawals in all intervention groups were described, or it was specified that there were no dropouts or withdrawals.



- High risk of bias: the number or reasons for dropouts and withdrawals were not described.
- Unclear risk of bias: the report gave the impression that there had been no dropouts or withdrawals, but this was not specifically stated.

We further examined the percentage of dropouts overall in each trial and per randomisation arm, and evaluated whether intention-totreat analysis was performed or could be performed from the published information.

Selective outcome reporting

Low risk of bias: either of the following:

- the study protocol is available, and all the study's prespecified (primary and secondary) outcomes that are of interest in the review have been reported in the prespecified way;
- the study protocol is not available, but it is clear that the published reports include all expected outcomes, including those that were prespecified.

High risk of bias: any one of the following:

- not all the study's prespecified primary outcomes have been reported;
- one or more primary outcomes is reported using measurements, analysis methods, or subsets of the data (e.g. subscales) that were
 not prespecified;
- one or more reported primary outcomes were not prespecified (unless clear justification for their reporting is provided, such as an unexpected adverse effect);
- one or more outcomes of interest in the review are reported incompletely so that they cannot be entered in a meta-analysis;
- the study report fails to include results for a key outcome that would be expected to have been reported for the study.

Unclear risk of bias: insufficient information.

Other bias

- Low risk of bias: the trial appeared to be free of other components that could put it at risk of bias.
- High risk of bias: there were other factors in the trial that could put it at risk of bias.
- Unclear risk of bias: the trial may or may not be free of other components that could put it at risk of bias.

We considered trials in which there was adequate random sequence generation, allocation concealment, blinding, and handling of incomplete outcome data, and the study was free of selective outcome reporting and other bias, as at overall low risk of bias.

We consider trials in which one of the domains was at high or unclear risk of bias as at overall high risk of bias.

HISTORY

Protocol first published: Issue 6, 2022

CONTRIBUTIONS OF AUTHORS

Conceiving the review: the Cochrane Heart Group selected the title for this review through an internal editorial decision-making process among the group's editors. Designing the review: all authors Co-ordinating the review: AMC Designing the electronic search strategy: the Cochrane Heart Group's Information Specialist and AMC Screening search results: AMC, DM, ACP, MGV, EA, RH Obtaining copies of trials: AMC, MGV, DM Appraising quality of papers: AMC, MGV, DM, JBDeS, RR Extracting data from papers: AMC, MGV, DM Data management for the review: AMC, MGV, DM Entering data into RevMan: AMC Analysis of data: AMC, MGV, RR Summary of findings: AMC, MGV, DM, CMA, ER Interpretation of data: all authors Writing the review: AMC, MGV, CMA, JBDeS Draft the final review: all authors Guarantor for the review: AMC



DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST

Arturo J Martí-Carvajal: none known

Mario Gemmato-Valecillos: none known

Diana Monge Martín: none known

Juan Bautista De Sanctis: none known

Cristina Elena Martí-Amarista: none known

Ricardo Hidalgo: none known

Eduardo Alegría-Barrero: none known

Ricardo J Riera Lizardo: none known

Andrea Correa-Pérez: none known

SOURCES OF SUPPORT

Internal sources

Universidad UTE and Cochrane Ecuador, Ecuador

Academic and financial.

• Universidad Francisco de Vitoria, Centro Cochrane asociado de Madrid, Spain

Academic and financial.

Ministry of Education, Youth and Sport, Czech Republic

JBDeS was supported by a grant from the Ministry of Education, Youth and Sport, Czech Republic: Molecular and Cellular Clinical Approach to Healthy Ageing, ENOCH (European Regional Development Fund Project No. CZ.02.1.01/0.0/0.0/16_019/0000868, IMTM #869/V19).

• Cátedra Rectoral de Medicina Basada en la Evidencia, Universidad de Carabobo, Venezuela

Academic and financial.

External sources

• NIHR, UK

This review was supported by the NIHR via Cochrane Infrastructure funding to the Cochrane Heart Group until 31 March 2023. • Iberoamerican Cochrane Center, Barcelona, Spain

Academic.

DIFFERENCES BETWEEN PROTOCOL AND REVIEW

- We requested permission from the Cochrane Heart Group to use RoB 1 instead of RoB 2 for risk of bias assessment in accordance with the protocol.
- Based on a suggestion from Dr Tjerk SJ Opstal (clinical reviewer), we improved the writing of the How the intervention might work section.
- We estimated the number needed to treat for an additional beneficial outcome (NNTB) and number needed to treat for an additional harmful outcome (NNTH) according to Cochrane methodology (Schünemann 2019b). We used GraphPad to estimate NNTB and NNTH (GraphPad 2024).